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CHAIRMAN'S LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

=+ AR RS

Dear shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”),

On behalf of the board (the “Board") of the directors (the “Directors”) of
Sandmartin International Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries collectively referred to as the “Group”), | am pleased to present the
annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The year of 2019 was a year of turmoil. Large demonstrations across the world
were not uncommon as people demanded overhaul of political systems
and imminent actions on climate change. The China-United States trade
war continues plunged the economies of both countries and changed the
landscape of supply chain in the rest of the world. Notwithstanding the
negative impacts from the macro economy and global unrest, the Group's
continuing businesses are improving, thanks for the efforts on the streamlining
and outsourcing of manufacturing segments of the Group in the past few
years. The completion of the disposal of My HD Media FZ-LLC (“MyHD") in June
2019 relieved the Group from the heavy financial burden in maintaining the
daily operations of MyHD, although the Group had to recognize a significant
one-off provision on the loan receivables due from MyHD for the year ended
31 December 2019. In response to the China-United States trade war, the
Group mitigates the impact by strengthening its supply chain management
to produce components and accessories in Vietnam and India, serving the
purpose of avoiding the tariffs imposed by the United States (the “US”) on
products from the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). For the Company’s
47.12% owned associate, Dish Media Network Limited (‘Dish Media“, the
largest satellite pay television operator in Nepal), it secured a customer
base exceeding one million subscribers in Nepal and has been profitable in
consecutive years since 2015.

In response to the impact of the trade conflict between the PRC and the US,
which could definitely jeopardize the Group's export to the US by means
of excessive duties and tariffs, the Group strengthened its supply chain
management by encouraging our suppliers to establish new production
facilities in Vietnam to cope with the production orders of parts and accessories
of our products, serving the purpose of avoiding the tariffs imposed by the
US on products from the PRC. In anticipation of the booming and progressive
digitalization of the pay television market in India and to diversify our capacities
and market coverage, we also strived to relocate certain manufacturing
workflows to India by establishing local production facilities and securing a
foothold in the Indian market.

*  Foridentification purpose only
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CHAIRMAN'S LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

Going forward, the Company believes that the growth of the Group will
depend on business opportunities arising from new 5G peripherals, Internet
of Things and related products. In anticipation of such business opportunity,
the Group’s research and development team is developing new 5G
related products with reference to the market trend. New products under
development include next generation radio frequency and antenna products.
The Group's research and development team is working on these products in
the research center in Hsinchu, Taiwan. Hopefully, the Group’s new 5G related
products will bring about more business opportunities as well as revenue and
profits.

The outbreak of novel coronavirus ("Novel Coronavirus”) epidemic since
January 2020 has impact on the business and operations of the Group, as the
Group has certain factories located in the PRC and extensive operations in
the US. The Group is closely monitoring and evaluating the impact from the
global development of Novel Coronavirus epidemic and is taking steps to
adjust its supply chain management and human resource allocation to reduce

unfavourable impact arising from the Novel Coronavirus epidemic.

The impacts from Novel Coronavirus epidemic along with the disputes on
international trade arising from protectionism are yet to be settled through
negotiations, clouding the general economic landscape with uncertainties
and financial risks. Given these volatilities and challenges, the Group will make
every endeavour to identify business opportunities with promising potential in
the manufacturing segment or even other sectors so as to diversify our income
source to weather the possible adverse cycle. With the dedicated management
and execution capabilities of our top management team, the Group remains
confident in seizing the opportunities amidst the challenging landscape.

All in all, we are thankful for the patience and continuous support from
our dedicated employees, the management, invaluable business partners,
Shareholders and investors. We look forward to sharing the rewards ahead with
you.

Lau Yau Cheung
Chairman
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHT AND BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The Group recorded a significant increase in gross profit ratio from continuing
operations from 11.56% for the year ended 31 December 2018 to 16.83% for
the year ended 31 December 2019 due to improvement in products profit
margin of the Group's satellite TV equipment and antenna products segment.

The Group'’s earnings before finance costs, income tax expense and one-
off provision on expected credit loss on loan receivables due from former
subsidiaries was HK$36,714,000 (2018: loss of HK$32,249,000).

MEDIA ENTERTAINMENT PLATFORM RELATED
PRODUCTS

In 2019, the Group’s media entertainment platform related products segment
faced a fierce market competition from other set-top box manufacturers in
the PRC. In response to the fierce market competition, the Group introduced
more new products in this segment and continued to explore new business
opportunities in other locations, such as South Asia. Due to the tightening
of credit terms granted to customers, the revenue of this segment was
significantly decreased by 46.67% as compared with the year ended 31
December 2018.

—  Segment revenue of media entertainment platform related products
was approximately HK$182,237,000 (2018: HK$341,714,000).
—  Segment results from operations were approximately HK$13,052,000

(2018: HK$22,476,000).

—  Segment margin was 7.16% as compared with segment margin of 6.58%
in 2018.
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
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Outlook

The market competition is fierce due to the direct competition from other
set-top box manufacturers in the PRC, and the surge in raw material prices
which reduced the profit margin of the products. The Group is introducing
new products for this segment and is continuing to explore new market
opportunities in South Asia and continue to leverage its existing distribution
channels for the cross-selling of licensed products in India. The China-United
States trade war is not expected to have material adverse impact on this

segment as the Group does not have set-top box customers in the US.

OTHER MULTIMEDIA PRODUCTS

In 2019, the Group's other multimedia products segment was able to maintain
its profitability, thanks for its diversification of suppliers and broadening of its
product portfolio. Major products of this segment included cables, multimedia
accessories, external batteries and wireless mobile phone chargers for vehicles.
Segment results slightly decreased by 1.78% due to the decrease in profit
margin for the electronic products amidst the fierce competition in the

industry.

—  Segment revenue of other multimedia products was approximately
HK$235,505,000 (2018: HK$293,067,000).

—  Segment results from operations were approximately HK$31,749,000
(2018: HK$32,323,000).

—  Segment margin was 13.48% as compared with the segment margin of
11.03% in 2018.

Outlook

We are enhancing our product portfolio and developing new businesses. New
products, such as ultraviolet light smartphone sanitizers have been launched
to the market during the year. The China-United States trade war has some
impact on this segment as some of the customers are in the US. We are trying
to minimize the impact by sourcing from suppliers outside the PRC, such as

India and Vietnam.
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
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SATELLITE TV EQUIPMENT AND ANTENNA PRODUCTS
The Group's satellite TV equipment and antenna products segment resumed
the delivery of the preceding model of low noise blocking down converters
("LNBs") to one of the major customers in North America. The revenue of the
Group's satellite TV equipment and antenna products segment showed a 1.50%
increase compared with the year ended 31 December 2018.

—  Segment revenue of satellite TV equipment and antenna products was
approximately HK$652,785,000 (2018: HK$643,167,000).

—  Segment results from operations were approximately HK$102,731,000
(2018: HK$48,132,000).

—  Segment margin was 15.74%, increased by 8.26 percentage-point as
compared with the segment margin of 7.48% for the year ended 31
December 2018.

Outlook

LNBs are receiving devices mounted on satellite dishes used for reception,
which collect microwaves from the satellite dishes and facilitate the
transmission of satellite television signals. Apart from the sales of LNBs to the
customers in North America, we are exploring business opportunities in other
areas such as cross-selling LNBs to other existing customers of the Group in
South Asia. The research and development team of the Group endeavours to
develop new products for next generation radio and antenna communications.
The China-United States trade war has some impact on this segment as some
of the customers are in the US. We are trying to minimize the impact by
relocating some productions to India and sourcing from suppliers outside the
PRC.

SATELLITE TV BROADCASTING

Following the disposal of MyHD, the business of satellite TV broadcasting
segment of the Group had been discontinued. The significant loss from
operations in this segment was due to the high running costs-per-subscriber
before subscription revenue reached break-even. The satellite TV broadcasting
business had to build up customer bases by purchasing high quality and
highly demanded television content and promoting them to new subscribers.
It incurred substantial amount of programming costs including payment for
content fees, renting satellite transponders, purchase of set-top boxes and

payment for dealers’ commission for marketing and promotion.
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
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GEOGRAPHICAL RESULTS b 13 5 2B ¥ &
AFRICA 3E

—  Segment revenue of Africa for the year ended 31 December 2019
was approximately HK$3,220,000, compared with the year ended 31
December 2018 which was approximately HK$6,659,000.

—  51.64% decrease in segment revenue compared with the year ended 31
December 2018.

—  Africa shares 0.30% total revenue from continuing operations of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: 0.52%).

ASIA

—  Segment revenue of Asia for the year ended 31 December 2019 was
approximately HK$275,181,000, compared with the year ended 31
December 2018 which was approximately HK$347,074,000.

—  20.71% decrease in segment revenue compared with the year ended 31
December 2018.

—  Asia shares 25.71% total revenue from continuing operations of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: 27.16%).

EUROPE

—  Segment revenue of Europe for the year ended 31 December 2019
was approximately HK$108,510,000, compared with the year ended 31
December 2018 which was approximately HK$200,402,000.

—  45.85% decrease in segment revenue compared with the year ended 31
December 2018.

—  Europe shares 10.14% total revenue from continuing operations of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: 15.68%).
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)
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MIDDLE EAST

Segment revenue of Middle East from continuing operations of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 was approximately
HK$35,714,000, compared with the year ended 31 December 2018
which was approximately HK$25,820,000.

38.32% growth in segment revenue compared with the year ended 31
December 2018.

Middle East shares 3.34% total revenue from continuing operations of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: 2.02%).

NORTH AMERICA

Segment revenue of North America for the year ended 31 December
2019 was approximately HK$622,613,000, compared with the year ended
31 December 2018 which was approximately HK$679,903,000.

8.43% drop in segment revenue compared with the year ended 31
December 2018.

North America shares 58.16% total revenue from continuing operations
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: 53.20%).

SOUTH AMERICA

10

Segment revenue of South America for the year ended 31 December
2019 was approximately HK$23,461,000, compared with the year ended
31 December 2018 which was approximately HK$15,108,000.

55.29% growth in segment revenue compared with the year ended 31
December 2018.

South America shares 2.19% total revenue from continuing operations of

the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: 1.18%).
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EBHE

Outlook

As our businesses in Europe, North America and Asia continue to attain good
performance and share majority of our Group’s revenue, therefore we shall
focus on these regions in future.

DISPOSAL OF ALL INTERESTS IN MYHD AND
CONTINUATION OF LOANS AND GUARANTEE

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 31 December
2018 (the “Announcement”’) and the circular of the Company dated 25 May
2019 (the “Circular”). Unless otherwise stated, capitalised terms used herein
shall have the same meanings as those defined in the Announcement and in
the Circular. On 31 December 2018 after trading hours of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), the Vendor and the Purchaser
entered into the Agreement pursuant to which the Vendor has conditionally
agreed to sell, and the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to purchase the
entire issued share capital of the Target Company, at the nominal consideration
of US$1 with effect from the Transaction Date. The Target Company is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and indirectly holds 51% interests in MyHD.

The Group has been experiencing heavy financial burden and has been
obtaining borrowings from financial institutions for its daily operation. Given
the uncertainty of the future profitability of the Target Group and if the Group
intends to keep MyHD and to have sufficient funding for its operation, then
the Group will need to provide further financial assistance to the Target Group
before subscription revenue of the Target Group is expected to breakeven in
2020. As such, the Disposal will relieve the Group from the provision of further
financial assistance to the Target Group. The Directors are of the view that the
Disposal will relieve the financial burden of the Group.
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

XHEHMEREEE S w1 (@)

The Vendor had agreed with the Purchaser under the Agreement to procure
that the Existing Loans shall continue to be advanced by the Company or SMT
(as the case may be) to the Target Company and/or MyHD (as the case may be)
under the existing arrangements notwithstanding Completion taking place.
Such arrangement confers the right to the Company or SMT (as the case may
be) to receive the payments for the Existing Loans from the Target Company
and/or MyHD (as the case may be) when the financial positions of the Target
Company and/or MyHD (as the case may be) improve and have sufficient cash
to settle the Existing Loans. As at 31 December 2019, there were Existing Loans
in the aggregate amount of U5$86,005,000 comprising aggregate principal

BEZKCERE BHCOREZGARESTBE
REXARAHAZHHEEFERAME) RRAE R

B R BZEAR KR/ EMHD (R T B R M E)
BRNBEEER - BEETHERETFTAR AR ES R
(BFBERME)EFE BIZEQA & EMyHD (38
T8 /Rﬁﬁm)zEﬁﬁkﬂﬁﬂﬂﬁlélﬁﬁﬁiﬂfﬁiL
NIREEREE B ZR A & FIMHD (38 T8

ME)VKMBBEER 2R - R =T — n¢+—
A=+—H RBEERAE X 5860050003 TT *

%HT“”“T&/iMyHDmﬁ($“T&/if%z

amount of US$71,298,000 and aggregate accrued interest (calculated based
on the terms of agreements of Existing Loans) of US$14,707,000 owing by the
Target Company and/or MyHD to the Company and/or SMT (as the case may
be), the particulars of which are as follows:

Principal amount

T (AR T8 5 8 ) B 2N < 42 %8 71,298,000 3 T &
M B (RIBIBEEERE R ANIEKTTE) A%
14,707,000 7C * FFEIBA T ¢

Accrued interest

outstanding as at as at
Lender Debtor Prevailing interest rate Maturity date 31 December 2019 31 December 2019
R=ZZB-NF R=ZZB-N%
+=ZA=t-H +=ZA=t-H
ERA BEA RTH% 38A HAEERESHE RIS
SMT Target Company 3 months LIBOR 31.12.2020 US$9,554,000 US$1,253,000
+ 100 basis points®e? (approximately HK$74,379,000) (approximately HK$9,754,000)
LR EREING] = 1A ARBERT —T-TE 9554000 7T 1,253000% 7T
EE 3=l TZA=+—H (#774,379,0007 7T (#79,7540007% 7T

100 B2 B
SMT MyHD 3 months LIBOR 31.12.2020 US$10,500,000 US$1,117,000
+ 100 basis points®e? (approximately HK$81,743,000) (approximately HK$8,696,000)
VR ZEREST MyHD =18 A BRT —T_%F 10,500,000 7T 1,117,000 7T
RERFEM +ZA=+—H (481,743,000 % L) (48,696,000 7T)

100 {8 £ 2 (150
SMT MyHD 10% per annum 31.12.2020 US$42,653,000 US$10,271,000
(approximately HK$332,058,000)  (approximately HK$79,961,000)
LR MyHD FEMEI0E a3 42,653,000 7T 10271000 £ 7T
+=ZA=+-H (#9332,0580007% 7T) (49799610007 7T)
the Company MyHD 10% per annum 31.12.2020 US$8,591,000 US$2,066,000
(approximately HK$66,882,000)  (approximately HK$16,084,000)
KRA MyHD EME0E —T-TF 8,591,000 7T 2,066,000 7T
+=ZA=+-H (#766,882,0007 7T) (#916,084,0007 7T)
Total USS$71,298,000 US$14,707,000
(approximately HK$555,062,000)  (approximately HK$114,495,000)
@it 71,298,000 7T 14,707,000 7T
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

EBME

Note:

1. As a reference, 3 months London inter-bank offered rates (“LIBOR") as applicable to these two
loans during the period between 1 May 2012 to 31 December 2019 ranged between 0.22335%
and 2.80763%.

The Vendor had also agreed that the Guarantee given by the Company to
MyHD shall continue for the time being after Completion. The maximum
amount payable by the Company under the Guarantee would not exceed
US$3,500,000 (equivalent to HK$27,332,000). Such arrangement would enable
MyHD to secure continuing supply of television contents from MBC FZ LLC
which is one of the foundations for the normal operation of MyHD and was
essential for the Completion of the Disposal.

All the Conditions set out in the Agreement have been satisfied and the
Disposal had completed on 25 June 2019.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES
Save as disclosed in the section headed “DISPOSAL OF ALL INTERESTS IN MYHD
AND CONTINUATION OF LOANS AND GUARANTEE", the Group did not have
any material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures during the year ended 31 December 2019.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
81 75 [

REVENUE

Revenue from continuing operations for the year ended 31 December 2019
was approximately HK$1,070.5 million, representing a decline of 16.2%
compared with HKS$1,277.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2018. The
decrease in revenue was mainly due to the underperformance of the Group's
satellite TV equipment and antenna products segment during the year.

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

Loss attributable to owners of the Company from continuing and
discontinued operations was approximately HK$315.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2019 representing an increase of 68.4%, compared with
approximately HK$187.4 million for year ended 31 December 2018. The loss
mainly arose from the loss absorbed from the Group's discontinued operation
— satellite TV broadcasting segment and a one-off provision on the loan
receivables due from MyHD.

LOSS PER SHARE

Calculation of basic loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2019 was
based on the loss attributable to owners of the Company and the weighted
average number of 3,278,825,335 (2018: 3,278,825,335) ordinary shares in
issue during the year. Basic loss per share from continuing and discontinued
operations was HK9.6 cents for 2019, as compared with HK5.7 cents for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

FINANCE COSTS
The Group’s finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2019 was
approximately HK$36.9 million, compared to approximately HK$32.4 million for
the year ended 31 December 2018. The increase in finance costs was mainly
due to the increase in the average interest rates in banks and other borrowings
during the year of 2019.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Income tax for the year ended 31 December 2019 was approximately HKS$5.5
million (2018: approximately HK$3.7 million).
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NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE

Calculation of net asset value per share was based on the net asset value of the
Group of HK$62.3 million (2018: HK$34.1 million) and 3,278,825,335 ordinary
shares issued at 31 December 2019 (2018: 3,278,825,335 ordinary shares). Net
asset value per share at 31 December 2019 was HK$0.02 (2018: HK$0.01).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2019, an overall cash and cash equivalent of the Group
was HK$66.8 million (2018: HK$72.7 million). The Group managed its capital
structure and liquidity to finance its operations by using bank and other
borrowings and funds generated from operations.

The Group's current ratio (ratio of current assets to current liabilities) was 0.76
at 31 December 2019 (2018: 0.73).

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's total borrowings were approximately
HKS$464.9 million (2018: HK$466.4 million), out of which HK$445.6 million (2018:
HK$456.2 million) were due within one year and the rest of HK$19.3 million
(2018: HKS$10.2 million) were due over one year. Approximately 90% of the
Group's bank and other borrowings were in United States dollars and the rest
of them were in Renminbi (‘RMB”), Euro and New Taiwan dollars. The effective
interest rates on the Group's variable interest rate bank and other borrowings
ranged from 1.65% to 10%. The gearing ratio (total borrowings over total assets
of the Group) increased from 42.55% at 31 December 2018 to 45.02% at 31
December 2019.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s general banking facilities included bank
loans and other borrowings which were secured by the following assets of the
Group: (i) bank deposits of HK$4.0 million; (i) property, plant and equipment
with a carrying value of HK$26.8 million; (iii) investment properties of HK$147.6
million; (iv) trade receivables of HK$192.8 million; (v) inventory of HK$202.4
million; and (vi) pledge of the Company’s interests in Pro Brand Technology,
Inc.

*  Foridentification purpose only
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
B 755 [ Je (7).

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2019, the Group employed a total of 651 (2018: 777) full-
time employees. Employees are remunerated according to their performance
and responsibilities. Employees of the Group receive training depending on
their scope of work, especially those training relating to workplace health and
safety.

The Directors and senior management of the Company receive compensation
in the form of salaries, benefits in kind and/or discretionary bonuses relating to
the performance of the Group. The Company regularly reviews and determines
the remuneration and compensation packages of the Directors and senior
management.

A share option scheme was adopted and approved by Shareholders on 17
March 2005 for the purpose of providing incentives or rewards to selected
participants, including but not limited to directors or employees, for their
contributions to the Group.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD AND FUTURE
PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL
ASSETS

There were no significant investments held as at 31 December 2019 nor were
there other plans for material investments on capital assets as at the date of
this report.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group's sales and purchases were denominated mainly in US$ and RMB.
The Group was exposed to certain foreign currency exchange risks but it
does not expect future currency fluctuations to cause material operation
difficulties on the ground that the recent pressure from depreciation of RMB
is manageable. However, management continuously assesses the foreign
exchange risks, with an aim to minimise the impact of foreign exchange
fluctuations on business operations.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities at 31 December
2019 (2018: Nil).
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ARBITRATION

On 29 September 2011, the Group entered into a conditional agreement (the
“Conditional Agreement”) with an independent individual third party (the
“Original Shareholder”) and Technosat Technology JLT FZE (“Technosat’,
a company incorporated in Dubai, which was wholly owned by the Original
Shareholder), to subscribe for 375 new shares in Technosat at a cash
consideration of US$7,500,000 (equivalent to HK$58,170,000), amounting to
15% of Technosat's enlarged capital. Technosat is set up to be engaged in
operation of digital TV and radio platform, pay TV channel, and sales and supply
of TV set top boxes.

As at 30 June 2012, the Group had paid a deposit of US$2,500,000 (equivalent
to HK$19,467,000) to Technosat to acquire new shares in Technosat which
was fully provided for impairment in the financial year ended 30 June 2012.
Pursuant to the terms of the Conditional Agreement, the Group is required to
pay a further sum of US$5,000,000 in relation to the subscription of this 15%
equity interest in Technosat. The subscription is not yet completed up to the
date of approval of this report as the conditions precedent of the subscription
of new shares in Technosat including the consent and approval by government
authority in Dubai have not been fulfilled.

Despite the Group's repeated request for information, there has been
no satisfactory response from the Original Shareholder or Technosat
("Counterparties”) regarding the current status and the procurement of
obtaining government approval from the government authority in Dubai. The
Group has engaged legal counsel to act for the Group and started dispute

resolution proceedings against the Original Shareholder and Technosat.

On 21 January 2013, the legal counsel of the Original Shareholder and
Technosat served a notice to the Group’s legal counsel for a claim on the
further payment of US$5,000,000 in relation to the subscription of this 15%
equity interest in Technosat. The Group's legal counsel has replied on behalf
of the Group on 11 February 2013 in response to the claim of the Original
Shareholder and Technosat defending the claim as the Directors consider such
claim invalid, as the conditions precedent of the subscription of new shares in
Technosat had not been fulfilled and constituted a breach of the Conditional
Agreement.

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
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The Group's legal counsel had repeatedly requested the Original Shareholder
and Technosat to commence the next step of the mediation process, but
there has been no satisfactory response from the legal counsel of the Original
Shareholder and Technosat up to the deadline set by August 2014. In March
2020, as confirmed by the Group's legal counsel for this arbitration, no
communication has been received or sent by either party since August 2014.

As at the date of approval of this report, save as disclosed above, no member of
the Group was engaged in any litigation or arbitration of material importance
and no litigation or claim of material importance was known to the Directors to

be pending or threatened against any member of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group continues to improve its corporate governance practices,
emphasizing the attainment and maintenance of a quality Board, sound risk
management and internal controls, and high transparency and accountability
to the Shareholders. The Board and the management are committed to
the principles of good corporate governance consistent with prudent
management and enhancement of shareholder value. The Board believes that
good corporate governance will bring long-term benefits to the Shareholders
and the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company has applied the
principles and has complied with the code provisions (“Code Provision(s)")
of the Corporate Governance Code (“Corporate Governance Code’) as
contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), except for certain deviations as
specified and explained below with considered reasons for such deviations.

1. Under Code Provision A.6.7, independent non-executive directors and
other non-executive directors should attend general meetings.

Messrs. Kuo Jen Hao, a non-executive Director, Li Chak Hung and Wu
Chia Ming, both independent non-executive Directors, were unable to
attend the annual general meeting ("AGM”") held on 12 June 2019 and
the special general meeting ("SGM") held on 19 June 2019 due to their

other engagements.

2. Under Code Provision C.1.2, management should provide all members of
the board with monthly updates giving a balanced and understandable
assessment of the issuer’'s performance, position and prospects in
sufficient detail to enable the board as a whole and each director to
discharge their duties under Rule 3.08 and Chapter 13 of the Listing
Rules.

During the year, the management had provided all members of the
Board with updates giving a balanced and understandable assessment
of the Company's performance, position and prospect on a quarterly
basis and the management started to provide all members of the Board
with monthly updates from October 2019 onward.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

AN 2 arax \Ai
PTEEIRMRSE (&

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the
Listing Rules as the code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company
by the Directors. After specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have
complied with the required standard regarding securities transactions set
out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2019. No
incident of non-compliance was noted by the Company for the year ended 31
December 2019.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

As at 31 December 2019, the Board consists of two executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Hung Tsung Chin and Mr. Chen Wei Chun (chief financial officer),
one non-executive Director, namely, Mr. Kuo Jen Hao and three independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lau Yau Cheung (chairman), Mr. Li Chak
Hung and Mr. Wu Chia Ming. An updated list of the Directors and their roles
and functions is published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and of the
Company respectively.

Mr. Hung Tsung Chin is the husband of Ms. Chen Mei Huei, a director of several
subsidiaries of the Company and the chief executive officer in the satellite
TV broadcasting business of the Group (“Satellite Broadcasting Services
Business Division”). Save as disclosed above, none of the other Directors has
any financial, business, family or other material relationship with any of the

other Directors.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors are of sufficient number and calibre
for their views to carry weight. The functions of independent non-executive
Directors include:

bringing an independent view and judgment at Board meetings;
taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;
serving on board committees if invited; and

scrutinizing the Company's performance and monitoring performance
reporting.

The independent non-executive Directors have made a positive contribution
to the development of the Company’s strategies and policies through
independent, constructive and informed comments. They benefit the Board
and the Board committees by their skills, expertise, varied backgrounds and
qualifications through regular attendance and active participation at the

meetings of the Board and the Board committees.

Composition of the Board is disclosed, and the independent non-executive

Directors are identified, in all corporate communications to the Shareholders.

Confirmation of Independence

The independence of the independent non-executive Directors has been
assessed in accordance with the applicable Listing Rules. Each of the
independent non-executive Directors has made an annual written confirmation
of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is
of the view that all independent non-executive Directors meet the guidelines
for assessing independence set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are

independent.
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Roles and Functions of the Board and the Management

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the Company;
and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the Company’s
affairs. The Board is fully responsible for the formulation of business policies
and strategies in relation to the business operation of the Group, including
dividend policy and risk management strategies. The management is
delegated the authority and responsibilities by the Board for the day-to-day

management and operation of the Group.

Appointment, Continuation of Appointment and Re-election of
Directors

All' executive Directors have entered into service agreements with the
Company while the non-executive Director and all independent non-executive
Directors have entered into letters of appointment with the Company with
a specific term of three years, setting out key terms and conditions of their
appointments. All Directors are subject to retirement in accordance with the
bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-Laws”).

According to the Bye-Laws, (i) Directors appointed by the Board either to fill a
casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the existing Board shall hold
office only until the next following AGM of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election; and (i) at each AGM, one-third of the Directors for the
time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest
to but not greater than one- third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be
subject to retirement at an AGM at least once every three years. As such, no
Directors have a term of appointment longer than three years.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Board Meetings

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Directors have made active
contribution to the affairs of the Group and 5 Board meetings were held to
consider and approve the outsourcing services of internal control and risk
management, change in company secretary and authorized representative of
the Company, to adopt the environmental, social and governance policies, and
to review and approve the interim results and annual results of the Group and
inter-company loans.

In addition to the regular Board meetings, the Chairman met with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other Directors
during the year ended 31 December 2019.

Further, on 13 December 2018, the Board has approved and adopted a
dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”). The Company aims to deliver
reasonable and sustainable returns to the Shareholders. In deciding whether to
propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board takes
into account, inter alia:

(i) the Company's actual and expected financial performance;

(i) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each
of the members of the Group;

(i)  the Group’s working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future expansion plans;

(iv)  the Group's liquidity position;

(v)  general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business
and other internal and external factors that may have an impact on the
business or financial performance and position of the Company;

(vi)  the Shareholders’ and the investors’ expectation;

(vii)  the industry’s norm; and

(vii) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

However, there can be no assurance that dividends will be proposed or
declared in any particular amount for any given period.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
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Attendance Record of Directors

The attendance record of Directors at the meetings of the Board, the Board
committees and the Shareholders held during the year ended 31 December
2019 is set out below:

EEHERTH
UWTABE_TE—LF+_A=+—BLFESE
EHFREEeen BT8R AREARE

B R

Audit Nomination Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meeting Meetings Meetings
ES293 BNZE09E REZE99E FHzEge BRRAE
Number of Number of Number of Number of Number of
meetings meetings meetings meetings meetings
attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/
Number of Number of Number of Number of Number of
meetingsheld ~ meetingsheld  meetingsheld ~ meetingsheld ~ meetings held
HEEEN HEEEN HESEN HESEN HESZEN
e Ve -Ih e Va-Ih e Ve-Ih e Ve & V& Tii
Name of Directors ESRE BRENORY =E LR =E LR =E LR =E LR
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Hung Tsung Chin IR 5/5 N/A i N/A 3 N/A i 22
Mr. Chen Wei Chun BRiE#EE 5/5 N/AR & N/AR & A N/ATR & A 22
Non-Executive Director FHTES
Mr. Kuo Jen Hao BAFEE 4/5 N/AR & N/A @A N/A @ A 02
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIFHTES
Mr. Lau Yau Cheung (Chairman) ZmeELE(EE) 5/5 4/4 1/1 22 22
Mr. Li Chak Hung FEELE 5/5 4/4 "N 22 02
Mr. Wu Chia Ming REREE 5/5 4/4 1/1 22 0/2
Access to Information ERFEH

All Directors are kept informed on a timely basis of major changes that may
have affected the Group’s business, including those changes to relevant rules
and regulations and are able to make further enquiries when necessary. The
Board has also agreed that the Directors may seek independent professional

advice in performing their directors’ duties at the Company’s expense.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Directors and Officers Liability Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken against the Directors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities. The insurance coverage

is reviewed on an annual basis.

Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional Development
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company organized two
training sessions for the Directors on 24 October 2019 and 7 November 2019.
Such training sessions covered the environmental, social and governance
reporting and anti-corruption laws.

All Directors confirmed that they have complied with the Code Provision on
directors’ training. The Company has received from each of the Directors his

confirmation on taking continuous professional training.
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Attending in-house

training session

or seminars

2 R R I
Name of Directors EEHA REIMFE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Hung Tsung Chin 3 HE A SE A Vv
Mr. Chen Wei Chun BR{E 8955 & V
Non-Executive Director EHITES
Mr. Kuo Jen Hao FAREE V
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFHITES
Mr. Lau Yau Cheung (Chairman) RN FE R E(EE) V
Mr. Li Chak Hung TEIERE v
Mr. Wu Chia Ming RERLE V
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer are separate to
reinforce independence, accountability and responsibility. Mr. Lau Yau Cheung,
the Chairman of the Board, is responsible for the formulation of development
strategies, investment decision making, overall project planning at the Group
level, leading the Board and ensuring that the Board functions properly and
effectively, whilst Mr. Hung Tsung Chin, the chief executive officer of several
subsidiaries of the Company which are engaged in manufacturing and trading
of the media entertainment platform related products, other multimedia
products, integration of signal and traffic communication and satellite
TV equipment and antenna products (“Manufacturing and Trading of
Electronic Products Business Division”) is responsible for the management
of the daily operation and general administration of the Manufacturing and

Trading of Electronic Products Business Division.

Ms. Chen Mei Huei, the chief executive officer of the Satellite Broadcasting
Services Business Division, is responsible for the overall management of the
Group including all overseas offices.

Board Committees
The Board has established three committees with specific written terms of
reference to oversee particular aspects of the Company's affairs.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established on 17 March 2005 with written terms of reference, which
are posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and of the Company
respectively. The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee was
further updated on 30 March 2012 and 1 June 2018. All the members of the
Audit Committee are independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Li
Chak Hung, Mr. Lau Yau Cheung and Mr. Wu Chia Ming. Mr. Li Chak Hung, who
has appropriate professional accounting qualifications as required under the
Listing Rules, was appointed as the chairman of the Audit Committee. None of
the members of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the auditor of the

Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include, among other things,
(i) being primarily responsible for making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditor,
and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditor; (i) reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’'s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with
applicable standards; (iii) developing and implementing a policy on engaging
an external auditor to supply non-audit services; (iv) monitoring the integrity
of the Company’s financial statements and the annual report and accounts,
half-year report and, if prepared for publication, quarterly reports, before
submission of the financial statements and reports to the Board, and reviewing
significant financial reporting judgments contained in them; (v) reviewing the
Company’s financial control, risk management and internal control systems;
and (vi) discussing the risk management and internal control systems with
management to ensure that management has performed its duty to establish
effective systems. The Audit Committee may seek any necessary information
from employees within its terms of reference and obtain independent
professional advice, at the Company’s expense, to perform its responsibilities if
it considers necessary.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Audit Committee held 4
meetings to consider, approve and adopt the risk management policy, and
review annual audit planning, annual results, interim audit planning, interim
results and the internal control review conducted by an external professional
consultant.

The attendance record of individual Directors at the Audit Committee
meetings is set out on page 24 of the annual report.
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Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”)
was established on 17 March 2005 with written terms of reference, which
are posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and of the Company
respectively. The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee was
further updated on 30 March 2012 and 1 June 2018. All the members of the
Nomination Committee are independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr.
Lau Yau Cheung (chairman), Mr. Li Chak Hung and Mr. Wu Chia Ming.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include, among other
things, (i) reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board and
making recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy; (ii) identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and selecting or making
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships; (iii) assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and (iv) making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors. The
Nomination Committee may seek any necessary information from employees
within its terms of reference and obtain independent professional advice, at
the Company's expense, to perform its responsibilities if it considers necessary.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, no new Director was appointed.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Nomination Committee held
1 meeting to (i) review the structure, size and composition of the Board and
(i) assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors. The
attendance of individual Directors at the Nomination Committee meeting is
set out on page 24 of the annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

The board diversity policy was adopted by the Board on 1 June 2018 aims to
set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board in order to enhance
the quality of its performance. Selection of candidates on the Board is based
on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. The Nomination Committee will assess the merit and contribution
that any Director proposed for re-election or any candidate nominated to be
appointed as Director against the objective and appropriate criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

During the year, the Board has delegated the relevant selection and
appointment of directors to the Nomination Committee, which identifies
suitable qualified candidates to become Board members and recommends
them to the Board. In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the
Nomination Committee would assess and evaluate the candidate’s character
and integrity, qualifications, skills, experience, gender and diversity aspects
under the board diversity policy that are relevant to the Company’s business
and corporate strategy, devoting adequate time to effectively carry out their
duties, and fulfilment of the independence requirements as set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules (for independent non-executive director). After the
evaluation, the Nomination Committee nominates the appropriate candidate
to the Board for approval and appointment. For any person that is nominated
by a Shareholder for election as a Director at the general meeting of the
Company, the Nomination Committee should evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate
is qualified for directorship. Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee
should make recommendation to Shareholders in respect of the proposed
election of Director at the general meeting.

The Board adopted a Nomination Policy in 2020 which sets out the criteria and
process on the nomination and appointment of directors.
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Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “"Remuneration
Committee”) was established on 17 March 2005 with written terms of
reference, which are posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and of the
Company respectively. The written terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee was further updated on 30 March 2012 and 1 June 2018. All the
members of the Remuneration Committee are independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Wu Chia Ming (chairman), Mr. Lau Yau Cheung and Mr. Li
Chak Hung.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include, among other
things, (i) making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure for all remuneration of Directors and senior management of
the Group; (ii) reviewing and approving the management'’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals and objectives; and
(i) making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual Directors and senior management. The Remuneration Committee
may seek any necessary information from senior management within its terms
of reference and obtain independent professional advice, at the Company’s
expense, to perform its responsibilities if it considers necessary.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Remuneration Committee
held 2 meetings to review the existing remuneration packages of Directors
and the key terms and conditions of the service agreements and letters of
appointment. The attendance of individual Directors at the Remuneration
Committee meetings is set out on page 24 of the annual report.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management (other than
Directors) by band for the year ended 31 December 2019 is set out below:

Remuneration band
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Number of individuals

AE

HK$0-HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000

Further particulars regarding Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid
employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing
Rules are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE POLICY AND DUTIES
The Board is responsible for performing the duties on corporate governance
functions set out below:

(1)  developing and reviewing the Company'’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendations to the Board;

(2)  reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional

development of Directors and senior management;

(3)  reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(4)  developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of ethic and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

(5) reviewing the Company's compliance with the Code Provisions and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

On 26 November 2019, the Board has approved and adopted the following
new or updated policies:

(i) Risk Management Policy;

(i) Asset Management Policy;

(ii)  Corporate Records Management Policy;

(iv)  Computer Security Policy;

(v)  Emission Management Policy;

(vi)  Environment and Natural Resource Management Policy;

(vii) Employee Health and Safety Policy;
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(viii) Training and Development Policy;

(ix) Prevention of Child and Forced Labour Policy;

(%) Procurement and Supply Chain Management Policy;
(xi) Product Responsibility Policy; and

(xii) Community Investment and Donation Policy.
COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Lee Suet Lai (“Ms. Lee") has resigned as the company secretary of the
Company due to her pursuit of career development with effect from 30
November 2019. Ms. Lee has confirmed that she has taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training during the year ended 31 December
2019. The Board has appointed Ms. Tung Wing Yee Winnie (“Ms. Tung") as
the company secretary of the Company with effect from 30 November 2019.
Ms. Tung has been nominated by Boardroom Corporate Services (HK) Limited
("‘Boardroom”) under an engagement letter made between the Company
and Boardroom. The primary person at the Company with whom Ms. Tung has
been contacting is Mr. Tseng Kuang Li, vice president, Finance, in relation to
corporate secretarial matters. Ms. Tung has confirmed that she has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year ended 31
December 2019.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Board endeavours to present to the Shareholders a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Group’s performance, position and
prospects. Accordingly, appropriate accounting policies are selected and
applied consistently, and judgements and estimates made by the management
for financial reporting purpose are prudent and reasonable.

Save as disclosed in note 2 to the financial statements, the adoption of relevant
new and revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards that became
effective during the year has no significant impact on the Group's results of
operation and financial position.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND ITS REMUNERATION

The external auditor performs independent audit of the annual consolidated
financial statements prepared by the management. BDO Limited (‘BDO”") has
been engaged as the Company’s external auditor.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the fees charged to the financial
statements of the Group in respect of BDO's statutory audit and other services
amounted to approximately HK$1,700,000 and HK$594,000 respectively. The
fees of recurring audit services of subsidiaries performed by other auditors and
the fees of provision of other services were approximately HK$1,980,000.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining a sound and effective
system of internal control and risk management which is designed and
operated to provide reasonable assurance that the Company’s business
objectives in the following areas are achieved:

Effectiveness and efficiency of operations, including the achievement of
performance and operating targets and the safeguarding of assets by
the management;

Reliability of financial and operating information provided by the
management, including management accounts and statutory financial

reports; and

Compliance with applicable laws and regulations by each business unit.
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The Company has put and continues to place considerable emphasis on
maintaining and enhancing the effectiveness of its system of internal control.
Under the Company’s internal control framework, risk management and
internal control are primarily the collective responsibility of every manager and
employee. For consistent compliance by every person in the Company, the
following key control policies and measures are implemented in the everyday

activities, which are summarized below:

—

Overall control environment, including code of ethics governing staff
conduct within the Group, and whistle blowing policy;

2. Management of financial and non-financial risks, including at the
company level the risk management functions of the Board; at the
business unit level management’s ongoing monitoring of operational
and other risks;

3. Major controls systems and processes, including budgetary and cost
controls, financial reporting systems and processes for timely and quality
management reporting, and corporate policies and procedures for
approvals, reviews and segregation of duties in everyday activities;

4. In relation to ongoing compliance monitoring and internal control
reviews, the company secretary undertakes to monitor overall of
compliance with the Listing Rules. The external professional consultant
directly reports to the Audit Committee and is engaged to conduct
independent reviews on the internal control system and provides

recommendations on risk management of the Group; and

5. The Audit Committee has reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Company's internal controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management. It has also considered the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
accounting and financial reporting functions.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

In conducting these reviews, the following reports and activities are
considered:

self-assessments made by management of various business units
and subsidiaries of their material controls and risk management
activities undertaken with reference to The Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSQ”") enterprise risk
management framework; and

self-assessments made by business units and Group finance of the
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the accounting and

financial reporting functions. The main conclusions are that:

the resources in the accounting and finance functions are

adequate; and

the qualifications and experience of the staff of the accounting

and finance functions are satisfactory overall.

During the year, as the internal audit manager still put his priority on upgrading
the existing internal controls to risk-based system for major operating cycles
of the Group's business, both of the Audit Committee and the Board were not
satisfied with his performance and therefore the Board resolved on 5 July 2019
to entrust external professional consultant with responsibility to review the
internal control and risk management systems of the Group, which include
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management functions.
The external professional consultant has commenced the review of the internal
control and risk management systems of the Group since the end of July 2019

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

An internal control and risk management system, no matter how well designed
and operated, is to provide reasonable, though not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives. The design of a control system must
reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls
must be considered relative to their costs. Further, because of the inherent
limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute
assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will not occur or that all
control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. In addition,
the design of any system of controls is based in part on certain assumptions
about the likelihood of future events.
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Inside Information Policy

An inside information policy is in place which contains guidelines to the
Directors and officers of the Group to ensure that inside information of the
Group can be promptly identified, assessed and disseminated to the public
in consistent and timely manner in accordance with the requirements under
the Listing Rules. The Company must disclose inside information to the public
as soon as reasonably practicable, unless the “safe harbours” provisions under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") apply. The Board shall take
reasonable precautions in preserving the confidentiality of inside information
and the relevant announcement before publication.

The Board and the management will continue to look into opportunities for
further enhancing the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group
in the years ahead.

INTERNAL AUDIT

The Group regards internal audit as an important part of the Board and Audit
Committee’s oversight function. The principal objective of internal audit, which
is set out in an internal audit charter, is to provide the Board and management
with useful information and recommendations on the adequacy and
effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group.

AUTHORITY AND ACCOUNTABILITY

Under the internal audit charter endorsed by the Audit Committee, the internal
audit function is authorized by the Board to have access to all records, people
and physical properties relevant to the performance of internal audit. The
external professional consultant has unrestricted access to the chairman of the
Audit Committee and reports directly to the Audit Committee for direction and
accountability. This reporting relationship enables the external professional
consultant to provide an objective assurance to the effectiveness of the
internal control system of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

DUTIES

The duties of the external professional consultant are described in the
engagement letter entered into between the Company and the external
professional consultant. It mainly requires that (a) internal audits are conducted
with independence, objectivity and due professional care in compliance
with the relevant standards, guidelines, and the code of ethics; (b) systems
established are evaluated to ensure compliance with those policies, plans,
procedures, law and regulations which could have a significant impact on
the Group; (c) the approved internal audit plan is implemented, including
any other special tasks or projects requested by the Audit Committee; and
(d) the Audit Committee is updated with key audit initiatives and progress of
completion of the approved internal audit plan, including any change.

All above described duties may be adjusted depending on the resources
available for internal audit function. The management of the Group has the
responsibility to keep reviewing the resources’ availability for internal audit

function.

INTERNAL AUDIT RESOURCES AND MAJOR WORK
DONE IN 2019

The Group has engaged an external professional consultant to review and
assess the risk management and internal control system of the Group. During
the year under review, the external professional consultant has assessed
(i) sales and receivables cycle; (ii) procurement and payables cycle; and (iii)
inventory management cycle of major operating subsidiaries of the Group. The
external professional consultant submitted a review report with the relevant
recommendations to the Audit Committee and the Board for implementation.
The Group and the Audit Committee will keep reviewing the resources’
availability for the implementation of internal control function and risk

management and will regulate the activities for both.

The Board and the Audit Committee considered that the key areas of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems, including the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of our accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting staff, and their training programs and budget, are
reasonably implemented and the Group has complied with provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code regarding risk management and internal control
systems in general for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Dl A/~ N :l: =
=B IamaE (&

BE

SN R EAR RO B B BN A R ] SR HMNIS B X T
FIVHERBY EhETERTEQEREMEREER -
Bl hBRABEREY FEMNEAEXAEAN
FAETRRE  OHDEIHRRETIE
NHERETAEHANEEELETAZENOER
e REFRERER BB ENRE
Eifatd BRERZEEMERETHNEMNE
MEREFBHER ROEHNERZEERTN
BRI REMAENRIBFTE 0T E
B BIEEREE -

LR BABESE T RIBRFBEASHANER
MEHAR - AEBEEREFEETHESTRAL
ETREANBHNER -

—E-NERBEFTERRETEHK
FEITH
AEBDEINEELERRERIEAEEY
BREERNDEZEZG ROEEE e
EENCHGEAEEISLENBATN(NE
T e U BRSO B9 5 G BB K P A BR SO 5 R (i)
FEERAH R EERNEREE e RE
EERARHREERNARREALE - A&
BREREEESEEEAEENNEERER
RREBRNERHERR UERBRNBEZER
BREIEMNEE -

EZSRBEZZESRAANEERKREE RAI
EREsNIZEaRB(2ERMNEH AT
AARMBERBENER ERERCRIUARAR
EREMNFIRERBERT RN ESEBEE
MASEBERBE-ZT-NF+-A=+—HIEHF
EREBTFEERTAEARREE RAIPEE
RERIBE °

0195 R/ BETEEZRERAT 37



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

AN 2 arax \Ai
PTEEIRMRSE (&

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is exposed to a variety of risks when conducting its business
operations globally. The Board assists the Group in anticipating its risk
exposure, putting controls in place to counter threats, and pursuing its set
objectives. After the Board has identified the top risks of the Group, the
Directors will assess how much risk the Board is faced with through the Group's
operation and governance processes.

Based on the risk profile of each business unit, and taking into account the
management control and corporate oversight at Group level, the Audit
Committee and the external professional consultant would map out a risk-
based internal audit plan each year. The Company has separated its risks into
two levels:

(1) Enterprise risk level which is mainly externally driven and will be
mitigated by solution comes from management discussion; and

(2)  Operating risk level which is mainly internally driven and will be
mitigated by building up risk control matrixes for tests of controls and
remediation of deficiencies identified.

The following are the current top and emerging risks of the Group.

Commercial Risk

Commercial risk refers to potential losses arising from inadequate gross
margins and/or non-performance of trading partners or counterparties in the
regions that the Group is operating. It is important to ensure that our trading
partners or counterparties are reliable, financially healthy and willing to comply

with sound commercial practice.
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Currently, the key commercial risks facing by the Group are international
economic conflicts. In 2019, the PRC and the US are engaged in a trade war
that each country continues to dispute tariffs placed on goods traded between
them. As some of the major customers of the Group are located in the US
and the major production facilities of the Group are located in the PRC, the
China-United States trade war has some impact on the Group's business and
operations. In order to mitigate the impact from the China-United States trade
war and to avoid the tariffs imposed by the US on products originating from
the PRC, the Group has managed these commercial risks by:

(@)  strengthening its supply chain management, such as encouraging our
suppliers to establish new production facilities in Vietnam to cope with
the production orders of parts and accessories of our products;

(b)  relocating certain manufacturing workflows to India by establishing local
production facilities to diversify the production facilities of the Group;
and

(©  working closely with the customers in the US to streamline the process
of products delivery and customs clearance.

Financial Risk

Currency risk

For bank borrowings, the functional currency of each operating entity is
generally matched with its liabilities. As such, the management does not
expect any significant foreign currency risk associated with the Group's
borrowings.

Liquidity risk

The Group manages and maintains a level of operating cash flows deemed to
be adequate by the management to finance the Group's daily operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
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Environmental Risk

The Group may expose to potential liabilities to third parties due to pollution
and non-compliance with environmental regulations and requirements.
At present, the Group has outsourced most of its manufacturing process
to suppliers and only maintained an assembly line in Zhongshan, the PRC.
The exposure to environmental risks is mitigated by development of close
relationships with suppliers to ensure that all the materials used in productions

are met with environmental standards required by customers.

Compliance Risk

The Group has adopted internal procedures to monitor the Group’s compliance
risk to ensure that the Group is complied with the laws and regulations where
applicable. Besides, the Group engages an external professional consultant
to review the Group's corporate governance and legal advisers to update the
Group about the latest development in the regulatory environment.

The Board has overseen the Company’s risk management and internal control
systems on an ongoing basis. A year end review of the effectiveness of the
Company's and its subsidiaries’ risk management and internal control systems
has been conducted annually and the systems are considered to be effective

and adequate.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES

The Directors believe that environmental protection and social responsibilities
represent an essential part of the Group's operations. The Directors are
responsible for the sustainable development of the Group and the community.
The Directors have formulated and implemented the current sustainable
development strategies applicable to the environmental, social and

governance (‘ESG") issues of the Group.

In 2019, in order to integrate the sustainable development into the daily
business operations more effectively, the Group had established a series
of written policies that are applicable to the Group and comprehensively
improved the existing corporate governance level of the Group in areas such
as environmental protection, operation management, employment system
and community investment. The policies also help the Group to formulate and
improve the working guidelines and specifics measurements to its business
and daily operations.
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In the future, the Group will continue to review and improve the sustainable
development structure, monitor the implementation of strategies and related
measurements of the Group from time to time. The Group will also continue
to strengthen the internal communications with all employees in the Group
to ensure each employees better understand the sustainable development
strategy of the Group.

During the year, the Group invited the professional consultant to provide
training for all Directors. The content covers the international trends in the
ESG, existing and the latest ESG regulations by the Stock Exchange, as well as
the importance of Directors and governance to ESG and improvement of ESG
reporting performance. In addition, the Group also provided employees with
training on corporate anti-corruption, so as to consolidate the corporate anti-
corruption compliance system and strengthen employees’ anti-corruption

awareness.

The Group believes that the stakeholder communication is an important
step in sustainable development. It would allow all stakeholders to express
their opinions through an extensive and effective communication channels.
In 2019, the Group had engaged an external professional consultant to
conduct an online survey to the stakeholders of the Group. The materiality
assessment revealed that there are a total of 12 material topics were identified.
It provided the Group with a guiding direction to improve the performance of

environmental protection and social responsibilities.

Maintaining a long term relationship with customers is another key objective
of the Group. In 2019, the Group achieved a revenue from one of the major
customers, who has established over decades of relationship, contributing over
10% of the total sales of the Group amounting to HK$323,275,000. At the same
time, the Company was exploring more business opportunities in other areas
aiming to mitigate the risk as well as to expand its customer base.

Further discussions of the aforesaid areas are covered by a separate
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2019" which will be published
within three months after the publication of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY ON THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 which were
prepared in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The Board aims to present a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of the Group’s position and prospects in annual reports, interim
reports and other financial disclosures as required by the Listing Rules.

The reporting responsibility of the external auditor of the Company on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out in the independent

auditor's report on pages 70 to 77 of this annual report.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has established a Shareholders’ communication policy on 1 June
2018 and the Board shall review on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.
The Company communicates with the Shareholders mainly in the following
ways: (i) the holding of AGM and SGM, if any, which may be convened for
specific purposes which provide opportunities for the Shareholders to
communicate directly with the Board; (i) the publication of announcements,
annual reports, interim reports and/or circulars as required under the Listing
Rules; and (iii) the availability of latest information of the Group on the

Company's website.

General Meetings with Shareholders

Shareholders and investors are welcome to visit the Company’s website and
communicate with the Company by mail, telephone, fax and email, details of
which are made available on the Company’s website.

Separate resolutions were proposed at the general meetings for such
substantial issues, including the re-election of retiring Directors. The Company’s
notice to Shareholders for the 2019 AGM was sent to the Shareholders at least
20 clear business days before the meeting and notices of all other general
meetings were sent to the Shareholders at least 10 clear business days before

the meetings.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

The chairman of the Board and the chairman/members of the Board
committees and the external auditor were available at the 2019 AGM and the
SGM to answer questions from the Shareholders. With the assistance of the
Company's Hong Kong branch share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited (“Branch Share Registrar”’), the representative of
the Branch Share Registrar had explained the procedures for conducting a poll
during the 2019 AGM and the SGM. The poll results are posted on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and of the Company respectively on the same day as
the poll.

During the year, two general meetings were held. The 2019 AGM and the SGM
were held on 12 June 2019 and 19 June 2019 respectively and the voting was
conducted by way of poll. The attendance records of the Directors are set out
on page 24.

Information Disclosure on Corporate Website

The Company endeavours to disclose all material information about the
Group to all interested parties as widely and as timely as possible. The
Company maintains a corporate website at http://www.sandmartin.com.hk
where important information about the Company’s activities and corporate
matters such as annual reports and interim reports to the Shareholders
and announcements is available for review by the Shareholders and other
stakeholders.

When announcements are made through the Stock Exchange, the same
information will be made available on the website of the Company.

During the year, the Company issued various announcements in respect of
financial and inside information, which can be viewed on the website of the
Company.

Investor Relations

The Company recognises its responsibility to explain its activities to those with
a legitimate interest and to respond to their questions. In addition, questions
received from the general public and individual Shareholders are answered
promptly. In all cases, great care is taken to ensure that no inside information is
disclosed selectively.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the Shareholders as required to
be disclosed pursuant to the Corporate Governance Code:

Convening an SGM and putting forward proposals at such meetings.
Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and the Bye-Laws,
Shareholder(s) as at the date of deposit of the requisition holding not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall have the right to submit a
written requisition requiring an SGM to be called by the Board. The written
requisition (i) must state the purposes of the meeting, and (i) must be signed
by the requisitionists and deposited at the Company's registered office at
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton, HM11 Bermuda (the “Registered
Office”) or head office in Hong Kong at Units 04-05, 16/F., Nam Wo Hong
Building, 148 Wing Lok Street, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong for attention of the
Board or the company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”),
and may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or
more requisitionists. Such requisitions will be verified with the Branch Share
Registrar and upon its confirmation that the requisition is proper and in order,
the Company Secretary will ask the Board to convene an SGM by serving
sufficient notice to all Shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition has been
verified as not in order, the requisitionists will be advised of this outcome and
accordingly, an SGM will not be convened as requested.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of a valid
requisition proceed duly to convene an SGM, the requisitions or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them may
themselves convene an SGM, but any SGM so convened shall not be held after
the expiration of 3 months from the said date of deposit of the requisition. In
addition, such meeting convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in
the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are to be
convened by the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, either any number of
Shareholders representing not less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights
of all the Shareholders having at the date of the requisition a right to vote at
the meeting to which the requisition relates, or not less than 100 Shareholders,
can at the expense of the requisitionists request the Company in writing to
(a) give to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next AGM notice of
any resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at
that meeting; and (b) circulate to Shareholders entitled to have notice of any
general meeting sent to them any statement of not more than one thousand
words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or
the business to be dealt with at that meeting. The requisition signed by all the
requisitionists must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company for
the attention of the Board or the Company Secretary with a sum reasonably
sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses and not less than six weeks before
the meeting in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not less

than one week before the meeting in the case of any other requisition.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director
The procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director are available for viewing on the Company's website.

Enquiries from Shareholders

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholding to the Branch
Share Registrar. Other enquiries from Shareholders may be put forward to the
Board through the Company Secretary who will direct the enquiries to the Board
for handling. The contact details of the Company Secretary are as follows:

The Company Secretary

Sandmartin International Holdings Limited
Units 04-05, 16/F, Nam Wo Hong Building
148 Wing Lok Street

Sheung Wan

Hong Kong

Email: ir@sandmartin.com.hk
Tel No: +852 2587 7798
Fax No: +852 2587 7728

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2019, there was no change in the
constitutional documents of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEECRERE

DIRECTORS

Mr. Lau Yau Cheung, aged 59

Independent Non-Executive Director, Chairman of the Board, Chairman of
Nomination Committee

Member of each of Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee

is an independent non-executive Director of the Company since 7 August
2017, and was appointed as the Chairman of the Board with effect from 18
August 2017. He is currently the chairman of the nomination committee of
the Company and a member of each of the audit committee of the Company
and the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Lau holds a bachelor’s
degree in commerce from the University of Toronto in Canada. He has over 25
years of experience in business strategies and corporate finance and 7 years of
experience in securities trading business. Mr. Lau has served in various senior
management positions with both private and public companies in Hong Kong
and overseas. From 1999 to present, he serves as the managing director of
BH Capitalink Development Limited. Mr. Lau is currently an independent non-
executive director of Summit Ascent Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 102).

Mr. Hung Tsung Chin, aged 58

Executive Director, Authorised Representative

is the founder of the Group, which was founded in November 1989. He was
the Chairman of the Board until 18 August 2017. Mr. Hung acts as an executive
Director and authorised representative of the Company. He is currently
the director of certain subsidiaries of the Company and the chief executive
officer of several subsidiaries of the Company which are engaged in the
Manufacturing and Trading of Electronic Products Business Division.

Mr. Hung has over 30 years of management experience in the electronics
manufacturing industry. He graduated from the National Chengchi University
in Taiwan, with a bachelor's degree in business administration. Mr. Hung also
completed the executives programme from the Graduate School of Business
Administration, National Chengchi University.

He is the husband of Ms. Chen Mei Huei, the director of several subsidiaries

of the Company and the chief executive officer of the Satellite Broadcasting

Services Business Division.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
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Mr. Chen Wei Chun, aged 43

Executive Director, Chief Financial Officer

joined the Group in May 2015 and was appointed as an executive Director
and Chief Financial Officer of the Company on 28 August 2015 and 30
November 2017 respectively. He is also the director and the chief financial
officer of Pro Brand Technology, Inc,, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company. Mr. Chen graduated from National Chengchi University and Shih
Chien University with a master's degree in finance and a master’s degree in
business administration respectively. He is well experienced in accounting
and finance industries. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chen was the head of
finance department of TTY Biopharm Company Limited and head of finance
department of KH.S. Musical Instrument Company Limited.

Mr. Kuo Jen Hao, aged 43
Non-Executive Director

was appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company on 18 August
2017. He graduated with a bachelor’s degree in Business Administration
from Aletheia University in Taiwan and holds a master's degree of business
administration from Pace University in 2003 in the United States. Mr. Kuo is a
certified public accountant of the New Jersey State Board of Accountancy.

He has several years of work experience in investment advisory, financial
advisory and corporate finance at PricewaterhouseCoopers, Bank of America
Merrill Lynch and Private Equity Management Group and held various key
roles at several private and listed companies engaging in (i) the administrative
and corporate business; (ii) corporate finance; and (iii) general management
in real estate development business, shipping business, retailing business
and logistics business. Mr. Kuo has a wealth of experience in business strategy
development and innovation management.

*  Foridentification purpose only
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ESNERBEE BE®)

He is the chairman and the general manager of First Steamship Company
Limited (“First Steamship”) (a company listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange
Corporation (“TWSE") (TWSE Stock Code: 2601) and is a substantial shareholder
of the Company and through its subsidiaries collectively holds 29% of the
issued share capital of the Company). Mr. Kuo is also a director and the
chairman of Grand Ocean Retail Group Limited (a company listed on the TWSE
(TWSE Stock Code: 5907) and is a subsidiary of First Steamship) and Taiwan
Environment Scientific Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Taipei Exchange)
(Taipei Exchange Stock Code: 8476). He has served as a non-executive director
and the chairman of the board of Summit Ascent Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 102) from 28 December 2017 to 26 April 2019. He is also a director of
several subsidiaries of the First Steamship including but not limited to Mariner
Finance Limited, Morton Securities Limited and First Steamship S.A. Mr. Kuo
was a director of IRC Properties, Inc. (a company listed on the Philippine Stock
Exchange) from July 2017 to May 2018. He was appointed as a non-executive
director of Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1073) with effect
from 23 December 2019.

Mr. Li Chak Hung, aged 55
Independent Non-Executive Director, Chairman of Audit Committee, Member of
each of Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee

is an independent non-executive Director since 20 September 2016. He is
currently the chairman of the audit committee of the Company and a member
of each of the remuneration committee and the nomination committee of
the Company. Mr. Li graduated from The Chinese University of Hong Kong
and holds a Bachelor's Degree of Business Administration. He is a practicing
Certified Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a Fellow of The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. Mr. Li
has over 25 years' experience in accounting, auditing, taxation and financial
management. He is currently an independent non-executive director of
AsiaSec Properties Limited (Stock Code: 271), Summit Ascent Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 102) and Alpha Professional Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 948),
all of which are companies whose shares are listed on main board of the Stock
Exchange. He was appointed as an independent non-executive director of
Alpha Professional Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 948) with effect from 18
October 2019. He has also resigned as an independent non-executive director
of DreamEast Group Limited (Stock Code: 593) with effect from 20 December
2019.
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Mr. Wu Chia Ming, aged 51
Independent Non-Executive Director, Chairman of Remuneration Committee,

Member of each of Audit Committee and Nomination Committee

is an independent non-executive Director of the Company since 1 December
2014. He is currently the chairman of the remuneration committee of the
Company and a member of each of the audit committee and the nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Wu has a master’s degree in business
administration from the Institute of International Business, National Chen-
kung University and a bachelor’s degree in electronic engineering from Chung
Yuan Christian University in Taiwan. He has nearly 25 years of experience in
financial analysis and fund management. Currently, Mr. Wu is the chairman of
Fortune-Future Investment Co., Ltd. Prior to that, he was a fund manager of KGI

Securities Investment Trust Co., Ltd.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Chen Mei Huei, aged 57

Director of several subsidiaries of the Company and Chief Executive Officer of
Satellite Broadcasting Services Business Division

is a co-founder of the Group since 1989. She is currently a director of several
subsidiaries of the Company and the chief executive officer of Satellite
Broadcasting Services Business Division. Ms. Chen is responsible for the overall
management of the Group including all overseas offices. She has been actively
engaged in the sales and marketing development of the Group in Taiwan
and the international markets for more than 30 years and has particular focus
on new customers and new market development in recent years. Ms. Chen
graduated from Tamkang University in Taiwan with a dual bachelor's degree in
Spanish Literature and International Trade. She is the wife of Mr. Hung Tsung
Chin, an executive Director and authorised representative of the Company. Mr.
Hung is also the chief executive officer of several subsidiaries of the Company
which mainly are engaged in the Manufacturing and Trading of Electronic
Products Business Division.
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Mr. Frank Karl-Heinz Fischer, aged 60
Director of several subsidiaries of the Company, Vice President of the Group, Chief
Technology Officer of the Group

joined the Group in January 2008 and is currently a director of several
subsidiaries of the Company, and the vice president and chief technology
officer of the Group. He is responsible for the global marketing strategy
and technical support of the Group. Mr. Fischer has more than 31 years of
experience in hardware and software development for consumer electronic
products in Europe and has been involved in Digital TV technologies since the
beginning of Digital Video Broadcasting (“DVB”) Project in 1994. He graduated
as diploma degree engineer for automation technology and cybernetics from
the Technical University Leizig in Germany.

Mr. Hsiao Yu Jung, aged 54
Deputy General Manager of the Group’s DVB division

joined the Group in July 2002 and is currently the deputy general manager of
the Group’s DVB division. He is responsible for procurement, manufacturing
and development of the Group’s DVB products and supervision of the
Company's associate company in Nepal. Mr. Hsiao obtained a diploma in
mechanical design engineering from the National Formosa University in

Taiwan.

Mr. Su Jow Shi, aged 56
General Manager of the Group’s digital TV division

joined the Group in September 1995 and is currently the general manager
of the Group’s digital TV division. He is responsible for the Group’s digital TV
operations in South Asia region. Mr. Su graduated from the San Diego State
University where he earned a Master of Public Administration degree.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

EEkE4

Ms. Su Wan Ling (also named Ms. aka Julia Swen), aged 54

Director of Pro Brand Technology, Inc.

has been working in our Group since 2007 and is currently a director of Pro
Brand Technology, Inc. She is responsible for promoting the cable products,
satellite and digital television products in the market of the United States.
Ms. Su graduated from the University of California, with a bachelor’s degree
in Biochemistry; a master’s degree in Environmental Science and a master’s
degree of Business Administration. She has over 25 years of experience in
research of biotechnology field and business management.

Mr. Sven Willig, aged 46
General Manager of Intelligent Digital Services GmbH

has joined the Group since 2005 and is currently the general manager of
Intelligent Digital Services GmbH. He is responsible for hard- and software
development and sales of DVB Products. Mr. Sven has over 20 years of
management experience in the development and quality control of digital
television technologies.

Mr. Sun Cheng-Pen, aged 51
Director of Pro Brand Technology, Inc.

has joined Pro Brand Technology, Inc., a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Group since 2014. He is currently the director and general manager of Asia
Region of Pro Brand Technology, Inc. He is in charge of all companies in Asia
Region of Pro Brand Technology, Inc., including Taiwan, Zhongshan, India
and Vietnam. Mr. Sun graduated from the National Taiwan University with a
bachelor's degree in electrical engineering. He has 26 years of experience in
overall technology development, management and sales of high frequency
and microwave-related fields and related businesses.

*  Foridentification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

ESNERBEE BE®)

Mr. Huang Jung-Sen, aged 50

Director of Pro Brand Technology, Inc.

has joined Pro Brand Technology, Inc., a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Group since 2017. He is currently Director, Asia Region chief technology officer
and deputy general manager of Pro Brand Technology, Inc. He is responsible
for the entire proactive product development and sales of LNB in Asia Region
of Pro Brand Technology, Inc,, as well as product development and sales of the
new product line, i.e. home network. Mr. Huang graduated from the Yuan Ze
University in Taiwan with a master's degree in electrical and communication
engineering. He has 24 years of experience in overall technology development,
management and sales of high frequency and microwave-related fields and
related businesses.

*  Foridentification purpose only
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The Board has the pleasure of presenting the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal activities
of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 44 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

An analysis of the Group's revenue and operating results for the year ended 31
December 2019 by principal activities is set out in note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
on pages 78 to 79 of the annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 is set
out as below:

Section(s) in the annual report

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EETHME(E

Section(s) in the annual report

Page no. of the
annual report

RNEREEH AERZEH
d. Indication of likely future development Business Overview and Management Discussion and Analysis 6t013
of the Company’s business X¥EBMEREEENRESN FOHEFI3E
RRREBARKRAIGLERNTR
e. Analysis using financial key performance Business Overview and Management Discussion and Analysis 61013
indicators XM EREEEN REDN F6HEFI3H
FERMBEERRIBENST Financial Review 141018
81 75 [ B8 F4EEF18H
Financial Summary 244
s E 2448
f. Discussion on the Company’s Corporate Governance Report 19 to 45
environmental policies and hEERWSE FI9OBHZEE4H
performance Further information about the Company’s environmental Not applicable
BRARNRRIRBERRERRNH policies and performance will be described in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2019”
(a standalone report)
EAARRRAREBRERKRBRAE - FERH 5 A
RIZTE-NFRR HgRELRE]
(—mBYURE)PRE
g. An account of the Company’s key Business Overview and Management Discussion and Analysis 6to 13
relationships with its employees, EBMEREERT®ES T FOHEFI3H
customers and suppliers and others Report of the Directors 53 t0 69
that have a significant impact on the EExgRE E3HEESEOH
Company and on which the Company’s
success depend
RAREEES TR REEEUR
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T PfT 5k 8 O EL Ath A = BY AR AU
h. Discussion on the Company's compliance  Corporate Governance Report 19 to 45
with the relevant laws and regulations that 1> 2 & J& R & FIOEEFIE
have a significant impact on the Company  Report of the Directors 53t0 69
RAARETHARRABEAXERN FFgws FS3EEFOE
MHEER KR E B R
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted the Dividend Policy, pursuant to which the
Company may declare and distribute dividends to the Shareholders, provided
that the Group records a profit after tax and that the declaration and
distribution of dividends does not affect the future growth of the Group.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed from time to time and may adopt
changes as appropriate at the relevant time to ensure the effectiveness of the
Dividend Policy.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment during the year
ended 31 December 2019 are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in the investment properties of the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

BORROWINGS
Details of the borrowings during the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out
in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2019 are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”, no equity
linked agreements were entered into during or subsisted at the end of the year
ended 31 December 2019
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EETHME(E

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”, at no
time during the year ended 31 December 2019 was the Company, any of
its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any body corporate.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2019, the Company did not have any distributable reserve
(2018: Nil).

Details of the movements in reserves during the year ended 31 December 2019
are set out in page 82 and page 83 to the consolidated financial statements of

the Group.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed
surplus account of the Company is available for distribution. However, the
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of
contributed surplus if:

(@) itis, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they

become due; or

(b)  the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium

accounts.

DONATIONS

The Group did not make any donation for the year ended 31 December 2019
(2018: Nil).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-Laws provide that every Director is entitled to be indemnified out
of the assets of the Company against all losses and damages which he may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise
in relation thereto.

The Group has taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance
throughout the year, which provides appropriate cover for the Directors.

The permitted indemnity provision was in force during the year ended 31
December 2019 for the benefit of the Directors.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the Group is set out on page 244 of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the aggregate sales attributable to
the Group's five largest customers amounted to approximately 65.4% of the
Group's total sales and the sales attributable to the Group's largest customer
were approximately 30.2% of the Group’'s total sales.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the aggregate purchases attributable
to the Group'’s five largest suppliers amounted to approximately 40.4% of the
total purchases and the purchases attributable to the Group's largest supplier
were approximately 17.6% of the Group's total purchases.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders (who to the
knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the issued shares of the
Company) had any interests in the five largest customers and suppliers of the

Group for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EETHME(E

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts other than employment contracts concerning the management
and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December
2019.

LITIGATION
The details of the Group's litigations proceedings are set out in note 46 to the

consolidated financial statements of the Group.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to the date of
this annual report are:

Executive Directors
Mr. Hung Tsung Chin
Mr. Chen Wei Chun

Non-executive Director
Mr. Kuo Jen Hao

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Lau Yau Cheung (Chairman)

Mr. Li Chak Hung

Mr. Wu Chia Ming

In accordance with Bye-Laws 87(1) and 87(2) of the Bye-Laws, Mr. Hung Tsung
Chin (“Mr. Hung") and Mr. Lau Yau Cheung (“Mr. Lau”) shall retire from office
by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the 2020
AGM.

No retiring Director proposed for re-election at the 2020 AGM has entered
into a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the employing company within one year without payment of

compensation other than statutory compensation.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

CHANGES TO INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF
DIRECTORS

In accordance with rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes to
information required to be disclosed by the Directors pursuant to paragraphs (a)
to (e) and (g) of rule 13.51(2) since the Company’s interim report 2018 and up
to the date of the annual report are set out below:

1. Mr. Kuo Jen Hao has resigned as a non-executive director and chairman
of Summit Ascent Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 102) with effect from
26 April 2019 and has been appointed as a non-executive director of
Da Yu Financial Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1073) with effect from 23
December 2019.

2. Mr. Li Chak Hung has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Alpha Professional Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 948) with
effect from 18 October 2019.

3. Mr. Li Chak Hung has resigned as an independent non-executive director
of DreamEast Group Limited (Stock Code: 593) with effect from 20
December 2019.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EETHME(E

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
Details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior management, together
with those of the five highest paid individuals of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2019 are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group and Corporate Governance Report on page 30
respectively.

The emolument payable to the Directors (including salary and other benefits)
are recommended by the Remuneration Committee of the Company for the
Board'’s approval, having regard to the Group's operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the
Company’s business to which the Company, any of its subsidiaries, its fellow
subsidiaries or its holding companies was a party and in which a Director or his
or her connected entities had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of or at any time during the year ended 31 December
2019.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at 31 December 2019, none of the Directors and their respective close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) was considered to be interested
in any business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A summary of significant related party transactions made during the year
ended 31 December 2019 is disclosed in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

The related party transactions did not constitute connected transactions/
continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
On 17 March 2005, the Share Option Scheme was approved and adopted by

the then Shareholders. A summary of the principal terms of the Share Option

Scheme is set out as follows:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recognize the
contributions of the participants.

Eligible Participants

The participants of the Share Option Scheme are directors or employees,
any business consultants, business partners, suppliers, customers, agents
financial or legal advisers, debtors or creditors who will contribute or
have contributed to the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Grant of Options

The Board shall be entitled at any time, within 10 years after the date of
adoption of the Share Option Scheme, to make an offer of the grant of
an option to any participant.

Payment on Acceptance of Option Offer

HK$1.00 is payable by the participant to the Company on acceptance of
the option offer as consideration for the grant within 30 days from the
date upon which the option offer is made.

Subscription Price of Shares
The subscription price of an option to subscribe for shares granted
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme shall be the highest of:

the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date on which an option offer is
made to a participant, which must be a business day;

the average of the closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date on which an option offer is made;
and

the nominal value of a share.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EETHME(E

(vi)

(vii)

Total Number of Shares Available for Issue

The Company had 2,910,000 shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme, representing 0.09% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this report.

Maximum Entitlement of Shares of each Participant

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all
options granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company to each participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue. Where shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all options already granted and to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to a participant who is a substantial Shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director, or any of his or her associate in the
12-month period up to and including the date of grant, (1) representing
in aggregate more than 0.1% of the total number of shares in issue; and
(2) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the shares
at the date of each grant, in excess of HKS5 million, the proposed grant
of option must be approved by the Shareholders by poll in general
meeting.

(viii) Time of Exercise of Option

62

The exercise period of any option granted under the Share Option
Scheme shall not be longer than 10 years from the date of grant of the
relevant option. The Board has the authority to determine the minimum
period for which an option must be held before it can be exercised.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

During the year, details of movements in the share options under the Share

Option Scheme are as follows:

Options to subscribe for shares
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Lapsed/ at per share
Outstanding Granted/  Cancelled/ 31 December immediately
at1January Exercised Expired 2019 prior to the
2019 during during R=ZZ-N%F Exercise date of grant
RZB-hE the year the year tZh price Date of SERH Exercisable
Type of grantees -A-H ER  FAx¥/ =t-H8 per share grant A A period’
REARH MAGE BE/AE HH/ER HAGE  SROEE REEM  SRUTE TR
(HKS) (HKS)
(%7) (87)
Employees of the Group 2,910,000 = = 2,910,000 1.761 22102010 205 22102012-21.102020
rEEES
Note: B 5

1. These share options are exercisable in the following manner:

(i) on or after the second anniversary of the date of
grant up to 10 years from the date of grant

(i) on or after the third anniversary of the date of
grant up to 10 years from the date of grant

50%

remaining 50%

The share options granted under the Share Option Scheme are not recognized

as share capital in the financial statements of the Company until exercised.

The Share Option Scheme has expired on 16 March 2015, however, all the

outstanding share options are exercisable in accordance with the terms of

the Share Option Scheme and such other terms and conditions upon which a

share option was granted, at any time during the option period after the share

option has been granted by the Board but in any event, not longer than ten (10)

years from the date upon which the share option is accepted or deemed to be

accepted in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.

During the year, the Company has no new share option scheme.

ZERBREIIRIAT T AT

[0) RELHBHRWAFE Bz’
EZERLEHEI0F

50%

(ii) RELEHR=-AFEARCE
EZXERHBEREIOE

Tl &4 50%

REBREFIRONBERERETERINA
NA MR FER R -

BREFIENR-_Z—AF=A+BE® A
m-FARKTEERETRNEREEESSR
7R B B RAE HA PR PR (A B 1) - ME S e 40 ) 1S AR
38 R I P AR R R AR AT B A R R B R M SRR AR {E
BEMZ BET00)F  RIEMERES S A HK
Ko 5 1 B P AT 4K 9 0 LA R R S AR A T AT ©

RER  NAB I EFFBAAE S -
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EETHME(E

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of each Director
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO, which were required (a) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) to be recorded
in the register pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or (c) to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as

follows:

(@) Long positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company
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(@ RAQXFARD HEROREFNHER

Number of Percentage
Number of underlying of the issued
ordinary shares held share capital
Name of Director Capacity shares held R Total EETRAE
EEpE 20} FEEERYE RHEA @t Bk
Mr. Hung Tsung Chin Interest of controlled corporation 507,188,592 -
IR L REHEB N E S
Interest of spouse - 2,328,000%
[ Fa
Total 507,188,592 2,328,000 509,516,592 15.53%
@t
Notes: Pt 5E -

1. These shares represent shares held by Metroasset Investments Limited in which Mr.

Hung Tsung Chin beneficially owns 45.09% of the issued share capital.

2. The relevant interests are unlisted physically settled options granted to Ms. Chen
Mei Huei, the spouse of Mr. Hung Tsung Chin, pursuant to the Share Option Scheme.
Upon exercise of the share options in accordance with the Share Option Scheme,
ordinary shares with a par value of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company
are issuable. The share options are personal to the respective grantees. Further details
of the share options are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this
annual report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

(b) Long positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of associated corporations of the Company
Name of associated corporation:

Pro Brand Technology, Inc.

SEENmh 4

(b) REAQXTMEBZEZENRG HEARG R
BEHNER
FEHE X B 5 18
8 B £ 8 IR 2 7 *(Pro Brand Technology, Inc.)

Number of Percentage to
Number of underlying the issued
ordinary shares held share capital
Name of Directors Capacity shares held Fr#5 1 B8 Total BRTRA
Esps L) FEEERYE RO HE @t Bk
Mr. Chen Wei Chun Interest of controlled corporation 350,000 -
RiEs% L gz Lok $-3
Beneficial owner 150,000%
EGEAA
Sub-total 500,000 = 500,000 0.63%
Nt
Mr. Hung Tsung Chin Beneficial owner 250,000 = 250,000 0.31%
BRI R A BEREAA
Notes: B 5

1. These shares represent 350,000 shares of Pro Brand Technology, Inc, a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, held by Jun Zhong Investment Limited* (3 1F 5
& 7 R A &l) in which Mr. Chen Wei Chun beneficially owns the entire issued share
capital.

2. These shares represent 150,000 shares of Pro Brand Technology, Inc., a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, owned by Mr. Chen Wei Chun.

3. These shares represent 250,000 shares of Pro Brand Technology, Inc., a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, owned by Mr. Hung Tsung Chin.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company had any interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required (a)
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interests or short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b)
to be recorded in the register pursuant to section 352 of the SFO; or (c) to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

*  Foridentification purpose only

1. ZERMNRRBHPREERARFAENAEKA A
FEE2EMNEB A AEARKARA F* (ProBrand
Technology, Inc) 9 350,000 B A% 15 + FRE 89 56 £ B 2
BEREHHREERRANDHEEITRA -

2. ZEBRORRARFEZEMBRARFEERKRE
fR /2 &]* (Pro Brand Technology, Inc.)#J 150,000 8% f& 15 *
HEREHEERES -

3. ZEBRORRARFEZ2EMNBRAREERKRE
[ 2 &]* (Pro Brand Technology, Inc.)#J250,000 8% f& 15 *
TSR AR -

BERFAEREEN R-B-AF+T_A=+—
B BEEERARARSTRABRRAARE
T ABEAE(EXRES B EERGIEXVE) &
Befn  HEABRO A EEBFQABRERZ S LB
BERPIEXVEE7R8D FFAME AN QA M B R
R EARERAR (BRESEREESF LS
GEOIBRBIGXRE FRBERBNEDZIARA)
HOBEEARBESLPERIED2GEAFE
MELMANERIORR  HQORBFETAIZA
MERRNB LB EAERIORE -

* (EHEE
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EETHME(E

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SHAREHOLDERS
DISCLOSABLE UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 December 2019, according to the register kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO, the following companies and persons, other than
the Directors and chief executive of the Company, had long positions of 5%
or more in the shares and underlying shares which fell to be disclosed to the
Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

REEZRPEFFAETHERENR
REZRXR
RZF—AFE+ZA=1+—8 BEAQARE
BHERBEKAFEBREENELM A TA
AIRAT(EERARAESITRABRINES
BIEEHFRBEGEAEXNVITE2DEBREID
BRARAEENwE A LG RAEERD N
e

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares RO EEBEBRONETFE
Number of
ordinary
shares and Percentage of
underlying the issued
shares held share capital
Name of Shareholders Capacity FEERER 2 %17
L 54 R B AR 1 B E BRAE R
Metroasset Investments Limited Beneficial owner 507,188,592! 1547%
E=m#EAA
Ms. Chen Mei Huei Interest of controlled corporation 507,188,592°
PREZ 22+ REHEE SR
Personal interest 2,328,000°
(G
Sub-total 509,516,592 15.53%
INEF
First Steamship Interest of controlled corporation 950,859,347* 29.00%
0 REGEE SR
Mr. Fung Chuen Beneficial owner 65,878,000° 5.02%

RHRFEE

BEmEA A
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Notes:

1. These shares are held by Metroasset Investments Limited, 45.09% of the issued share capital
of which is beneficially owned by Mr. Hung Tsung Chin.

2. These shares are the same batch of shares held by Metroasset Investments Limited, 44.38% of

the issued share capital of which is beneficially owned by Ms. Chen Mei Huei.

3. The relevant interests are unlisted physically settled options granted pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme. Upon exercise of the share options in accordance with the Share Option
Scheme, ordinary shares with a par value of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company

are issuable.

4. First Steamship is interested in 950,859,347 shares through First Mariner Holding Limited, its
wholly-owned subsidiary, which holds 833,000,000 shares and Grand Citi Limited, its non-
wholly owned subsidiary, which holds 117,859,347 shares.

5. Disclosure of the percentage of the issued share capital held by Mr. Fung Chuen is made as
per the last disclosure of interests notice as at 31 December 2019 which was filed on 2 June
2017

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified by any Company
or other person (other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company)
who had an interest or short positions of 5% or more in the shares and
underlying shares for the year ended 31 December 2019 which fell to be
disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

E=EWmE @

B o

1. Z % M 1D H Metroasset Investments Limited 3% % ﬂ'ﬁ
Metroasset Investments Limited #) 45.09% £, & 7 A% 78 £ 3t
EEEBESER -

2. % BX D B Metroasset Investments Limited 355 A £ 7] — #t %
%+ T Metroasset Investments Limited #J44.38% B2 % 17 A% A<
HRESELLTERES -

3. AR R AR BB BRI LT E Y E EARAE o
FREREREERETSETER AT FEIARAR
A GREEI0HB TR LB -

4, 25135 3B H & & Kt BB 2 R First Mariner Holding Limited &
3E 2 & K} B 2 T Grand Citi Limited 72 950,859,347 A& A% 17
B #E 25+ £ P First Mariner Holding Limited $5 4 833,000,000
fi% A% 1% & Grand Citi Limited 3% 45 117,859,347 BR A% 17 °

s AMBREEFMBEBIRAZEHLHRBS MM =
Pt EAA-AERR-B-NE+-A=f+—AZ
53 30 0 B 2 A T

bR EXFr#E RSN - ANA RN R A Al sk H
AL (EZERAQRGEBRITBRABRIN EMNE
REBEE_ZE—NF+_A=+—HLFEHEER
BRAENBEEAHEXNVEE 2D R EID A
M AR AT R 5% ek A A% (D & 48 BE AR 15 Y 4
mEOKE °
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)
EETHME(E

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2019.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-Laws or the laws
in Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated,
under which the Company would be obliged to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to the existing Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set out
in the Corporate Governance Report contained in this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report, the
Directors confirmed that the Company has maintained the amount of public
float as required under the Listing Rules throughout the year.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019
have been audited by BDO. A resolution for the re-appointment of BDO as the
Company's auditor for the ensuing year is to be proposed at the 2020 AGM.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to Shareholders
by reason of their holdings of the shares of the Company. If the Shareholders
are unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing
of, dealing in, or the exercise of any rights in relation to the shares, they are
advised to consult an expert.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to attend, speak
and vote at the 2020 AGM, the register of members of the Company (‘Register
of Members”) will be closed as appropriate as set out below:

Latest time to lodge transfer documents for At 4:30 p.m. on

registration with the Branch Share Registrar Friday, 19 June 2020

Record Date Friday, 19 June 2020

Closure of the Register of Members Saturday, 20 June 2020 to
Monday, 29 June 2020

(both days inclusive)

For purpose mentioned above, all properly completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration
with the Branch Share Registrar, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than the

aforementioned latest time.

For and on behalf of the Board

Lau Yau Cheung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
78 S % BRI RS

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

IBDO

T35 1 +852 2218 8288
85 : +852 2815 2239

www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
SANDMARTIN INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sandmartin
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) set out on pages 78 to 243, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BDO Limited
BRI ERSEHMEBAARAR

25% Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong
EBTHER 115
FkZHi251&

HEFTERZERERQITAZERE
(RBFRZELIMHALZBRAF])

=R

RPEERHENEBEEF 23EANES T BER
ZERERAB(ERRD) REMBAR(AEATE
SEDNSEEPBRER  EEFMBBRREBER_F
—NFT_A=T-HONEARMBRARREE
ZHIEFENGABEaEME2mEER  RE7
AEPRNGARENER - UARGEEHBHRERM
i BREIESTHEME -

BMRE  ZEREVBHRERECRBREBEEBSHA
2([EASHMAE]) BHOE BT KRS LER
EEARTHRET EEER-_Z-HhFE+T=A
=+ —HNREMBRARBEZB IEFENGE
WERARGERERE  WEIEBEBQREN
BRATLARER -

BDO Limited, a Hong Kong limited company, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee,

and forms part of the international BDO network of independent member firms.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 3(b) in the consolidated financial statements, which
indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of HK$315,461,000 attributable
to owners of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2019 and,
as of that date, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
HK$219,267,000. As stated in note 3(b), these conditions, along with other
matter as set forth in note 3(b), indicate that a material uncertainty exists
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going

concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In
addition to the matter described in the "Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concern” section, we have determined the matters described below to be the
key audit matters to be communicated in our report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)

B A SRR R S (E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment assessment of receivables

(Refer to notes 5, 21, 22, 25 and 38(b)(i) to the consolidated financial statements)

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had loan receivables due from former
subsidiaries, Speed Connection Group Limited and its subsidiary My HD
Media FZ-LLC, with a principal amount of US$71,298,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$555,062,000) and related interest receivables with a gross
amount of US$11,728,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$91,304,000), several
receivables from an associate, Dish Media Network Limited, including (i) loan
to an associate with a principal amount of HK$23,268,000; and (i) amount due
from an associate with a gross carrying amount of HK$68,080,000. In addition,
the Group had trade and bills receivables with a gross carrying amount of
HK$340,471,000 as at 31 December 2019.

The Group elected to measure loss allowances for amount due from an
associate which is trade in nature and trade and bills receivables using HKFRS
9 simplified approach and calculated expected credit losses (“ECLs") based on
lifetime ECLs. The Group has engaged an independent specialist in assisting
the Group to establish a provision matrix that is based on the Group's historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
associate and the economic environment.

The Group measured the ECLs of loan to an associate at an amount equal to
12-month ECLs. The 12-month ECLs is the portion of the lifetime ECLs that
represent the ECLs that result from default events on a financial instrument that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. The Group measured
the ECLs of loan receivables due from former subsidiaries using lifetime ECLs
as these receivables are considered credit-impaired. When determining
whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group has engaged an
independent specialist to consider reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group's
historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-
looking information.
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INDEPENDENT AU DITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment assessment of receivables (Continued)

Based on the Group’s measurement, ECLs of loan receivables due from former
subsidiaries, loan to an associate, amount due from an associate and trade
and bills receivables of HK$646,366,000, HK$ 1,138,000, HK$6,351,000 and
HK$132,976,000 respectively were recognised as at 31 December 2019. As a
result, the net amounts of loan receivables due from former subsidiaries, loan
to an associate, amount due from an associate and trade and bills receivables
were nil, HK$22,130,000, HK$61,729,000 and HK$207,495,000 respectively as at
31 December 2019.

Accordingly, provision for ECLs on loan receivables due from former
subsidiaries of HK$429,410,000 and reversal of ECLs on other financial assets of
HK$8,791,000 were recognised in profit or loss during the year.

We identified impairment assessment of receivables as a key audit matter
because significant amount of judgment and estimation was involved in

determining the ECLs allowance.

Our response
Our key procedures in relation to management’s impairment assessment

included:

— Obtaining an understanding of and evaluating the design and
implementation of internal controls relating to credit control, debt
collection, estimate of expected credit losses and making related
allowances under ECL model;

—  Obtaining and understanding on the key data and assumptions of the
expected credit loss model adopted by the Group;

—  Assessing the appropriateness of groupings of trade receivables into
categories of shared credit risk characteristics;

—  Testing, on a sample basis, the accuracy of the ageing analysis of trade
receivables;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)

B A SRR R S (E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment assessment of receivables (Continued)

Our response (Continued)

—  Testing the accuracy and evaluating the relevance of the historical loss
data as an input to the ECL model;

—  Evaluating whether the historical loss rates are appropriately adjusted
based on current economic conditions and forward looking information
to assess the reasonableness of the expected credit loss rates; and

—  Evaluating the independent specialist's competence, capabilities and

objectivity.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the Company’s annual report but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report

thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we

are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AU DITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the

Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to

any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on

the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)

B A SRR R S (E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group's internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as

a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during

our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Yu Tsui Fong

Practising Certificate Number P05440

Hong Kong, 31 March 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

D\/

= AN

I it = [ 4 o

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_Z-NAF+-A=Z+—BILFE

3R

2019 2018
—E-NEF = —\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
M 7 FET FAT
(Re-presented)
(&%)
Continuing operations BEREER
Revenue W g 6 1,070,527 1,277,948
Cost of sales 5 5 AR (890,325) (1,130,272)
Gross profit EF 180,202 147,676
Other income, gains and losses Halg A~ = M EE 40,636 18,589
Decrease in fair value of investment properties 3% & ¥ % 89 A E{E 7 2 17 (3,142) (1,526)
Distribution and selling costs K K B B R AR (32,670) (44,745)
Administrative and other expenses THEEMEAX (132,267) (134,599)
Research and development costs fift 2% 5 AR (35,156) (31,530)
Share of profit of an associate FE AL — [E B 2 2 B B9 5 A 20 10,320 14,107
Provision for expected credit loss on loan TN ENGIE T -
receivables due from former subsidiaries MEHEERBERG 22 (429,410) -
Reversal of/(provision for) expected credit losses - fth 4 g & EE 69 78 /Hﬂ (-
on other financial assets EEEE (B 8,791 (221)
Finance costs [ R = DN 8 (36,894) (32/436)
Loss before income tax expense FEBZHATER (429,590) (64,685)
Income tax expense Frig 8l = 9 (5,546) (3,706)
Loss for the year from continuing operations SEKE LKW A FEEFIE (435,136) (68,391)
Discontinued operation ERIEREER
Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued operation B, 4% | |- 4% 4 % & #) 7K 4E £
pink i (Eﬁ 18) 10 79,788 (234,439)
Loss for the year AEEEFE 11 (355,348) (302,830)
Other comprehensive income Hiuz2mksx
Items that will not be reclassified subsequentlyto ~ HE T & B 7 HEZ 1875
profit or loss: mIEE :
— Re-measurement gain on defined benefit plan RERAFEHN
Bt ERE 32 83 18
— Gain on revaluation of properties upon — Y BELAREBERZS
transfer of property, plant and equipment KEMERNMES S
to investment properties 2,230 44,208
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to HEAEEN 7 HHE Bz
profit or loss: mIEE :
— Exchange differences on translation —REBIINEBHENY =8
of foreign operations (10,226) (7,468)
Other comprehensive income for the year AKEEHM2EWSE (7,913) 36,758
Total comprehensive income for the year EEEXEHRRARE (363,261) (266,072)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)

= N\ 7/

= AN
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-T-NAFET-A=+—BILFE

2019 2018
—g-hE| -T-N%F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M 7 FER FAT
(Re-presented)
(&%)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to RATBEEANELETEE
owners of the Company: (B1]) %A :
— from continuing operations — B ER (441,458) (55,405)
— from discontinued operation — BRI EETR 125,997 (132,030)
(315,461) (187,435)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to FERERELEREE
non-controlling interests: wmFL(B8) -
— from continuing operations —RRBELEED 6,322 (12,986)
— from discontinued operation —ERIEREER (46,209) (102,409)
(39,887) (115,395)
Total comprehensive income attributable to: T 5| & HE(L 2 UK FZ A% :
— Owners of the Company — KRNAEEB A (323,376) (150,362)
— Non-controlling interests —IEERER (39,885) (115,710)
(363,261) (266,072)
Loss per share from continuing and RERCRIEREEBNERER HK cents HK cents
discontinued operations 14 B Al A
— Basic —H R (9.6) (5.7)
— Diluted —#8 (9.6) (5.7)
Loss per share from continuing operations FEKLEEBHNERER 14
— Basic —H K (13.5) (1.7)
— Diluted —#55 (13.5) (1.7)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
“r e BRI IR

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019
RZF-AE+=ZA=+—H

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\#F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M & FHET FHET
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENEE 15 83,619 99,432
Prepaid lease payments FENHERIE 16 935 1,261
Investment properties wREME 17 147,622 149,738
Goodwill [EES 18 9,272 10,208
Intangible assets mEEE 19 8,704 13,165
Interest in an associate 73’\ —EBERRINER 20 76,600 67,800
Loan to an associate BT REEBEARNER 21 22,130 22,137
Deferred tax assets & L MEEE 23 3,346 3,147
Total non-current assets EREBEELE 352,228 366,388
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 24 221,049 143,308
Trade, bills and other receivables FEWE FERER - EWEE
Ko B A jE W5k TE 25 326,800 389,259
Prepaid lease payments FEREERIEA 16 57 65
Loan receivables FEWE R 22 - 8,794
Amount due from an associate & U — [E1 B 2 N B B9 RIE 21 61,729 113,702
Pledged bank deposits B IEITFER 26 3,973 1,643
Bank balances and cash RITHEFRAS 27 66,840 72,695
Total current assets RBEELEE 680,448 729,466
Current liabilities REEE
Trade, bills and other payables BHESER  ENEE
T2 H At & < 5RIE 28 391,750 505,222
Contract liabilities AHEE 29 23,509 23,614
Tax liabilities =R 11,534 13,371
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 31 441,045 454,343
Provision for financial guarantee B IS E (R B A 30 27,332 -
Lease liabilities HEBE 33 4,545 -
Obligations under finance leases mEREAE 33 - 1,897
Total current liabilities mENABEEE 899,715 998,447
Net current liabilities RBEEFE (219,267) (268,981)
Total assets less current liabilities EEHEARABAER 132,961 97,907
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

ire B IR IL R (4

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019
RZFE-NF+ZA=1+—H

2019 2018
—F-hFE | ZTN\HF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M 5E FHExT FET
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 31 11,568 4,728
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEA & 23 51,351 53,448
Defined benefit obligation RERAMEMR 32 33 136
Lease liabilities HEAR 33 7,714 -
Obligations under finance leases RhEFHE AR 33 - 5481
Total non-current liabilities ERPHEaEeE 70,666 63,793
Net assets EEFE 62,295 34,114
Capital and reserves attributabletoowners A THEE ABEREAR FE
of the Company
Share capital [N 34 327,882 327,882
Reserves Ee (323,310) 66
Equity attributable to owners of the Company &N BB A E(R#E S 4,572 327,948
Non-controlling interests JE ¥ A% B 7 44 57,723 (293,834)
Total equity B 62,295 34,114

On behalf of the directors

Hung Tsung Chin
R E
Director

EF

RERES

Chen Wei Chun
PRIZ$9
Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GAEREDE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_Z-NAF+-A=Z+—BILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

AARERAER
Share Defined Property  Currency Non-
Share Share option  Statutory  benefit plan Special  revaluation translation ~Accumulated controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests Total
RERH NEEH  ENEE 2R
R ROBE BRERE AERE GEBE  RAEG e B RiEB @it E& ai
HKS000 HKS000 HK000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TiEn TR TEn TEn TEn TEn Tin TR AL AL TiEn Tin
(notea) (note b) (note )
(Wiska) (Fsto) (Mo
Balanceat31 December2017  WZE-tE+Zf=1-H
asoriginally presented ZEBMEHEY) 327882 506750 7,960 31,945 B 89175 79577 7907 (566,789) 484430 (167638) 316792
Inital application of HKFRS 9 RZE-\E-A-AER
asat 1 January 2018 EREENBREEAZIR - - - - - - - - (6,120 (6,120 - (6120
Restated balance at RZB-N5-A-H
1 January 2018 LBENES 327882 506750 7960 31,945 ) 89175 79577 7907 (572909) 478310 (167638) 310672
Loss for the year rEEBE - - - - - - - - (187439) (187439) (1153%) (302830)
Othercomprehensiveincome~ E i 2 EM
Gain on revaluation of properties 1% BE RREEE
upon transfer of property, ERENERNNE
plant and equipment to Efha
investment properties - - - - - - 4208 - - 4208 - 44208
Re-measurement gain on AR HNERHEhE
defined benefit plans - - - - 18 - - - - 18 - 18
Eichange diferences on translation RAE BN EBMEE
of forelgn operations MEXZR - - - - - - - (7153) - (7153) (315) (7468)
Total comprehensiveincome ~ AEE2ANZAE
for the year - - - - 18 - 44208 (71193) (187435) (150362) (115,710) (266072)
Transfer wE - - - 541 - - - - (541) - - -
Share repurchase RiEE - - - - - - - - - - (384) (384)
Revaluation reserve releaseon  RHERENER
disposal of ivestment property BRI E - - - - - - (49751) - 49,151 - - -
Dividend paid tonon-contoling A7 — K BR AR
interest by a subsidiary of FERBERRARE
the Company - - - - - - - - - - (10,102) (10,102)
Balanceat31 December2018  W=E-NE+-A=1-H
and 1 January 2019 R-B-NE-B-RAzEH| 37882 506750 7,960 32,486 4 89,175 74,634 4 (M) 327,948 (293,834) 34,114
Lossforthe year RERER - - - - - - - - (15461 (315461)  (39887)  (355349)
Othercomprehensiveincome ~ Eft 2 AN
Re-measurement gain on FERHHHNERHENE
defined benefit plans - - - - 8 - - - - 8 - 8
Exchange differences on trandlation RAE SN ERTE &
of foreign operations HESEE - - - - - - = (10,228) - (10,228) 2 (10,226)
Gain on revaluation of properties  91% ~ BE Rk &
upon transfer of propert, ERERENER
plant and equipment o HnEERNE
investment properties - - - - - - 2,230 - - 2,230 - 2,230
Total comprehensiveincome ~ AEE2ARAAE
for the year - - - - 83 - 2,230 (10,228) (315,461) (323,376) (39,885) (363,261)
Disposal of subsidaries HEHBAA - - - - - - - - - - 391,442 391,442
Balanceat31 December2019  W=Z-A%+=A=1-8
iR 327,882 506,750 7,960 32,486 124 89,175 76,864 (9474)  (1,027,195) 4512 51123 62,295

82

Sandmartin International Holdings Limited / 2019 Annual Report




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Continued)

== N\ 7/ /7
j[ = =4 @J % (“E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

l\\/T\

HE-F-NFT-A=t+—BILFE
Notes: F’ﬁﬁf .
(a) The statutory reserve is required by the relevant law of The People’s Republic of China (the (a)

“PRC") applicable to the subsidiaries in the PRC. The statutory reserve can be applied in
conversion into PRC subsidiaries’ capital by means of a capitalisation issue.

(b) The special reserve represents: (b)

(i) the difference between the nominal value of the shares of the acquired subsidiaries
and the nominal value of the Company's shares issued for the acquisition at the time
of a group reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares and the surplus
arising pursuant to a capitalisation of advances from shareholders as part of the

group reorganisation;

(ii) the difference between the consideration for acquisition of a subsidiary satisfied by
way of partial interest of a subsidiary without the overall gain or loss of control in the
partial disposed subsidiary and the fair value of net asset acquired; and

(iii) the acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary without the overall gain or loss of

control in that subsidiary.

(@] The property revaluation reserve is frozen upon the transfer of properties from property, plant (@]
and equipment to investment properties and will be transferred to accumulated losses when

the relevant properties are disposed of.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

S ALTE A e =
FEREeERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
HE-—T AEL—A= AL

2019 2018
—E-nEF —E-N\F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B x THER FAT
Cash flows from operating activities REXBRERE
Loss before income tax expense from BEBKEERMER I LSS
continuing operations (429,590) (64,685)
Profit/(loss) before income tax expense BRI EEBER I HA
from discontinued operation HF(BE) 79,788 (234,439)
(349,802) (299,124)
Adjustments for: BTNy{EL AR
Amortisation of intangible assets BREESN 4,521 4,524
Decrease in fair value of investment properties REMERN RN TFERD 3,142 1,526
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment mE - -BEREETE 19,513 26,050
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERREENE 3,365 -
Provision for/(reversal of) expected credit losses CREEBRREEBBRE (BR)
on financial assets 419,479 (984)
Finance cost BB KA 36,894 32,436
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEME MELEREER 2,293 2346
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment  ¥1% B E & R @ FE R - 1,723
Impairment loss on inventories FEREEBE 958 351
Impairment loss on goodwill EEREERE 18 - 97,643
Interest income B A (3,583) (5,500)
Interest income from an associate kB —fEEERRNFBRA (1,013) (1,013)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBRARIRNER 940 2,247
Gain on disposal of discontinued operation HEBRIEEEEBKNHEE (149,948) -
Loss on written off on intangible assets WEEVEENERE 28 -
Reversal of impairment loss on inventories FERERBERE (2,584) (21,202)
Release of prepaid lease payments BEOBENEERE 64 163
Written-off of interest receivable from an associate i 85 FE U — Rl Bt & A T 9 K| 8 - 1,770
Share of result of an associate fEfE — R AR EE (10,320) (14,107)
Operating cash flows before working capital changes & B E CEHAMNELERERE (26,053) (171,151)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEEEMH (79,260) 137,787
Decrease/(increase) in trade, bills and FEWE R EBREEREAM
other receivables FE W sk TR D/ (3 n) 30,091 (82,107)
(Decrease)/increase in defined benefit obligation RERMEMECRD) /M (103) 33
Decrease/(increase) in trade, bills and other payables [ENE ZBEDR - ENZHE M E it
FE B R A,/ (38 ) 60,582 (2,129)
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities BHEEORD),HEm (105) 23614
Decrease/(increase) in amount due from an associate [ — RsTHs & 2 T BU B 4/ (38 4n) 58,822 (80,506)
Cash from/(used in) operations e me (rH)RE 43,974 (174,459)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

l\\/T\/\EE: \/ ;ﬁ.’%%(ﬂggﬁ)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

2019 2018
—E-NF — N\
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B x THERT FAT
Income tax paid BERMER (9,617) (5599)
Interest received 2 W& 3,583 5,500
Interest paid B S (36,673) (32,/436)
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities REXBME/(MR)REFERE 1,267 (206994)
Cash flows from investing activities REXBRERE
Increase in pledged bank deposits [REREEEGRER il (2,330) (1,963)
Proceeds from loan receivables JEWE RFTE ZE 8,794 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEWME  BERREHMEHRIE
and equipment 9,235 9,078
Proceeds from disposal of asset held for sale HEREHREEEMBHIA - 97,396
Purchase of property, plant and equipment HBEME BERRZE (13,394) (13,356)
Net cash outflow arising from disposal of a subsidiary 8 H & — BB AT FEER S
SR 3 R 35 (1,558) (41
Addition to intangible assets NEBWEE (136) (292)
Repayment from an associate —EEEARER - 2,036
Net cash from investing activities REEBIEE S T8 611 92,858
Cash flows from financing activities BMEIHRERE
New bank and other borrowings raised MERTREMEE 56,122 301,274
Repayment of borrowings EBEE (59,273) (233,774)
Payment of interest element of lease liabilities INEEGENEHS (221) -
Payment of principal element of lease liabilities XNHERERSH Y (3,663)
Repayment of obligations under finance leases EERMEMERIE - (1,955)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interest by RAr—EK B AR M IEERER
a subsidiary of the Company AT 8B 8 - (10,102)
Acquisition of non-controlling interest Wk R R - (384)
Net cash (used in)/from financing activities RMEEB(FA)/FERLFE (7,035) 55,059
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ReRASEEBYURDFE (5,157) (59,077)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year ~ F ¥R & MRS HEY 72,695 132418
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INEERBE) B (698) (646)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FEXRBEELRBESEED 66,840 72,695
Analysis of the balances of cash and REeRBESENEHRI T
cash equivalents:
Bank balances and cash RITEFRRES 66,840 72,695
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% S 3R BT =E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

S

86

“E-NFE+AE+-HLEEFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability and its
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange. The address of the registered
office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in
the corporate information section to the annual report.

The Company and its subsidiaries (hereafter referred to as the “Group”)
engages in manufacturing and trading of satellite TV equipment
products and other electronic goods and satellite TV broadcasting.

During the year, the Group has disposed of the subsidiaries operating the
business of satellite TV broadcasting. This business segment is presented
as discontinued operation in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standard 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations ("HKFRS 5"), issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Certain comparatives on the consolidated financial
statements and the related notes have been re-presented as a result
of the retrospective application of HKFRS 5. Details of the discontinued
operation are set out in note 10.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective on 1
January 2019

HKFRS 16
HK(FRICO)-Int 23

Leases

Uncertainty over Income
Tax Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features and
Negative Compensation

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment,
Curtailment or Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 28  Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint Ventures

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations; HKFRS 11 Joint
Arrangements; HKAS 12 Income

Taxes; and HKAS 23 Borrowing Costs

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017
Cycle
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B 5 R R B o (47

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective on 1

January 2019 (Continued)

Except the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases ("HKFRS

(a)

16") which have been summarised in below, the other new or

amended HKFRSs that are effective from 1 January 2019 did not

have any significant impact on the Group’s accounting policies.

Impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16

HKFRS 16 brings significant changes in accounting
treatment for lease accounting, primarily for accounting for
lessees. It replaces HKAS 17 Leases ("HKAS 17"), HK(IFRIC)-
Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a
Lease ("HK(IFRIC)-Int 4"), HK(SICO)-Int 15 Operating Leases-
Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of
Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. From a
lessee’s perspective, almost all leases are recognised in the
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, with the narrow exception to this principle
for leases which the underlying assets are of low-value
or are determined as short-term leases. From a lessor's
perspective, the accounting treatment is substantially
unchanged from HKAS 17. For details of HKFRS 16 regarding
its new definition of a lease, its impact on the Group's
accounting policies and the transition method adopted by
the Group as allowed under HKFRS 16, refer to Notes (ii) to (v)
below.

2. EMEEBUBREEN(EFRME
wEEQ D) (&)

R RIET B RN BREER

—R=B-AF-A-BERE)

BT B R B BB T IR B 16

RHE((BRMBREEUL165]) 2

(a)

TEI

Hhg —F—hnF—HF—HiE

R R AR B AR H RS 2 A
HAEESHBRLBENEATE -

(i)

RAE B BREERE 169525
ZEB

BRUBREENF 6 REUHES
AP etRIEFHERES T2
REBAGTRE - ERREES
SREREUVRHEE((EBERE
AIE175R ) - BE(BRMH®RE
REZEE) RER4RETLH
EEEFEMEE ([F B (BB R
EREBEEY) —OERBE4R))
BE(CERIREZRS) —R2ES15
AAEHE — EFENBEB (LR
BZEg) REF2RFE LR
HEZREAZRGAR - s
AAEME - BREBHHERYPE
ARRERSEREEELHER
& - AR A EEERENKREE
RREPHEEHEBZRAZBISN
BRI e MBBEAAENS @ &
FHREABMEAE B ST ERIFE 175
—H - AHBEEMBREERE 16
SEHEECHER  HUAKES
ABERZHEARTEMBREE
A 1657 IA MERF AR B MR 2 18
BIEZ G FLH T XMES

(i) 2 (v) &7 ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE_ZE—NE+-_RA=+—HItEE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. BRMEABUBEREEDN(FEBHK
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued) REXER |) (8)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective on 1 (a)
January 2019 (Continued)

R R BB B REER
—RIB-NAF-A-BERE)

(i) Impactof the adoption of HKFRS 16 (Continued) () RN BRI TERE ERE 169257
Z(E)
The Group has applied HKFRS 16 using the cumulative AEBCDEREEVBEREELSE
effect approach and recognised all the cumulative effect of 165 ERA Rt 8L - WHRIIRE
initially applying HKFRS 16 as an adjustment to the opening RAMERERNERESMBRE
balance of retained profits at the date of initial application. HEB|FE 1658 2 FTA Rst 2 557
The comparative information presented in 2018 has not REBBHRERZFAE - —_F— \F
been restated and continues to be reported under HKAS 2H 7 EER M EmED| W EER
17 and related interpretations as allowed by the transition BEEBGERE 175 MBS
provision in HKFRS 16. WELERE 16 5% R ESOERT 2 18
HAREZW -
The following tables summarised the impact of transition TERBMBEER BV REE
to HKFRS 16 on the Group’s consolidated statement of Al 16mREREBHEZ_T—N
financial position as of 31 December 2018 to that as of 1 FH+—_A=+—HE_Z—hF—
January 2019 as follows: R—BzmaiBilik e 2
T
1 January 2019
—E-hF
—A—H
HK$’000
FEx
Right-of-use assets presented in RIME BERZHEIZ29 2
“Property, plant and equipment”* FREEE* 7,361
Lease liabilities HEARG 7,378
* At 31 December 2018, the net book value of a building held * RZZ—-—NF+ZA=+—RH K&

under finance leases of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$7,361,000 was classified as right-of-use assets upon the adoption
of HKFRS 16.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B 75 5 % I Rt (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)
(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective on 1
January 2019 (Continued)
(i) Impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 (Continued)

The following reconciliation explains how the operating
lease commitments disclosed applying HKAS 17 at the
end of 31 December 2018 could be reconciled to the lease
liabilities at the date of initial application recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 January
2019:

KB BUBHREER (FRMK

HEER ) (&)

(a) BRAVHE]RETEBHBREER
—RIB-NAF-A-BERE)

(i)

HRE B EREERE 16552 %
Z(E)
NTHERER-_Z—N\F+=A
=+ HERBERBESSER
17 5RARER A E AR AT
RZZE—NF—A—RBZEHEUH
MAKRERR B ERASZAE
BEETHE

1 January 2019
—E-AF
—H—H
HK$’000
FERT
Operating lease commitments at 31 December 2018 AEBRAEMEHRERMEE
as disclosed in the Group's consolidated RZE—NF+ZA=+—H2
financial statements A T EAE 3,202
Discounted using the incremental borrowing rate FTRAR_E-—NF—HA—RH2Z
at 1 January 2019 EEEEF KR 3,103
Obligation under finance lease recognised as R—ZZE—-—NF+-_A=+—H
at 31 December 2018 WRZEBEHRERAE 7,378
— Recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets — R BEEEHE 2 R R (89)
— Recognition exemption for leases with less than —RBERHEERIR2EAR 2
12 months of lease term at transition HECHERH R (3,014)
Lease liabilities recognised at 1 January 2019 RZE—-—NF—A—BERZBEEAE 7,378

The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate
of 4% was applied to the Group's lease liabilities recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 1
January 2019.

RZB-NF-A—BZEaHK
MARERAZAEEHERERER
Z IR AB A EEENES
4%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_Z-NAF+-A=Z+—BILFE

2.

20

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective on 1
January 2019 (Continued)

(i)

Impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 (Continued)

Apart from the above, leasehold land outside Hong Kong
of the Group which is held for own use amounted to
approximately HKS$3,432,000 was classified as right-of-use
assets upon the adoption of HKFRS 16. It would continue
to be accounted for under HKAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment ("HKAS 16") and carried at cost.

The new definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a lease is defined as a contract, or part
of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the
underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. A contract conveys the right to control the
use of an identified asset for a period of time when the
customer, throughout the period of use, has both: (a) the
right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits
from the use of the identified asset and (b) the right to
direct the use of the identified asset.

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, a lessee
shall allocate the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components, unless the lessee apply the
practical expedient which allows the lessee to elect, by class
of underlying asset, not to separate non-lease components
from lease components, and instead account for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a

single lease component.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)
(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective on 1
January 2019 (Continued)

(iii)

Accounting as a lessee

Under HKAS 17, a lessee has to classify a lease as an
operating lease or a finance lease based on the extent to
which risks and rewards incidental to ownership of a lease
asset lie with the lessor or the lessee. If a lease is determined
as an operating lease, the lessee would recognise the lease
payments under the operating lease as an expense over
the lease term. The asset under the lease would not be
recognised in the statement of financial position of the

lessee.

Under HKFRS 16, all leases (irrespective of they are operating
leases or finance leases) are required to be capitalised in the
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, but HKFRS 16 provides accounting policy
choices for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases
which are short-term leases (lease term of 12 months or
less) and/or (ii) leases for which the underlying asset is of
low-value. The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities for low value assets and leases
for which at the commencement date have a lease term
less than 12 months. The lease payments associated with
those leases have been expensed on straight-line basis over
the lease term.

The Group recognised a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability at the commencement date of a lease.

2. HRMERMBHRELER (HFBYE
HEER ) (&)

(a) BRAVHE]RETEBHBREER

—RIB-NAF-A-BERE)

(iii)

(ERABAZ Bit i 2
REFLB T ERE 175 - A
NERBHEEE E A RN E i
Ko Bl ¥R B A A SR AR A 2 HH R TR
B #HEE T BAREHERRE
HE - WHEBETAEEHE - &
HABREERASKELHERT
ZHENHRER RS - HERE T
BERTERABAZ T BHRREK
MEER -

REBEFBMERELRF 1658 - AT
EHETmAKEHESREN
B)HERUBRAKRAERR
EREEERHERE  EEEY
BRELENFE 1R/ —REER
HETHRRERE  AERETK()E
RHHE(HERS12EALAT)
ZHER /) HREEBKER
ZHEETERE - AREDER
THEEEEEREEHNASG A
AR N2EA 2 HERAERESR
ERHERE HZFHEARZ
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#
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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2.

92

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective on 1
January 2019 (Continued)

(iii)

Accounting as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost and
would comprise: (i) the amount of the initial measurement
of the lease liability (see below for the accounting policy to
account for lease liability); (i) any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, less any lease incentives
received; (i) any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee;
and (iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee
in dismantling and removing the underlying asset to the
condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease,
unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.
The Group measures the right-of-use assets applying a
cost model. Under the cost model, the Group measures
the right-of-use asset at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for
any remeasurement of lease liability.

For the leasehold land and buildings of the Group that
are held for rental or capital appreciation purpose would
continue to be accounted for under HKAS 40 /nvestment
Property ("HKAS 40") and carried at fair value. For leasehold
land and buildings which is held for own use would
continue to be accounted for under HKAS 16 and carried at
cost less accumulated depreciation. The adoption of HKFRS
16 therefore does not have any significant impact on these
right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)
(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective on 1
January 2019 (Continued)

(iii)

Accounting as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liability

The lease liability should be recognised at the present
value of the lease payments that are not paid at the date of
commencement of the lease. The lease payments shall be
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that
rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group shall use the Group's incremental
borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use of the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at
the commencement date of the lease are considered to be
lease payments: (i) fixed payments less any lease incentives
receivable; (ii) variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at commencement date; (iii) amounts expected to be
payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
(iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and (v) payments
of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term
reflects the lessee exercising an option to terminate the
lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, a lessee shall
measure the lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying
amount to reflect interest on the lease liability; (i) reducing
the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made;
and (iii) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any
reassessment or lease modifications, e.g., a change in future
lease payments arising from change in an index or rate, a
change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed
lease payments or a change in assessment to purchase the

underlying asset.
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2.

924

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective on 1
January 2019 (Continued)

(iv)

v)

Accounting as a lessor

The Group has leased out its investment properties to a
number of tenants. The adoption of HKFRS 16 does not have
a significant impact on the Group’s financial statements as
the Group previously elected to apply HKAS 40 to account
for all of its investment properties as at 31 December 2018.
These investment properties continue to be carried at fair

value.

The accounting policies applicable to the Group as a lessor
remain substantially unchanged from those under HKAS 17

Under HKFRS 16, when the Group acts as an intermediate
lessor in a sublease arrangement, the Group is required to
classify the sublease as a finance lease or an operating lease
by reference to the right-of-use assets arising from the head
lease, instead of by reference to the underlying asset. The
adoption of HKFRS 16 does not have a significant impact on
the Group's financial statements in this regard.

Transition

As mentioned above, the Group has applied HKFRS 16
using the cumulative effect approach and recognised all
the cumulative effect of initially applying HKFRS 16 as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits at the
date of initial application (1 January 2019). The comparative
information presented in 2018 has not been restated
and continues to be reported under HKAS 17 and related
interpretations as allowed by the transition provision in

HKFRS 16.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)
(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective on 1
January 2019 (Continued)

(v)

Transition (Continued)

The Group has recognised the lease liabilities on 1 January
2019 for leases previously classified as operating leases
applying HKAS 17 and measured those lease liabilities at the
present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted
using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at 1 January
2019.

The Group has elected to recognise the right-of-use assets
at 1 January 2019 for leases previously classified operating
leases under HKAS 17 as if HKFRS 16 had been applied since
the commencement date, but discounted using the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application.
For all these right-of-use assets, the Group has applied HKAS
36 “Impairment of Assets” at 1 January 2019 to assess if there

was any impairment as on that date.

The Group has also applied the follow practical expedients:
(i) applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with
reasonably similar characteristics; (i) applied the exemption
of not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
for leases with term that will end within 12 months of the
date of initial application at 1 January 2019 and accounted
for those leases as short-term leases; (iii) exclude the initial
direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use
asset at 1 January 2019; (iv) used hindsight in determining
the lease terms if the contracts contain options to extend
or terminate the leases; and (v) relied on its assessment
of whether leases were onerous by applying HKAS 37
immediately before 1 January 2019 as an alternative to

perform an impairment review.
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2.

26

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective on 1
January 2019 (Continued)

(v)

Transition (Continued)

In addition, the Group has also applied the practical
expedients such that: (i) HKFRS 16 is applied to all of the
Group's lease contracts that were previously identified as
leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 and (ii) not
to apply HKFRS 16 to contracts that were not previously
identified as containing a lease under HKAS 17 and
HK(FRIC)-Int 4.

The Group has also leased certain buildings which
previously were classified as finance leases under HKAS 17.
As the Group has elected to adopt the cumulative effect
method over the adoption of HKFRS 16, for those finance
leases under HKAS 17, the right-to-use assets and the
corresponding lease liabilities at 1 January 2019 were the
carrying amount of the lease assets and obligation under
finance lease under HKAS 17 immediately before that date.
For those leases, the Group has accounted for the right-of-
use assets and the lease liabilities applying HKFRS 16 from 1
January 2019.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective
The following new or revised HKFRSs have been issued, but are
not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group.
The Group’s current intention is to apply these changes on the
date they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business'

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material’
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform!’

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

3 The amendments were originally intended to be effective for periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The effective date has now been
deferred/removed. Early application of the amendments continue to be
permitted.
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2.

28

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 — Definition of a Business

The amendments clarify that a business must include, as a
minimum, an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs, together
with providing extensive guidance on what is meant by a
“substantive process”.

Additionally, the amendments remove the assessment of whether
market participants are capable of replacing any missing inputs or
processes and continuing to produce outputs, whilst narrowing
the definition of “outputs” and a “business” to focus on returns
from selling goods and services to customers, rather than on cost
reductions.

An optional concentration test has also been added that permits a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and
assets is not a business.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 — Definition of Material

The amendments clarify the definition and explanation of
"material”, aligning the definition across all HKFRS Standards
and the Conceptual Framework, and incorporating supporting

requirements in HKAS 1 into the definition.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective (Continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 — Interest Rate

Benchmark Reform

The amendments modify some specific hedge accounting
requirements to provide relief from potential effects of the
uncertainties caused by interest rate benchmark reform. In
addition, the amendments require companies to provide
additional information to investors about their hedging
relationships which are directly affected by these uncertainties.

HKFRS 17— Insurance Contracts

HKFRS 17 will replace HKFRS 4 as a single principle-based standard
for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of
insurance contracts in the financial statements of the issuers of
those contracts.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 — Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify the extent of gains or losses to be
recognised when an entity sells or contributes assets to its
associate or joint venture. When the transaction involves a
business the gain or loss is recognised in full, conversely when
the transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business
the gain or loss is recognised only to the extent of the unrelated
investors' interests in the joint venture or associate.

The above new/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but not
yet effective are unlikely to have material impact on the Group’s
consolidated results and consolidated financial statements upon

application.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B 7% 3R BT oE (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements on pages 78 to 243 have
been prepared in accordance with all HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.

Basis of measurement and going concern assumption
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for investment properties which
are measured at fair value, as explained in the accounting policies
below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

During the year, the Group incurred a net loss of HK$315,461,000
attributable to owners of the Company and at the end of reporting
period, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HKS$219,267,000. The Group had bank loans and other loans
of HK$211,342,000 and HK$241,271,000 at 31 December 2019
respectively, which would request consents from various banks
and financial institutions on the annual renewal of relevant
facilities in the coming twelve months. The Group is dependent
on the renewal of relevant facilities from the banks and financial
institutions to meet its financial obligations. There is no certainty
that bank loans and other loans of the Group will be renewed in
the future. These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group'’s
ability to continue as a going concern and therefore, that it may
be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
normal course of business.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b)

Basis of measurement and going concern assumption
(Continued)
In view of these circumstances, the Directors have given

consideration to the future liquidity and performance of the

Group and its available sources of finance in assessing whether

the Group will have sufficient financial resources to continue as

a going concern. In particular, the Directors have considered the

following:

M

The Group maintains good relationship with major banks
and financial institutions providing finance or facilities to
the Group and the Group had successfully renewed its
banking facilities based on past experience. The Group has
successfully renewed its banking facilities of New Taiwan
Dollar (“TWD”") 30,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$7,782,000) and US$13,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$101,206,000) after 31 December 2019
upon their expiry;

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the
Group has agreed with the lender to renew its other
loans of US$30,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$233,553,000) and extended the repayment date to
20 April 2021, subject to the completion of supplemental

agreement;

As of 31 December 2019, the Group has unutilised bank
loan facilities totalling HK$224,110,000 available to finance
its future operations and financial obligations.

In the opinion of the Directors, after taking into account of

financial performance, operation as well as capital expenditure

and the above financing arrangements of the Group, the Group is

expected to have sufficient liquidity to finance its operations for

the next twelve months subsequent to end of reporting period.
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3.

4,

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b)

()

Basis of measurement and going concern assumption
(Continued)

Therefore, the consolidated financial statements of the Group
have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue in business as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to adjust the value
of assets to their estimated net realisable values, to reclassify
non-current assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities
respectively, and to provide for any further liabilities which may
arise. The effects of these potential adjustments have not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the Company is United States dollars
("USS"), while the consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars ("HK$"). As the Company is listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, the Directors consider that
it will be more appropriate to adopt HKS as the Group's and the
Company's presentation currency.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Basis of consolidation and business combinations

(i) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

has power over the investee;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of consolidation and business combinations
(Continued)

(a)

(i)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When
necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with
the Group's amounting policies.

All'intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

S

4.

“E-NFE+AE+-HLEEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of consolidation and business combinations
(Continued)

(a)

(i)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's interests
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in

equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and
(i) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are
accounted for in the same manner as would be required if
the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.

The carrying amount of non-controlling interests that
represent present ownership interests in the subsidiary is
the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus such
non-controlling interest’s share of subsequent changes in
equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to such
non-controlling interests even if this results in those non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Basis of consolidation and business combinations
(Continued)

(ii)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by
the Group to former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit
orloss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets and liabilities
assumed are recognised at their fair values, except that:

deferred tax assets or liabilities, and liabilities or
assets related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS
12 “Income Taxes" and HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits”

respectively;

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-
based payment arrangements of the Group entered
into to replace share-based payment arrangements of
the acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS
2 “Share-based payment” at the acquisition date; and

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current
assets held for sale and discontinued operations” are
measured in accordance with that standard.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of consolidation and business combinations
(Continued)

(a)

(ii)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if
any) over the net of the acquisition-date fair value amounts
of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed. If, after reassessment, the Group's interest in the
fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds
the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if
any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss
as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may
be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests
are measured at their fair value or, when applicable, on the
basis specified in another standard.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a)

Basis of consolidation and business combinations
(Continued)

(ii)

Business combinations (Continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-
date fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes in the
fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify
as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
made against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments
are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the “measurement period” (which cannot
exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value
of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as
measurement period adjustments depends on how
the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement
is accounted for within equity. All other subsequent
adjustments to contingent consideration that is classified as
an asset or a liability is recognised in profit or loss.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement
period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that,
if known, would have affected the amounts recognised at
that date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor a joint arrangement.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or
joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associate are incorporated
in these consolidated financial statements using the equity
method of accounting. The financial statements of associate
used for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the associate. When the
Group's share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group's
interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share of further
losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately
in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

Associates (Continued)

Where there is objective evidence that the investment in an
associate has been impaired, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the
date when the investment ceases to be an associate, or when
the investment (or a portion thereof) is classified as held for sale.
When the Group retains an interest in the former associate and
the retained interest is a financial asset, the Group measures
the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value
is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in accordance
with HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments". The difference between the
carrying amount of the associate at the date the equity method
was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest and
any proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the associate
is included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal
of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that associate on the same basis as would be required if that
associate had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate would be reclassified
to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities,
the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or
loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is

discontinued.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture. There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such

changes in ownership interests.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

()

Associates (Continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate
but the Group continues to use the equity method, the Group
reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that
had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group (such
as a sale or contribution of assets), profits and losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in

the associate that are not related to the Group.

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
acquisition date fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity
interest in the acquiree over the fair value of identifiable assets
and liabilities acquired.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities exceed the
aggregate of the fair value of consideration paid, the amount of
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition
date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree, the excess is recognised in profit or loss on the

acquisition date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()

Goodwill (Continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from an
acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
acquisition. A cash-generating unit (“CGU") is the smallest
identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are
largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets. A CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there
is indication that the unit may be impaired, by comparing its

carrying amount with its recoverable amount.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the CGU
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that financial year. When the recoverable
amount of the CGU is less than the carrying amount of the unit,
the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then to the other
assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount to
each asset in the unit. However, the loss allocated to each asset
will not reduce the individual asset’s carrying amount to below
its fair value less cost of disposal (if measurable) or its value in use
(if determinable), whichever is the higher. Any impairment loss
for goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable amount of
goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of profit
or loss on disposal.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply
to the contract, control of the goods or service may be transferred
over time or at a point in time. Control of the goods or service is

transferred over time if the Group's performance:

provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the Group performs; or

does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment

for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract by reference to
the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the goods or service.

112 sandmartin International Holdings Limited / 2019 Annual Report

4.

EXEFHBE(E)

(d)

Uy 355 7
KEEPE L 57 7 fm RS K
BHEERTEPHER  Z2RER
RAKEBERARLZRZEDmARSEE
REGHRE TEERRE=T7 IR
MRS EHE -

B AHNGERBERR A QRERM
JE P an SR A% BV FR IR AT 70 — B B
IR —EHEMEE - HARBERLD
BEFFA TR - EmIRE 2 Z
B —RFREEE

e

R % P IR B RIS B FE 2 P A A

\‘/
N

E

REBEARAIENIRTT R P AE
B 2BE 3k

WEABEH AEE T =6 L MAR
ZEE - MAREABRBITHER
WENES B FTEXE IR D HIFUR

i & an S AR 75 < ¥ 5 #E R 2 — BB R 8
% AllE IR EBESNHEESE S
RETROBEZEEHER - BRI W
SN EFESEMIRBIEN 2R —
R R RERR



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B 5 R R B o (47

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amounts
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. Where the contract
contains a financing component which provides a significant
financing benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For contracts where
the period between the payment and the transfer of the promised
goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price is not
adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component,
using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts
with Customers” ("HKFRS 15").

(i) Trading of satellite TV equipment products and other electronic
goods
Customers obtain control of the satellite TV equipment
products and other electronic goods when the goods are
delivered to and have been accepted. Revenue is thus
recognised upon when the customers accepted the satellite
TV equipment products and other electronic goods. There
is generally only one performance obligation. Invoices are
usually payable within 60 to 120 days.

(i) Satellite TV broadcasting
Revenue for satellite TV broadcasting generally includes
only one performance obligation. The Group has concluded
that revenue from satellite TV broadcasting should be

recognised over time as those services are provided.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)~ Otherincome
Rental income under operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the principal
outstanding at the applicable interest rate.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the

customer.

If the considerations (including advances received from
customers) exceeds the revenue recognised to date under the
output method then the Group recognises a contract liability for
the difference.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including land and buildings held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment less their expected residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective

basis.
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4.

(e)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an
investment property because its use has changed as evidenced
by end of owner-occupation, any difference between the carrying
amount and the fair value of that item at the date of transfer is
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
property revaluation reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement
of the asset, the relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred
directly to retained profits.

Freehold land is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposals or retirement of an item of property, plant and
equipment is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised

in profit or loss.

The accounting policy of right-of-use assets is set out in Note 4(g).
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f)

(9)

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair values. Gains
or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which
they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or no
future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any gain
or loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in
which the item is derecognised.

Leasing
Leasing (accounting policies applied from 1 January 2019)

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or finance
leases) are required to be capitalised in the statement of financial
position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, but accounting
policy choices exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i)
leases which are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for which
the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has elected not
to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-value
assets and leases for which at the commencement date have a
lease term less than 12 months. The lease payments associated
with those leases have been expensed on straight-line basis over
the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9)

Leasing (Continued)

Leasing (accounting policies applied from 1 January 2019) (Continued)

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost and would
comprise: (i) the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability (see below for the accounting policy to account
for lease liability); (i) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received; (iii) any
initial direct costs incurred by the lessee and (iv) an estimate of
costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing
the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories. Except for right-of-use asset that meets the definition
of an investment property, the Group measures the right-of-use
assets applying a cost model. Under the cost model, the Group
measures the right-of-use assets at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liability. For right-of-use asset that meets
the definition of an investment property, they are carried at fair

value.

The Group accounts for leasehold land and buildings that are held
for rental or capital appreciation purpose under HKAS 40 and are
carried at fair value. The Group accounts for leasehold land and
buildings which is held for own use under HKAS 16 and are carried
at cost.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B 7% 3R BT oE (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_Z-NAF+-A=Z+—BILFE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9)

Leasing (Continued)

Leasing (accounting policies applied from 1 January 2019) (Continued)

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at the date of commencement of the
lease. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the Group's

incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the underlying asset
during the lease term that are not paid at the commencement
date of the lease are considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed
payments less any lease incentives receivable; (ii) variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured
using the index or rate as at commencement date; (i) amounts
expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value
guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee
is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and (v) payments of
penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the
lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group measures
the lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect
interest on the lease liability; (i) reducing the carrying amount to
reflect the lease payments made; and (i) remeasuring the carrying
amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications, e.g., a
change in future lease payments arising from change in an index
or rate, a change in the lease term, a change in the in substance
fixed lease payments or a change in assessment to purchase the

underlying asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B 5 R R B o (47

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BEZT-NFT-A=tHLFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9)

Leasing (Continued)

Leasing (accounting policies applied from 1 January 2019) (Continued)

Accounting as a lessor

The Group has leased out its investment property to a number
of tenants. Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognised as an expense on the straight-line basis over

the lease term.

When the Group acts as an intermediate lessor in a sublease
arrangement, the group is required to classify the sublease as a
finance lease or an operating lease by reference to the right-of-use
asset arising from the head lease, instead of by reference to the

underlying asset.
Leasing (accounting policies applied until 31 December 2018)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership

to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

(i) The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B 7% 3R BT oE (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
F-NFT-AZ+-BLFE

BHE—

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9)

Leasing (Continued)

Leasing (accounting policies applied until 31 December 2018)
(Continued)

(i)

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets
of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the
lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum
lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is
included in the consolidated statement of financial position

as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses
and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability. Finance expenses are recognised immediately
in profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to
qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing
costs (see the accounting policy below). Contingent rentals
are recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are
incurred. Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B 5 R R B o (47

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(g) Leasing (Continued)

Leasing (accounting policies applied until 31 December 2018)
(Continued)

(iif)

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element as
a finance or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have
been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both
elements are operating leases in which case the entire
lease is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the
minimum lease payments (including any lump-sum
upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values
of the leasehold interests in the land element and building
element of the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease
payments” in the consolidated statement of financial
position and is amortised over the lease term on a straight-
line basis except for those that are classified and accounted
for as investment properties under the fair value model.
When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably
between the land and building elements, the entire lease is
generally classified as a finance lease and accounted for as
property, plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

S

4.

“E-NFE+AE+-HLEEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a

foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise except for exchange
differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a
foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor
likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in
the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other
comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or
loss on disposal of the foreign operation.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing
at the end of the reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which
case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under
the heading of currency translation reserve (attributed to non-

controlling interests as appropriate).
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

4.

(h)

(i)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss. In addition, in relation
to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result in the
Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share
of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-

controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed through acquisition of a foreign operation
on or after 1 July 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that
foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for

capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they are incurred.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()

Retirement benefit costs

Defined contribution plans

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans, Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) and
the state-managed retirement benefit schemes are recognised as
expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

Defined benefit plan

The Group operates defined benefit pension plans which requires
contributions to be made to a separately administered fund for
employees of the Group’s certain entities which are operating in
India. The benefits are unfunded. The cost of providing benefits
under the defined benefit plan is determined using the projected
unit credit actuarial valuation method.

Re-measurements arising from defined benefit pension plans,
comprising actuarial gains and losses, are recognised immediately
in the consolidated statement of financial position with a
corresponding debit or credit to re-measurement gains and losses
on defined benefit plans through other comprehensive income
in the period in which they occur. Re-measurements are not
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()

Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

The Group recognises the following changes in the net defined
benefit obligation under “cost of sales” and “administrative
expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss by

function:

—  service costs comprising current service costs, past-service
costs, gains and losses on curtailments and non-routine
settlements; and

— netinterest expense or income.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss at the earlier of:

—  the date of the plan amendment or curtailment; and

— the date that the Group recognises restructuring-related

costs; or

—  the date of termination benefits.

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net
defined benefit liability or asset.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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4.

“E-NFE+AE+-HLEEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k)

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before taxation as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interests in an associate, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the

reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover

or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred
tax assets for investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted,
deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for such investment
properties are measured in accordance with the above general
principles set out in HKAS 12 (i.e. based on the expected manner
as to how the properties will be recovered).

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income in which case the taxes are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or when they relate to items recognised
directly in equity in which case the taxes are also recognised
directly in equity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets

U]

(i)

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of the reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis (see the accounting policy in respect of impairment
losses on tangible and intangible assets below).

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured at the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
are recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset
is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(I) Intangible assets (Continued)
(i) Research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development (or from the development phase of an internal
project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have
been demonstrated:

the technical feasibility of completing the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

the intention to complete the intangible asset and

use or sell it;
the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

how the intangible asset will generate probable

future economic benefits;

the availability of adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the development and to
use or sell the intangible asset; and

the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its

development.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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“E-NFE+AE+-HLEEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

U]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Research and development expenditure (Continued)

The amount initially recognised for an internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible asset is measured at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any),

on the same basis as intangible assets acquired separately.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and
recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised
at the fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination are reported at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets
that are acquired separately.

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B 5 R R B o (47

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Inventories

(m)

(n)

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost of inventories is determined on a first-in, first-out method.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for

inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs

necessary to make the sale.

Financial Instruments

(i)

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a
significant financing component) is initially measured at
fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit
or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its
acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant
financing component is initially measured at the transaction

price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the period generally

established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the asset and the
cash flow characteristics of the asset.

Amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows where those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at amortised
cost. Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest rate method. Interest
income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on derecognition is
recognised in profit or loss.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(n)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) on trade receivables and financial assets
measured at amortised cost. The ECLs are measured on
either of the following bases: (1) 12 months ECLs: these are
the ECLs that result from possible default events within
the 12 months after the reporting date; and (2) lifetime
ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default
events over the expected life of a financial instrument.
The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then discounted
at an approximation to the assets’ original effective interest
rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for
trade receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified approach and
has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic

environment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B 5 R R B o (47

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

4.

(n)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)
For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based on
the 12-months ECLs. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable
and supportable information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative
and qualitative information analysis, based on the Group's
historical experience and informed credit assessment and

including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past
due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-
impaired when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or
(2) the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset.
For non-credit-impaired financial assets interest income is
calculated based on the gross carrying amount.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(n)

(iii)

(iv)

al liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on

Financi

the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred. Financial
liabilities at amortised costs are initially measured at fair
value, net of directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade, bills
and other payables and borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method. The related interest expense is recognised in profit

or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the

amortisation process.

The accounting policy of lease liabilities is set out in Note 4(g).

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income or interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or
payments through the expected life of the financial asset or
liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B 5 R R B o (47

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(n)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to
make payment when due in accordance with the original or
modified terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee
contract issued by the Group and not designated as at fair
value through profit or loss is recognised initially at its fair
value less transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the issue of the financial guarantee contract. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial
guarantee contact at the higher of: (i) the amount of the
loss allowance, being the ECLs provision measured in
accordance with principles of the accounting policy set
out in 4(n)(ii); and (i) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in
accordance with the principles of HKFRS 15.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to
the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for
derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or

expires.
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

The fair value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the grant date is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to ultimately vest. The
impact of the revision of the estimates during the vesting period,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding

adjustment to the share option reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in the share option reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in the share option
reserve will continue to be held in the share option reserve.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(p)

Impairment on tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect of
goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation

basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in

profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(q) Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, which it is probable will result in
an outflow of economic benefits that can be reliably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of

outflow of economic benefits is remote.
(r) Related parties
(@)  Aperson ora close member of that person’s family is related

to the Group if that person:

(M has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i)  is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company’s parent.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(r) Related parties (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions apply:

0]

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member);

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity

related to the Group;

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (a);

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);

or

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B 7% 3R BT oE (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BEZT - NFT-AZ+HLFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(r) Related parties (Continued)
Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY

SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

Expect for those disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements,
the following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the directors have made in the process
of applying the Group's accounting policies and that has the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax
assets arising from investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the directors of the Company have reviewed the
Group's investment property portfolios and concluded that the Group’s
investment properties situated in the PRC with carrying amount of
HK$147,622,000 as at 31 December 2019 (2018: HK$149,738,000) are held
under a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over
time, rather than through sale; therefore, the directors of the Company
have determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts of
such investment properties are recovered through sale is rebutted.
As a result, the Group has not recognised any deferred taxes on land
appreciation tax on changes in fair value of these investment properties
but has only recognised deferred taxes on enterprise income tax.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets within the next financial year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_Z-NAF+-A=Z+—BILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment loss on receivables, loan to and amount due from an associate

The measurement of impairment losses under HKFRS 9 across all
categories of financial assets requires judgement, in particular, the
estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when
determining impairment losses and the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a number of factors,
changes in which can result in different levels of allowances.

At each end of the reporting period, the Group assesses whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk for exposures since initial
recognition by comparing the risk of default occurring over the expected
life between the reporting date and the date of initial recognition. The
Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant
and available without undue cost or effort for this purpose. This includes
quantitative and qualitative information and also, forward-looking

analysis.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimated impairment of goodwill, intangible assets, and property, plant and
equipment

Determining whether goodwill, intangible assets and property, plant
and equipment are impaired requires an estimation of the value in use
of the CGUs of (1) the business of satellite TV equipment and antenna
conducted by Pro Brand Technology, Inc. (‘PBT") and (2) the business of
satellite TV broadcasting conducted by My HD Media FZ LLC (“MyHD"),
to which goodwill, intangible assets, and property, plant and equipment
have been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group
to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGUs and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. The
discount rate represents rate that reflects current market assessments
of the value of money and the risks specific to the assets for which
future cash flows estimates have not been adjusted. Where the future
cash flows are less than expected, a material impairment loss may
arise. As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of goodwill was
HK$9,272,000 (2018: HK$10,208,000), net of accumulated impairment
loss of HK$83,744,000 (2018: HK$209,387,000), and the carrying amount
of related intangible asset and property, plant and equipment for these
CGUs were HKS$8,704,000 (2018: HK$13,165,000) and HK$56,171,000
(2018: HK$69,488,000), respectively. Details of the recoverable amount
calculation are disclosed in note 18.

Write-down of inventories

Provision for slow-moving inventories is made based on estimated net
realisable value of inventories. The assessment of the provision amount
required involves management judgment and estimates in identifying
obsolete and slow-moving inventories and estimate relevant market
values for those inventories identified. Where the actual outcome
or expectation in future is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the carrying value of inventories and provision
charge/written back in the period in which the estimate has been
changed. As at 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of inventories
was HKS$221,049,000 (2018: HK$143,308,000), and accumulated
allowance of inventories of HK$22,317,000 (2018: HK$23,921,000) was
recognised as at 31 December 2019.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Income taxes

Determining income tax provisions involves significant judgement in
determining the amount of the provision and the timing of payment.
There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
expense is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises taxes based on estimates of the likely outcome with reference
to current tax laws and practices. Where the final tax outcome of these
transactions is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such difference will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions
in the year in which such determination is made. Deferred tax assets
relating to certain deductible temporary differences and tax losses will
be recognised when management considers it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. Where the expectation is
different from the originally estimate, such differences will impact the
recognition of deferred tax assets and income tax expense in the period
in which such estimate is changed.

Fair value measurement on investment properties
Investment properties included in the Group’s financial statements
require measurement at, and disclosure of, fair value.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Fair value measurement on investment properties (Continued)
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance
of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
items;

Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs other than Level 1
inputs; and

Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from market data.

For more detailed information in relation to the fair value measurement

of investment properties, please refer to note 17.

6. REVENUE
Revenue represents the amounts received and receivable for goods
sold, less returns and discounts, and services provided by the Group to
outside customers during the year. An analysis of the Group's revenue is

as follows:
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Continuing operations BEREER
Sales of goods tHE & m 1,070,527 1,277,948
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The segment information reported externally was analysed on the
basis of their goods and services delivered or provided by the Group's
operating divisions which is consistent with the internal information that
are regularly reviewed by the executive Directors, the chief operating
decision maker, for the purposes of resources allocation and assessment
of performance. This is also the basis of organisation in the Group,
whereby the management has chosen to organise the Group around

different products and services.

Specifically, the Group's operating segments under HKFRS 8 are as

follows:

Continuing operations

(i) Media entertainment platform related products
Trading and manufacturing of media entertainment platform
related products, which are mainly used for satellite products
equipment.

(i) Other multimedia products
Trading and manufacturing of components of audio and video
electronic products such as cable lines.

(i) Satellite TV equipment and antenna products
Trading and manufacturing of satellite TV equipment and antenna

products.

Discontinued operation

(iv)  Satellite TV broadcasting
Provision of Direct-to-Home services for satellite TV broadcasting
in the areas of Middle East, Mediterranean and Africa.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7.

The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group’s

reportable segments:

Revenue from contracts with customer within the scope of HKFRS 15:

2EER (&)

AT S R AR SR 5 A 2 O R R RF ¢

ERMBMELENESHRBEBANEFLEL

Uz -
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHETT
(Re-presented)
(&%)
Continuing operations BEREER

Media entertainment platform related products HESIRBE T E B E M 182,237 341,714
Other multimedia products HEMZEEER 235,505 293,067
Satellite TV equipment and antenna products BHEEREHELKEERD 652,785 643,167
1,070,527 1,277,948

Discontinued operation EARIEREER
Satellite TV broadcasting BHEESHER 18,990 22,410
1,089,517 1,300,358
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE_ZE—NE+-_RA=+—HItEE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. PEERGR)
SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS DHEWEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results by HA 2MMEE D EOITHAEB S R ELE
reportable and operating segments: PN
Year ended 31 December 2019 BE-_Z-hE+-A=+—HLEE
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
B&L
FESEER F-E33
Media
entertainment Satellite TV
platform Other equipment
related multimedia and antenna Satellite TV
products products products Sub-total broadcasting Total
HEER
Raa Ht RER B2
TERBER SREER KEER Nt EREE b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THR TER TER THr TER THR
Revenue e
External sales HAMHE 182,237 235,505 652,785 1,070,527 18,990 1,089,517
Results ES
Segment resuls HEEE 13,052 31,749 102,731 147,532 (54391) 93,141
Provision for expected creditlosson ~—— EABIH B A AN EME R
loan receivables due from former BHEEERAE
subsidiaries (note 22(ii) (Fi 5 220i) (429,410) - (429,410)
Reversal of expected creditloss on EUERNBHEERR
loan receivables (note 22(i) EEIESN)) 8,794 - 8,794
Provision forexpected creditlosson -~ 4 F— BB E A RIHERH
loan o an associate BHEEEBRE ] - ]
Reversal of expected creditlossonthe  [EWI— B & 2 A FUEH
amount due from an associate BHEEERRE 5836 - 5836
(Provision for)/reversal of expected ENESETNESEE
credit loss on trade receivables EBE&E) /4L (5832) 1,140 (4,692)
Other income, gains and losses EA - Wz REE 40,636 - 40,636
Research and development costs e A (35,156) - (35,156)
Administrative and other expenses TRREMEY (132,267) (16,909) (149,176)
Share of profit of an associate okl N bl 10,320 - 10,320
Finance costs BERK (36,894) - (36,894)
Gain on disposal of discontinued HEERHEE RN NS
operation - 149,948 149,948
Decrease in fair value of investment RENELTERY
properties (3142) - (3.142)
Loss before income tax expense MERTHAER (429,590) 79,788 (349,802)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7.
SEGMENT REVENUE AND RESULTS (Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2018

2REN ()
e ey E 2 {C )
BE-2—\F+-A=+—AILEE

Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
REREXH BALEEET
Media Satellite TV
entertainment Other equipment
platform related multimedia and antenna Satellite TV
products products products Sub-total broadcasting Total
HEE
RERE it RER fE
TEEMER SHEEm AEEm NEt ERER @&
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TER TEL TEL TER TEL TER
(Re-presented)  (Re-presented)  (Re-presented)  (Re-presented)  (Re-presented)  (Re-presented)
(Z31) (E51) (&31) (E31) (E71) (Z51)
Revenue W
External sales HOMAE 341,714 293,067 643,167 1277,948 2410 1,300,358
Results ES
Segment results PEEE 2476 3233 48132 102,931 (229551) (126620)
Reversal of expected creditlosson 4 F—RIBE R AN EHH
loan to an associate BHEEFEREE 69 - 69
Expected credit losson theamount B — B & 1A B B H)
due from an associate EHEEER (8,100) - (8,100)
Reversal of expected creditlosson BB HREHNEHEE
trade receivables BiERD 7810 1,205 9015
Other income, gain and losses HpA - lam R EE 18589 30466 49055
Decrease in fair value of RENENDTLERD
investment properties (1,526) - (1,526)
Research and development costs 3B R (315530) - (31,530)
Administrative and other expenses  {TBU R E A1 B (134,599) (36,559) (171,158)
Share of profit of an associate Y AN liobirkd 14107 - 14107
Finance costs BEKK (32436) - (32436)
Loss before income tax expense FA 13 B 52t A S 4R (64685) (234439) (299,124)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as
the accounting policies of the Group described in Note 4. Segment
results represent the profit earned/loss suffered by each segment
without allocation of of provision for/reversal of expected credit losses,
administrative and other expenses, research and development costs,
other income, gains and losses, changes in fair value of investment
properties, share of profit of an associate, finance costs and gain on
disposal of discontinued operation. . This is the measure reported to the
chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resources allocation
and performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BEZT - NFT-AZ+HLFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. 2EEHE)
SEGMENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES PTHEENRERE
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by B 2MEEEDEDITHAR BENEE
reportable and operating segments: PN
At 31 December 2019 R-EBE—hhE+=-B=+—H
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
B&LE
Media
entertainment Satellite TV
platform Other equipment
related multimedia and antenna Satellite TV
products products products Sub-total  broadcasting Total
HEER
RERE it RER fE
TERBER SREER AEER ks ERER @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
7 7 A7 7 TR 7
Assets BE
Segment assets PREE 68,493 57,206 442,434 568,133 - 568,133
Bank balances and cash ROEFRES 66,340
Pledged bank deposits BEARTEN 3973
Unallocated corporate assets AORAAEE 393,730
Consolidated assets BABE 1,032,676
Liabilities af
Segment liabiltes AEAE 63,350 87,771 214943 366,064 - 366,064
Bank and other borowings ROREMES 452,613
Lease liabilities BE ﬁ‘ﬁ& 12,259
Unallocated corporate liabilities AARAFEE 139,445
Consolidated liabilties e 970,381
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B 75 5 % I Rt (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. 2EEHE)
SEGMENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued) PTHEEREE (E)
At 31 December 2018 R-ZE—N\FE+-_A=+—H
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
BEIE
SERERT BE5H
Media Satellite TV
entertainment Other equipment
platform related multimedia and antenna Satellite TV
products products products Sub-total broadcasting Total
HEE
RRERE it RER HE
TERBER SHRBED AEEm INE ERER @t
HK$000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$'000
FEL TERL TAETL TEL TET FEL
(Re-presented)  (Re-presented)  (Re-presented)  (Re-presented)  (Re-presented)  (Re-presented)
(&71) (E71) (&31) (B71) (E31) (&%)
Assets 43
Segment assets NEEE 97539 66,876 417,995 582410 25882 608,292
Bank balances and cash RITEFRES 72695
Pledged bank deposits BEARTER 1643
Unallocated corporate assets RAPRAAEE 413724
Consolidated assets HREE 1,096,354
Liabilities af
Segment liabilities PEEE 89,695 69477 246406 405,578 105,760 511,338
Bank and other borrowings BIRAMES 459071
Obligations under finance leases REMEAE 7378
Unallocated corporate liabilities AoERRBE 84453
Consolidated liabiltes GRAE 1,062,240
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B 7% 3R BT oE (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE_ZE—NE+-_RA=+—HItEE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
SEGMENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued)
For the purpose of monitoring segment performances and allocating
resources between segments:

all assets are allocated to operating segments other than certain
property, plant and equipment, investment properties, loan to an
associate, amount due from an associate, interest in an associate,
deferred tax assets, loan receivables, certain other receivables,
bank balances and cash and pledged bank deposits; and

all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than certain
other payables, tax liabilities, deferred tax liabilities, bank and other
borrowings, provision for financial guarantee, lease liabilities and

obligations under finance leases.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B 5 R R B o (47

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. 2EEHE)
OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION HibpEER
Year ended 31 December 2019 BE-Z-hE+-A=+—HLEE
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
BALE
FELEER Besk
Media
entertainment Satellite TV
platform Other equipment
related multimedia and antenna Satellite TV
products products products Unallocated Sub-total  broadcasting Total
HEER
BERY Bt RER i
TERBER SREER AEER Ll it ERER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000

TR TiEn TR TR TR TR TiEn

Amountsincludedinthe measure 32 FERE R

of segment profit or loss or PEEEK
seqment assets; SANEE:
Addition to non-current asses REFRDEE 88 - 19,302 2,108 21,498 - 21,498
Depreciation Vil 959 445 15,159 - 16,563 33 16,886
Write-down of inventories FEHR 958 - - - 958 - 958
Reversal of impairment loss on BEGEREEE

inventories (2,584) - - - (2,584) - (2,584)

Amounts not included in the measure 3t E A BB BT &

of segment profitor loss: STANEE:
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH 623 289 9,048 553 10,513 - 10513
Release of prepaid lease payments B BB 1 E778 64 - - - 64 - 64
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B 7% 3R BT oE (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_Z-NAF+-A=Z+—BILFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
OTHER SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2018

7. TEESE)
Hitvp EEH ()

BE-2—\F+-A=+—ALEE

Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
BALE
RERELHK Bexk
Media Satellite TV
entertainment Other equipment
platform related multimedia andantenna Satellite TV
products products products Unallocated Sub-total broadcasting Total
BEE
HERE B R fE
TERBER SERER RRED AR It ERER @it
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TAT TR TAT TARL TAT TAT TAT
(Re-presented)  (Re-presented)  (Re-presented)  (Re-presented)  (Re-presented)  (Re-presented)  (Re-presented)
(E31) (&51) (&31) (&51) (E31) (&51) (&51)
Amountsincludedinthe measure 5 EAFBE
of segment profit or loss or PEEER
seqment assets; AANSE
Addition to non-current assets REFRYEE 2583 97 10,695 16 13391 257 13,648
Depreciation ik 169 525 14446 - 16,661 625 17,286
Write-down of inventories FEHA 351 - - - 31 - 351
Reversal of impaiment loss on BREERESE
inventories (21202 - - - (21202) - (21,202)
Amounts not included in the measure 3 B M B R E I &
of segment profit or loss: SARSE:
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH 1864 580 10,49 595 13,288 - 13,288
Release of prepaid lease payments B BB €58 163 - - - 163 - 163
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B 5 i R B

it (&

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

7.

. S. A —d
SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. PEERGR)
DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH PIREBEEEHWE
CUSTOMERS
Continuing operations Discontinued operation
RESERR BRLBEER
Satellite TV
Media entertainment Other equipment and antenna
platform related products multimedia products products Sub-total Satellite TV broadcasting Total
RERY HEER
TERBER H3REER AERRGER Nt FEERER E
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
ZE-AE |CF)\E |ZB-AE |CRE |28 |CF0F |2B-nF |2F-0E |2B-nF |CE0\F |2B-AF 2R
HK$'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS000
Thr | Thr | TEx | TEx | TEm | TEx | TEn | TEn | FEx | TEn | TR | FEx
Primary geographical markets IEHATS
Asia [Eb | 65,115 193413 47,020 89,768 163,046 63893 275,181 347,074 - 275181 347,074
Europe il 86,939 129368 3,987 2731 17,584 48303 108,510 200402 - 108,510 200402
North America ItE - % 178,599 173429 444,014 506,448 622,613 679903 - 622,613 679903
Middle East 8 26,483 11193 - il 9,231 14606 35714 25820 18,990 2410 54,04 48230
Afica 3 2947 6580 m 79 - - 320 6659 - 320 6659
South America R - - 4,551 5229 18910 9879 23461 15108 - 23461 15,108
Other regions EfiE 753 1134 1,075 1810 - 38 1,828 298 - 1,828 298
Total @ 182,37 34174 235,505 293067 652,785 643167 | 1,070,527 1277948 18,990 2410 | 1,089,517 1300358
Major products/services ITER/BE
Settop box STB) AES 50070 | 16538 50070 | 16538 50070 | 165383
Low noise block (INB) EREREAS 19217 31,280 19217 31,280 19217 31,280
Radio frequency (RF) related equipment 5T 1R % & - 19352 1935 1935
Other mediaentertainment products £ EREER 112,950 125699 - - - - 112,950 125699 - - 112,950 125699
Connector EER = - 7,166 11400 — - 7,166 11400 - - 7,166 11400
Cable and assembly EERAR - - 93,698 833%5 - - 93,698 833% - - 93,698 833%
Other muliimedia products AHEEEER - - | 134641 38272 - S| 13464 38212 - S| 13464 38072
Satellte TV antenna equipment products HEERKEREER - - - - | 652785 643167 | 652785 643,167 - - | 652785 643167
TV broadeasting ERER - - - - - - - - 18,990 2410 18,990 2410
182,37 3174 235,505 293067 652,785 643167 | 1,070,527 1277948 18,990 2410 | 1,089,517 1300358
Timing of revenue recognition WERIEE
Atapointintime RERY 182,237 341,714 235,505 293067 652,785 643167 | 1,070,527 1277948 - - | 1,070,527 1277948
Transferred overtime KEHER - - - - - - - - 18990 2410 18990 2410
182,237 34174 235,505 293067 652,785 643167 | 1,070,527 1277948 18,990 2410 | 1,089,517 1300358
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B 7% 3R BT oE (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_Z-NAF+-A=Z+—BILFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION
The Group's operations are mainly located in the PRC (country of
domicile), Taiwan, Europe, North America, Middle East, Africa and South
America.

The Group's revenue from external customers, based on location of
customers, and information about its non-current assets by geographical
location of the assets are detailed below:

7. TEESE)

i 19 K}
AEBMEFDESMNRTE(EEMER)

= ek

=/5

CBOM ~dE3E - R IEMREE -

REBRBINBE P (RIBT PPN ik s
RABREEMEEE DB EIEREEER
BRI

Revenue from

external customers

Non-current assets (Note)

REHIBEFHKE FREEE (&)
2019 2018 2019 2018
ZE-NAEFE | ZE-NF |ZB-hEF | ZZT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET FET FAET
Asia CEp
— Taiwan — 22 30,114 51,310 523 11
— Nepal —ERE 11,365 178,027 76,600 67,300
— PRC (country of domicile) — [ (EFEFTEE) 30,430 44,522 229,042 249,378
— India —HE 51,127 35,573 - -
— Singapore — ¥ 4,122 13,752 - -
— Others —H 148,023 23,890 2,475 930
Europe &M
— Germany — 1= 61,197 73,052 115 68
— Italy — B KA 2,404 10,752 - -
— Spain — L 18,805 20,156 21 31
— Portugal —BHT 4,827 28,670 - -
— France — % 2,452 2,247 - -
— Poland — K 2,960 6,317 - -
— Denmark — 91 909 - -
— Moldavia —ER%ZE - 16,380 - -
— Malta — SR 3,540 13,147 - -
— Russia — K& - 8,091 - -
— Others —Hib 12,234 20,681 - -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B 5 i R B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

7.

At (4

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION (Continued)

7. TEESE)
AR ()

Revenue from

external customers

Non-current assets (Note)

REHNBEFE K FREBEE (M)
2019 2018 2019 2018
ZE-NAEFE | ZE2E-NF |ZE-hEF | ZF-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FAET FHET FAET
North America s
— United States of America (‘USA")  — EFEBARE([EE)) 559,547 633,267 17,976 23,374
— Canada —mEX 32,008 26,618 - -
— Mexico — &P & 31,058 19,832 - -
— Others —H b - 186 - -
Middle East R
— United Arab Emirates ("UAE") — MR REE R
([P B 28 1) 27,800 40,737 - 12
— Others —H b 26,904 7,493 - -
Africa FEM
— Algeria — P R A 32 95 519 - -
— Morocco — R 298 3424 - -
— Others — H b 2,827 2,716 - -
South America EES
— Brazil — B 2,860 2,396 - -
— Chile — B R 2,019 1416 - -
— Argentina —BR 3£ 6,876 1,792 - -
— Columbia —Efmtae 4,637 5,404 - -
— Ecuador —EL%®A 2,315 583 - -
— Others —Efh 4,754 3,517 - -
Other regions E i@ 1,828 2,982 - -
1,089,517 1,300,358 326,752 341,604
Note:  Non-current assets exclude deferred tax assets and financial instruments. fisE : FERBEETEEREREEERSHMIA -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B 7% 3R BT oE (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE_ZE—NE+-_RA=+—HItEE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS

Revenue from customer contributing over 10% of the total sales of the

Group is as follows:

DREN(E)
TERFER

RAEENHEQRERA 0% E P e

s

2019 2018

—®-hE| —T)\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

TR T

Customer A EEA 323,275 165,301

Note:  Revenue from the above customer is from the satellite TV equipment and antenna

products segment.

M M EEFMKERAFEERRERERER S -

8. FINANCE COSTS =G 5 A
2019 2018
—E-AF —ZT-)N\F
HK$'000 HKS'000
FHBT FET

Continuing operations R
Interest on bank and other borrowings RITAEMEER B 36,673 32,366
Interest on lease liabilities HEREBNE 221 ~
Finance leases BAEME ~ .
36,894 32436
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B 75 5 % I Rt (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

9. FIEH X

2019 2018
—g-nE| —T-NF
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FHET
Continuing operations HEREER
The tax charge comprises: IR B 1E
Current tax: REAFRIR -
— PRC — 957 1,323
— Jurisdictions other than the PRC and Hong Kong  — A B K2 & 78 LA 9Ny RSA FE (2 7,255 776
8,212 2,099
(Over)/under-provision in prior years: BAFEEGRERE), BETR
—PRC — (5) -
— Jurisdictions other than the PRC and Hong Kong ~ — F1 [ &2 & i A SN A9 B R (& (321) 4
(326) 4
Deferred taxation: EIERIE
— Current year — KFEE (2,340) 1,603
5,546 3,706

wioER/EFTEEERERART 159



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B 7% 3R BT oE (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
F-NFT-AZ+-BLFE

BHE—

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The tax rates applicable to the Group’s principal operating subsidiaries

for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

PRC

The applicable PRC enterprise income tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% in accordance with the relevant income tax law
and regulations in the PRC.

Hong Kong
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profits.

No tax is payable on the profit arising in Hong Kong as the entity
operating in Hong Kong incurred tax losses for both years.

United States

The Group's subsidiaries in USA are subject to United States
Federal Income Tax at 21% (2018: 22%) and States Income Tax at
6% (2018: 5%).

Europe
The Group's European subsidiaries are subject to profit tax rates at
a range of 25% to 30% (2018: 21% to 35%)

Macau

As stated in the Decree Law No. 58/99/M, Chapter 2, Article 12,
dated 18 October 1999, the Macau subsidiary is exempted from
Macao Complementary Tax since its income is generated from
business outside Macau.

Others
Other subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions are subject to
applicable tax rates in the relevant jurisdictions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B 5 R R B o (47

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 9. FrEBixH (&)
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss before income AFEMIBY HAJ g Ea M EM2E TS
tax expense per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other REOFTSH T HAEEEENT ¢
comprehensive income as follows:
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
(Re-presented)
(E31))
Continuing operations BEKSEEL
Loss before income tax expense Frig®i s L AT &8 (429,590) (64,685)
Tax at the applicable rate of 25% (2018: 25%) WEAB K% (ZF— N\F 1 25%)
HERNEIE (107,397) (16,171)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose “~ 7] 1 7 B8 sz 79 s 75 &2 & 128,445 16,084
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose BERBTBRANREZE (19,567) (12,609)
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised R IER K L =N RS & 21 (39)
Tax effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMBEZERESENHNBE TN
operating in other jurisdictions TRMENTEZE (2,490) 6,469
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised AN BEEENR ST Z 6,860 9,968
(Oven)/under-provision in prior years BEFE (RREEE), BETRL (326) 4
Tax charge for the year REEHIFZ M 5,546 3,706
Details of deferred taxation for the year are set out in note 23. RNEERERIBRFIERNWFE23 -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B 7% 3R BT oE (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE—Z-NFT-_AZ+-HLFE

10. DISCONTINUED OPERATION 10. DRIEREXER
During the year, the business of satellite TV broadcasting operated by )‘Ef\\ﬁﬁﬁ CARBIEHEEMBATKENE
the subsidiaries of the Company had been disposed of. This business BREEER - At - WEBSBRERE
segment is presented as discontinued operation in accordance with ﬂﬁ%i&%@ﬁ/ﬁ\u% S5EREN AP KRR ESET o

HKFRS 5 accordingly.

The results of the discontinued operation for the period from 1 January ERIEGEEBFR_FT-NF—H—HBE=ZF
2019 to 25 June 2019 (the date of disposal) and the year ended 31 —NEANAZTARAB(EERE) IEHIRE R E
December 2018 were as follows: EE-)\FE+ZA=T—HLEFERNEERN
™
Period from Year ended
1 January 2019 31 December
to 25 June 2019 2018
R-ZE-N%F Bz
—HA—BZ% — N\
—E-NF +=A
NAZ+EH =+—H
IHEAE IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Revenue W 25 18,990 22410
Cost of sales $HE A (71,965) (154,142)
(52,975) (131,732)
Other income, gains and losses HaA - = REE - 30,466
Distribution and selling costs K M E A (1,416) (176)
Administrative and other expenses THEEMAS (16,909) (36,559)
Reversal of expected credit loss on trade receivables [0 fE Ut & 5 BR X B Hiz B K548 1,140 1,205
Impairment loss on goodwill (note 18) EE R EEE (M F18) - (97,643)
Gain on disposal of discontinued operation HEERIELEEB K E
(note 35(b)) (Bt 3£ 35(0)) 149,948 -
Profit/(loss) before taxation BR R A (B 18) 79,788 (234,439)
Taxation G - -
Profit/(loss) for the period/year from ERIEEEEBNE FR
discontinued operation A, (g5 18) 79,788 (234,439)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B 75 5 % I Rt (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

10.

DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued)

The cash flows of the discontinued operation for both periods were as

follows:

10. BAILEEEE (H)
BRILSEEBNRENEORLREMT :

Period from Year ended

1 January 2019 31 December

to 25 June 2019 2018

R-ZZE-h&E HZE

—A—B=% —E-NF

—E-NF +=A

AHE=+EA =+—H

LFEAE IEFE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT
Operating cash flows KERERE (26,902) (148,548)
Financing cash flows BmEERESRE 20,065 140,036
Total cash flows BMIBERE (6,837) (8512)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B 7% 3R BT oE (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

BHE—

ENFE+_ W +—BLFE

1. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

1. NEEER

2019 2018
—E-NEF —\F
HK$’' 000 HKS'000
FET FAT
(Re-presented)
(&%)
Continuing operations BEREER
Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging/ ZEHAFEEERE MR,/
(crediting): (Bt A) -
Directors’ emoluments (note 12) EEWE (FFsE12) 2,805 2,596
Other staff costs HEME TITHA 114,424 117,892
Contributions to defined contribution plans, REF-IEEHER(ESRRIN
excluding directors 4,577 5,598
Defined benefit obligation expenses AEBMNEERX 41 61
Total employee benefit expenses EERFMAXBE 121,847 126,147
Carrying amount of inventories sold EHFENERAE 891,951 1,151,123
Write-down of inventories (note i) 5 & #Mom (B 5% 958 351
Reversal of inventory provision (note i)* BRI ER®E M) (2,584) (21,202)
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses ERRAEAIMFENAR 890,325 1,130,272
Provision for expected credit loss on loan receivables J& 48 711 Fff /& 2 7 &9 fE I & X
due from former subsidiaries (note 22(iii)) T8 HA {5 & &5 48 B 48 (BT = 22i)) 429,410 -
Reversal of expected credit loss on loan receivables & 4 & X #) 78 B (= & &5 B # [l
(note 22(ii) (B 5 2240)) (8,794) -
Provision for/(reversal of) expected credit loss on BT —EBRERTNERSN
loan to an associate HHEEEER ﬁ/(ﬁé‘ ) 7 (69)
(Reversal of)/provision for expected credit losson & U — &1 B & A &) FUIE AY
amount due from an associate HHEEEIE (%fz‘ [Bl),/ ¥ # (5,836) 8,100
Provision for/(reversal of) expected credit loss on JEWE SEBREFMIBHEEBE
trade receivables B (BE) 5,832 (7,810)
(Reversal of)/provision for expected credit loss on EmemEENTEHEZERIE
other financial assets (Bm), BE (8,791) 221
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B 75 5 % I Rt (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued) . 2EEFHR (&)
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-NF
HKS$’' 000 HK$'000
THERT FET
(Re-presented)
(E%))
Continuing operations BEREER
Auditor’s remuneration 1% B BN B 2,064 2,160
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME BERKHETE 19,190 25425
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEFRE 3,365
Amortisation of intangible assets (note i) B EEE (MR 4,521 4,524
Release of prepaid lease payments BEENEERE 64 163
Government subsidy I 7 B (273) (955)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  HEW ¥ - E L& &K EIE
(note i) (Bt &Eii) 2,293 2,346
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment  #1% &= K& =& & R E E 1B
(note i) (B =E i) - 1723
Loss on written-off of intangible assets (note i) iEE T A EREE BRI 28 -
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries (note ii) o E KB R R R AR (I REi) 940 2,247
Interest income (note i) B WA (B 5Ei) (3,583) (5,500)
Interest income from an associate (note i) RE—EEE QA BB A
(B &Eii) (1,013) (1,013)
Rental expenses on operating leases KEHEMNHER - 5,293
Rental expenses on short-term leases RHEENHERE 2,695 -
Property rental income (note i) w R E WA B sEi) (16,148) (10,891)
Scrap and sample sales (note i) Jé% G R AN 88 4 (B &) (15) (1,027)
Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss (note i) HNESTE 3, (W a) /8518 7 8 (BT =xii) (2,362) 4,076
Written-off of interest receivable from an associate  fifl £5 & U — fE B & X &) A9 F1) B - 1,770
Discontinued operation EARIEREER
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME--BEREEBITE 323 625
Other staff costs Hi B ITHA 8,341 16,310
Impairment loss on goodwill mEREESE - 97,643
Reversal of expected credit loss on trade receivables 1 [B] fE I & 5 BR AW TR EA (S B /&5 18 (1,140) (1,205)
Rental expenses on short-term leases EHAENHERE 907
Note i Included in cost of sales Mizki: BERBEERERRA
Note ii: Included in other income, gain and losses MizEii .  BEAHMA - WEREERA
* The reversal of inventory provision mainly arose from inventories that were sold * BROGEREIEFGEENAEEEENEE

subsequently during the year

Included in the total employee benefit expenses is an aggregate amount
of HK$4,589,000 (2018: HKS5,611,000) in respect of contributions to
defined contribution plans, including directors.

BERAMML BB BIEEH R EHRTEIHR
K (BIEES) T H4589008T(ZE—N
£ 1 5611,000787T) °
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE_ZE—NE+-_RA=+—HItEE

12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST

PAID INDIVIDUALS

(@) Directors’ emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors were as

follows:

Year ended 31 December 2019

12. EEmERAEBESMESERIAL

(a) EEME
EfNSENSEETMEOT

BE-_F-NF+-A=+t—-HLFE

Mr. Hung Mr. Wu Mr. Li Mr. Lau Mr.Kuo  Mr.Chen
Tsung Chin ~ ChiaMing  ChakHung Yau Cheung JenHao ~ Wei Chun Total
HEE REH TEE EIRo AR R
%4 %4 %4E bk %4E %4E )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThR TERL TEn ThR TER TEn ThR
Fees ik 120 120 120 180 120 120 780
Other emoluments: Hif % -
— Salaries and other benefits —ESREMET 1,453 - - - - 560 2,013
— Retirement benefits schemes — BRI EER
contributions 12 - - - - - 12
Total emoluments B & B 1,585 120 120 180 120 680 2,805
Year ended 31 December 2018 e \E+-_A=+—HItEE
Mr. Hung Mr. Wy Mr. Li Mr. Lau Mr. Kuo Mr.Chen
TsungChin -~ ChiaMing ~ ChakHung  Yau Cheung JenHao  WeiChun Total
iy REH TER A FAZ REY
bk EHE bk bk EH FH @it
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
FETL TAT TETL FAT TAT THETL FAT
Fees we 72 88 88 140 88 88 564
Other emoluments: Hit# 4 :
— Salaries and other benefits —EeREMEN 1,445 - - - - 574 2019
— Retirernent benefits schemes — BRI B
contributions 13 - - - - - 13
Total emoluments g 1530 88 8 140 88 662 25%
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

12. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,
one (2018: one) was director of the Company whose emoluments
is included in the disclosure set out above. The emoluments of the

12. EEMERTEREMESMERIAL

(%)

(b) EERSMEMERIAL
AEBRASEMEEHIAL  —&(Z
T—)\F: —R)AAAAES  HHH
SERREX - HBNE(ZF—N\F

remaining four (2018: four) individuals are as follows: ME) ALHBemT -
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT FET
Salaries and other benefits e hkEMEF 6,347 6,832
Retirement benefit schemes contributions R RTR F AT & AR 153 156
Total emoluments & 42 %8 6,500 6,988

The emoluments were within the following bands: e N F AT EE -

2019 2018
—E2-0F —E-N\F
No. of No. of
employees employees
EBEAE EE AH
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 % 7T & 1,500,000 % 7T 1 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 7T 2 2,000,000 4 7T 3 -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7% JT £ 2,500,000 % 7T - 2

During each of the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors and
top paid employees as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office. No director waived
any emoluments for each of the years ended 31 December 2019
and 2018.

13. DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

HE_ZT-—hhGFr_ZE—NF+=A
=+ HIESFE  AEELEEEM
EEhBEaFEEININE  (FRHRE
Sk SR E) IN B AN &R B A B & SR A (S o
HE-_T—NGFrR-ZE—N\NF+=A
=T —HIERFE  SEESHETW
< -

13. BE

EEVTEERBE T NFT_A=1—
BIEFERNEE(ZE—N\F: £) -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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14. LOSS PER SHARE 14. BREE

Continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the consolidated loss
attributable to the owners of the Company of HK$315,461,000 (2018:
HK$187,435,000) and on the weighted average number of 3,278,825,335
(2018: 3,278,825,335) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The computation of diluted loss per share does not assume the exercise
of the Company’s outstanding share options as the exercise price of
those options is higher than the average market price for shares. Diluted
loss per share for each of the two years ended 31 December 2019
respectively is the same as the basic loss per share as there were no

dilutive potential ordinary shares during both years.

Continuing operations

The calculation of basic loss per share from continuing operations is
based on the loss for the year attributable to the owners of the Company
from continuing operations of HK$441,458,000 (2018: HKS$55,405,000)
and the denominators detailed above for basic loss per share.

Diluted loss per share from continuing operations for each of the two
years ended 31 December 2019 respectively is the same as the basic loss
per share as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares during both
years.

Discontinued operation

For the year ended 31 December 2019, basic earnings per share for the
discontinued operation attributable to the owners of the Company is
HK3.8 cents (2018: basic loss per share of HK4.0 cents), based on the
profit for the year ended 31 December 2019 from the discontinued
operation of HK$125,997,000 (2018: loss of HK$132,030,000) and the
denominators detailed above for basic loss per share.

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share from discontinued operation for each
of the two years ended 31 December 2019 respectively is the same as
the basic earnings/(loss) per share as there were no dilutive potential

ordinary shares during both years.
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FERERCRILEREEK
FREAEBEBIIZBADNGHEES AELGRAE
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BL)RAFEEBRITEBRMETFHH
3,278,825335 I (=& — J\ & : 3,278,825,335 %)
TRt EBREEEBR T ERRITERRRMN
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MR EAEE -

FERSEEL
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BBEBEARBEAFERELEEBNER
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. ¥ - BERRE

Freehold  Leasehold Furniture,
landoutside  land outside Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor ~ Computer
HongKong  HongKong Buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles  equipment Total
REBEH R EE
MAAREE REBEH il BER R®ER
1% HEELH B NEEB B By RE  EMERE @it
HKS000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HK000 HKS'000
TER AR TR ThER TR T ThEr TR TR
Cost A
A1 January 2018 R-F-\5-A-R 3573 3426 8,7% 15,160 28585 11267 1797 9716 360319
Exchange realignment A% 5 6 (285) (496) (8130) (907) (100) (491) (12969)
Additions AE - - - 602 10843 1367 3% 188 13356
Transfer to investment properties ~ BEERENE - - (27583) - - - - - (27583)
Disposals i3 - - - (2063) (20238) (6,768) (421) (2943) (32433
At31 December 2018 RZE-N\E+-R=1-H 3578 3432 56356 13203 211,060 4959 1632 6470 300690
Bichange realignment EiRE () ) (969) (108) (2,746) (229) (3) (323) (4451)
Additions NE - - 7968 624 9993 1158 - 1619 21362
Transfer toinvestment properties ~ BAZRENE - - (152) - - - - - (1525)
Disposals & - - - - (33,240) - - (109) (333)
At31 December 2019 RZE-NE+ZRz+-H 3558 3411 61830 13719 185,067 5889 159% 6,074 281,744
Depreciation, amortisation HE BERAE
and impairment
At1 January 2018 R-E-\&-A-H - - 38,344 7016 150,358 5576 1757 7424 210475
Eichange realignment B AR - - (454) 323) (4.981) (689) ) (40) (6,889)
Provided for the year TFERE - - 2888 2016 17858 1906 147 1235 26030
Impairment HE - - - 1351 - n 173
Eiminated on disposal HERYH - - - (1237) (1047) (6490) (41s) (2620) (21,009)
Fliminated on transfer toinvestment EEE R AN £k 4
properties - - (9092 - - - - - (9092
31 December 2018 RZB-N\E+-R=t1-H - - 31686 7412 152988 1658 1483 5971 20158
Exchange realignment EiRE - - (53) (89 (1.645) (163 (1) 313) (2754
Provided for the year TEERE - - 4567 1330 15072 1,285 4 581 2878
Eliminated on disposal HEBHE - - - - 77 - - (1,027) (22804
Eiminated on transfer toinvestment  EH B R AN EE 43
properties - - (453) - - - - - (453)
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+-R=1-H - - 35067 8713 144638 2780 1525 5202 198125
Carrying values RAE
At31 December 2019 RZE-NE+ZRz+-H 3558 3411 26563 5006 40429 3109 7 1472 83619
At 31 December 2018 RZE-NE+-A=1-H 3578 3432 24610 5731 58072 3301 149 499 99432
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a

straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Freehold land outside Hong Kong

Leasehold land outside Hong Kong

Buildings

Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery

Furniture, fixtures and equipment

Motor vehicles
Computer equipment

Certain leasehold land and building is pledged to a bank to secure a
mortgage loan and general banking facilities granted to the Group (note

42).

Notes:

(@)

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets, included in the property,

Over the term of lease

50 years or over the term of
lease or land use rights,

whichever is shorter

20% or over the term of lease,

whichever is shorter

10%-33'/3%
20%

20%-33'/3%
20%-33'/3%

plant and equipment, by class of underlying asset is as follows:

W% - BERRE(E)
it - S RAEIER R TIIERAER
HEHEATE

REBRING i

KAERE T

REBEING GiER=g:IN

FHE L

BF 504F sk A E sk
T {E AREFER
(AR E A%E)

HEYERE 20% sk AL E HR A
(AR E AAE)

55 K 23 10%-33'/3%

B BERE 20%

B
RE 20%-33'/:%
BB 20%-33'/:%

REBDBEMHAE i BT - EAK
FAREBIEFER L —RIBITEENER (K
X42)

B 3E

@ REBEAESMNASNERREEGIADE.
B KR MREFENDTNT

Right-of-use assets EREEE Leasehold land
outside Hong Kong Buildings

LRAEBUII
HELH gF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT FERT
At 1 January 2019 RZTE—NAF—HA—H 3,432 7,361
Additions NE - 7,968
Depreciation e - (3,365)
Exchange realignment VE 5 B (21 85
At 31 December 2019 R-ZE-h&E+=-A=+-—H 3,411 12,049
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 15. Y% - BMERRE (&)

Notes: (Continued) B 5E : (48)

(b) At 31 December 2018, the net book value of an buildings held under finance lease of (b) RZE—N\FE+A=+—8 A&EBEEFHEHE
the Group was approximately HK$7,361,000. It was reclassified as right-of-use assets ERANBFRENREDFELNR7361,0008 T
on 1 January 2019 upon the adoption of HKFRS 16. REMEBMBREENE 165K HR=ZF—A

F-A—RAEMHEREAEELE -
In addition, leasehold land outside Hong Kong of the Group which is held for own IEAN - RERNB B B RMELRFE 16581% - KNEEH
use amounted to approximately HK$3,432,000 was classified as right-of-use assets R EBINGE B B A 2 B43432,000% T
upon the adoption of HKFRS 16. It would continue to be accounted for under HKAS ErHEARFEREEE - ZHE LG EERE
16 Property, Plant and Equipment (“HKAS 16") and carried at cost. BERGHENE 6RYE  BERZE(BEG

HERIE 1657 ) ABR - WIRAK AT

16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 16. RAAHEERIR

2019 2018
—E-NF —ZT-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET

At beginning of the year NG 1,326 5,200

Exchange realignment M X 3 & (22) (233)

Released to profit or loss BEExn (64) (163)

Transfer to investment properties BRI EYE (248) (3,478)

At the end of the year RER 992 1326

Analysed for reporting purposes as: LERARIMA:

Current asset mENE E 57 05

Non-current asset FERBEE 935 1,261

992 1,326

019F %/ BETEEERERAR 171



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

B 7% 3R B oE ()

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
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17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. REY*
HK$'000
FAT
At 1 January 2018 RZZE—-NF—A—H 73,681
Exchange realignment HE W 3 B (3331
Transfer from property, plant and equipment and W - BEREEALRTERN
prepaid lease payments MEFREEE 80914
Change in fair value recognised in profit or loss REZERNRAFEZS (1,526)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-NF+ZA=+—H 149,738
Exchange realignment PE 5 % (3,216)
Transfer from property, plant and equipment and W - BEREZEAREN
prepaid lease payments MHE KBS 4,242
Change in fair value recognised in profit or loss RIBRERN AT EE S (3,142)
At 31 December 2019 R-ZE—NF+-_HA=+—H 147,622
Note: BT

The fair values of the Group's investment properties at 31 December 2019 and 2018
have been arrived at on the basis of valuations carried out by RHL Appraisal Limited, an
independent qualified professional valuers not connected to the Group and possess
appropriate qualifications and experience in the valuation of properties in the relevant
locations. All of the Group's investment properties were valued with reference to valuation
by the valuer considering the market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties in
similar locations and conditions, or on the basis of income approach where appropriate.

In arriving at the valuation on the basis of income approach, the fair value is determined by
capitalising the net rental income derived from the existing tenancies with due allowance or
provision for the reversionary potential of the properties.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of the properties is

their current use.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group reclassified one of its owner-occupied
factory in the PRC as an investment property. As a result, gain on revaluation of properties of
approximately HK$2,230,000 was recognised in other comprehensive income upon transfer
of property, plant and equipment to investment properties.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

e

17.

—
—=

NE+ZA=+—HILFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

Following are the key inputs used in valuing the investment properties as at 31 December

2019 and 2018:

17.

BEY= ()

MiEE - ()

RZE-NERZT—NF+=
THERFTANEZHABNAT :

A=+—HARREMXE

Fair value at Fair value at Range or Relationship of
Fair value 31 December 31 December  Valuation weighted unobservable
Category hierarchy 2019 2018 techniques Key unobservable inputs average inputs to fair value
RZB-1&E | RZZ-N\F
tZA=t-B |TZA=t—H FUBERBHAER
55l AFERE HATE MATE  AERE IRFABRGAE GENMETIE DFENER
HK$'000 HKS'000
TEL TR
Industrial properties Level3 12,838 14038 Income Reversionary yield (derived 59-6% (2018: 5%-6%) The higher the reversionary yield,
inthe PRC* from monthly market rent) the lower the fair value
KRB TENE: E=R L ONS AEHRA S%E6%(ZF—\F: BUWABRE  ATEHE
(RAEMEHE) 5% 2 6%)
Estimated rental value Renminbi The higher the rental value,
("RMB") 24-RMB15.0 per the higher the fair value
month per square meter
(2018: RMB24-RMB15.0
per month per square
meter)
B EE BAGTARARE HEoEEdR ATEYS
AR 247E
ARBI50TL(ZZ
—\F:8A
BYAARARK M
EAR¥507)

134,784 135700 Comparison Discount on quality 44.5%-44.7% The higher the discount on quality
of properties (e.g. location, (2018: 14.9%-19.7%) of properties with reference to
size and asking price of the comparable, the lower the
properties) fair value

HRE BORERBlonZE 445%Z 44.7% B2ZUELENE
w3 KNRWE) (Z2—N\F:1umm  DEERFESS ATE
b F197%) HE
The fair value of investment properties is a level 3 recurring fair value measurement. A REMENDTERE=ZREEERTEFE  BOKLE
reconciliation of the opening and closing fair value balance is provided below: RN FEBELRNOT -
2019 2018
—e-n%E —E-N\E
HK'000 HK'000
FTER FET
Opening balance iRl X 149,738 73,681
Exchange realignment b 4, 5 2 (3,216) (3,331)
Transfer from property, plant and equipment and prepaid NYE BERZEARBEAESEREEH
lease payment 4,242 80,914
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss RIEZEROAFEZS (3,142) (1,526)
Closing balance (level 3 recurring fair value) HABBE(E=ZFLEERATFE) 147,622 149,738

There was no transfer amongst levels during the year.

Investment property is pledged to a bank to secure a mortgage loan and general banking

facilities granted to the Group (note 42).

*

The address of the industrial properties in the PRC is Xin QianJin Village "San Shi”,

Tanzhou County, Zhongshan City, Guangdong Province, the PRC. The property
comprises Block 1-2, 4-7 and dormitory factory. The term of lease is medium.

FARBERZEOER -

BEYECIEA T IRTT
ﬁﬁhﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂhﬂﬁ

* NP B TEMEI S
BURHTRERN » MEBRE
= AHETH -

HE
£

CERETAEEERER R K

B AR L ThE M
2@ 4718 & T

E&?‘hﬁ
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HE_Z-NFT_A=Z+—BILEFE

18. GOODWILL 18. BE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —N\F
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET FHET
CosT B A
At beginning of the year REL] 219,595 220,041
Exchange realignment PE 5, 3 2 (936) (446)
Derecognised upon disposal* AN ERF R FER (125,643) -
At the end of the year RER 93,016 219,595
IMPAIRMENT AR
At beginning of the year REY 209,387 111,744
Derecognised upon disposal* N ERR R (125,643) -
Provision for impairment loss BRI E - 97,643
At the end of the year RER 83,744 209,387
CARRYING AMOUNT RE&HE
At the end of the year RER 9,272 10,208
* Goodwill allocated to the cash generated unit of Satellite TV broadcasting ("MyHD * EREEReEEEM((MWHDIRESEAE
CGU") was derecognised upon the disposal of SCG group as set out in Note 35(b). AL B E M FE35(b) T & SCGER B4R 1E
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For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated to

the following CGUs and the net carrying amounts of goodwill allocated

to these CGUs are as follow:

SUREREME  BEENEENTREES
7o ERAZSFREELEMMNHENRE
FEIT

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET

Satellite TV equipment and antenna products HEERZBERREES
— PBTCGU —EEMERSELEM 9,272 10,208

Satellite TV broadcasting HEESRER

— MyHD CGU —MyHDIR & EE B - -
9,272 10,208
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18. GOODWILL (Continued) 18. & (&)

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the management assessed
the expected recoverable amount based on the higher of value in use
and fair value less cost of disposal.

The recoverable amounts of these CGUs have been determined based
on the value in use calculations, based on a detailed budget plan, the
expected cash flows beyond the detailed budget plan are extrapolated
at the growth rates stated below. The key assumptions used for value in

use calculations are as follows:

REBE-FT-NF+-_A=1T—HLFE"
fiTz:naﬁﬂﬂ%@&AQZTE/)EEzﬁ%EZKE’U%?
BEMEEAITKRESHE

ZERGELBMMARESED RIBFERN
BEABREREEAEEEE LR T
BREREEZFERETEIAIMERER
B - EREEFETENIERRNT :

PBT CGU MyHD CGU

MyHD R &

BENEESELEN EEXEN

2019 2018 2018

—E-NF —E-NF —E-N\F

Budget plan TEHEETE 5 years & 5 years & 5 years &
Growth rate R =X 5% 5% 3%
Discount rate PrIR & 13.08% 19.60% 19.85%

The growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth forecasts and
does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant
industry. The cash flow projections are from the most recent financial
budget approved by the management. Other key assumptions for
the value in use calculation are budgeted gross margin and budgeted
revenue, which are determined based on the unit’s past performance
and management’s expectations regarding market development.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, in view of the MyHD CGU
incurred substantial loss arising from (i) substantial amounts of
programming costs including payment for content fees, renting satellite
transponders, purchase of set-top boxes and payment for dealer’s
commission for marketing and promotion; and (i) the subscription of
new customers is significantly lower than the previous expectation, an
impairment loss on goodwill of HK$97,643,000 was recognised for MyHD
CGU.

ZIEREPAERITENEREIRER T8
HBARTENTIREERE - EEEE}/ILE%E\
RAAER B ENROHRTREAE REE - &
REEAENENEMEIERRA/EEENX
NEE WS - WREADRAREMNBERR
LREBEBHMSERNAHETE -

RBEZZT—\F+_A=1+T—HILFE &
EAMyHDIEiEE AN T REEAEREE
1 m%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%’wmﬁ%iﬁmééﬁﬁ .
%Eﬁﬁﬁé]e% ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ”*&ﬁ*«ﬁﬁ?%ﬁiﬁ
Wﬁ’&%ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ) (NFFEFOETEEAKN
KR SR TEHR EﬁEEﬂMyHDﬁiEi X
B KRB EE 5 97,643,000 7T ©
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BE_ZE—NE+-_RA=+—HItEE

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

19. BREE

Product Customer
technology relationship Others Total
= m Bl EFBER Hit et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TER THER FET FET
(Note a) (Note b) (Note c)
(Pt &£ a) (B &Eb) (B &E )
Cost BN
At 1 January 2018 RZE—-—N\F—H—H 30,481 35,529 5,749 71,759
Addition NE 292 - - 292
Disposals He (29) - - (29)
Exchange realignment b 5 58 B (1,042) 55 4 (983)
At 31 December 2018 RZE—N\F
+-—A=+—H 29,702 35,584 5,753 71,039
Addition NE 136 - - 136
Written off & (128) - - (128)
Exchange realignment M i, o 2 209 (208) (16) (15)
At 31 December 2019 RZZE—NF
+=ZA=+—8H 29919 35376 5,737 71,032
Amortisation and impairment 5 ORE
At 1 January 2018 RZE—-—N\F—H—H 28,192 21,866 4333 54391
Exchange realignment B i, o2& (986) 30 (56) (1,012)
Provided for the year 7N E 2 B 53 4219 252 4,524
Eliminated on disposals H & B 8 (29) - - (29)
At 31 December 2018 RZE—)N\F
+-—A=+—H 27,230 26,115 4,529 57,874
Exchange realignment & H & 223 (181) 9) 33
Provided for the year RETE B 45 4,219 257 4,521
Written off 84 (100) - - (100)
At 31 December 2019 RZZ—NF
+=ZA=+—H8H 27,398 30,153 4,777 62,328
Carrying amounts RMEE
At 31 December 2019 RZE—NF
+=-—A=+—H 2,521 5223 960 8,704
At 31 December 2018 RZE—)N\F
+—-—A=+—H 2472 9,469 1,224 13,165
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes:

(@ Product technology represents software acquired from independent third parties for
the development of TV set top box. Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis
over 3 years.

(b) Customer relationship represents contracted and non-contracted customer

relationship arising from the acquisition of Pro Brand International, Inc ("PBI") during
the year ended 30 June 2013. The amount is amortised over its estimated useful life

of 7.5 years on a straight-line basis.

Others mainly represent the research and development unit acquired through
the acquisition of PBT during the year ended 30 June 2013. The mature research
and development unit, which can support the Group's product development, was
separately recognised as intangible assets based on the accounting policy stated
in Note 4(l)(iii). It was recognised based on the fair value at the date of acquisition.
Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over 7.5 years.

19. BIEEE (8])

GER

@ ERENE AN R IR BT E = 7K
BB o B S LU ELAROARHE -

0  EFHEEERE-T-=FAAStALFER

U & Pro Brand International, Inc ([PBI]) T ZE £ H & 4
MIEEHNRPBIER - % BUR7SFM T A E A
FHNIREFEHE -

Hip T EREBRBEE_T—=FA=1+HILF
JE R U 1 R T U R AR B BE AL o B PR B
B AF AL B E M T - REMIEE40)Gi) AT
SHBREBERSEBVEE  TREBKBEAN
NFERER - BN 75 FRABERERHE -

©

20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 20. R—EHZ N TIERS

2019 2018

—E-NEF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FHExT FET

Share of net assets of an associate Eih—EBE RN FEE 76,600 67,800

Movement of interest in an associate is as follows: N N RIS E T

2019 2018

—E-hE —ZE-N\F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FHExT FET

At the beginning of the year 7] 67,800 59,325
Share of profit of an associate JE 4G — & A B HY i A 10,320 14,107
Exchange realignment B i, o2& (1,520) (5632)
At the end of the year E R 76,600 67,300
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B 7% 3R BT oE (4

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_Z-NAF+-A=Z+—BILFE

20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Note:

20. R—EBE QR HER (B)

GER

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group had interests in the following associate: RZZE—HERZZE-)N\E+-_A=1+—8 xEHERT

Form of business Place of Place of
Name of entity structure incorporation operation Class of shares Held by the Group  Principal activities
BEREE XBRBERX EMAR R REE R 13 %8 Bl rEBEFRE FEXEK
Dish Media Network Limited company Nepal Nepal Ordinary 47.12%  Provision of Direct-To-Home service
Limited (“Dish Media") for satellite TV
BRAA DL ] IEREL ] il REEBRREEZAERS
Summarised financial information: B ERIE -
2019 2018
—E-NF —ET-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FET
As at 31 December R+=-—A=+-—8
Current assets MBEE 65,846 126,360
Non-current assets EREEE 430,972 404,982
Current liabilities mENEE (332,821) (386,391)
Non-current liabilities B N=K= (1,433) (1,062)
Year ended 31 December BE+t-ZB=+—-HLEE
Revenue g 311,135 299,369
Profit for the year KE R 21,902 29,938
Total comprehensive income for the year REEEE W B 21,902 29,938

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the

interest in an associate recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

P BERREEGS

R i O BRTE S BV S BR -

ISR AR —MBE Q7

2019 2018

—E-hF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FERT FET

Net assets BEFE 162,564 143,889
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest REBEHEAEERZOLD 47.12% 47.12%
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in an associate AEBR—HBERTNESINDETS5E 76,600 67,800
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

21. AMOUNT DUE FROM/LOAN TO AN ASSOCIATE

21. B —REBEARMNFIE BT —
B E X RNER

2019 2018
—s-nE| -—T-N%
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
=3 FERT FET

Non-current assets FEREBEE
Loan receivables JFE W & X () 22,130 22,137

Current assets mBEE

Trade receivables fEUWE F R (ii) 56,934 109,674
Interest receivable on loan receivables JRE W B B FE MR B 4,795 4,028
Amount due from an associate JRE Ui — Pl Bt 2 R B A FRIA 61,729 113,702

Notes:

(i) The amount is unsecured and bears interest at a fixed rate of 4.75% (2018: 4.75%) per
annum. The loan receivables mature on 31 December 2022.

(i) Amount being unsecured and interest-free. The Group allows a credit period of 360

days.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables due from an
associate, presented based on the invoice date, at the end of the

reporting period:

(ii)

ZRENERRRRETFFE4SE(ZT—N\F
475B)FE c BKERR —_TE-_—F+_A=+—
HEIH -

FZRREEERR TS - AEBETHOEEHNS
360 H ©

Uy — R & A R W E B RN IR E HR
HRZAHMEINMRESTIOT

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-)N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

TERT FET

0-30 days 0F30H - 24,884
31-90 days 31290 H - 26,800
91-360 days 912360 H - 17,409
More than 360 days i 38 360 H 56,934 40,581
56,934 109,674
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_Z-NAF+-A=Z+—BILFE

21. AMOUNT DUE FROM/LOAN TO AN ASSOCIATE

(Continued)

Expected credit loss on trade receivables due from and loan to an
associate was based on the accounting policy stated in Note 4(n)(ii).
Based on the Group's assessment, the Group recognised the reversal
of expected credit loss on trade receivables due from an associate of
HK$5,836,000 (2018: provision for expected credit loss of HK$8,100,000)
and provision for expected credit loss on loan to an associate of
HK$7,000 (2018: reversal of expected credit loss of HK$69,000) during the
year.

Further details on the group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from

amount due from and loan to an associate are set out in note 38(b).

21.

FEW —EBE ATNRIE BT —
EHE A RNEMR (&)

FEUR — R & R R EIRE BRI MG T —
BENRNERNBHEEEE D ERH
AN FTEL EETERR AT E - IRIBAS B RIS -
NE B ARF SRR — B = A R A R
2 ZBERMTEAE EEERE 58360008 (=
T—)\F : BHEEEERS,100000%7T)
R T —HBE RN ERNEREEBHER
#7008 T (ZE—\F : BHREEHERD
69,0008 7T) °

BERASBEZ EEBRRESL BRI —RHEZ
NEMFIERG T —HBERRNERZEE
[\ 2 3 — 2 S B E T RE 38(0) ©

22. LOAN RECEIVABLES 22. EWRERR

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
TR FEL
Loans receivables (notes i and ii) JE U E SR (BT R Reii) 12,989 59,507

Loans receivables due from former subsidiaries EWAIME AR ERER
(note iii) (B i) 646,366 -
659,355 59,507
Less: allowance for doubtful debts (note iv) o RERBE (M FEiv) (659,355) (50,713)
- 8,794

1 80 Sandmartin International Holdings Limited / 2019 Annual Report




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

22. LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

0]

(ii)

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group had loan receivable amounting to
HK$12,989,000 from a third party. The amount was unsecured and bore interest
at 1.2% (2018: 1.2%) per annum. This loan receivable was fully impaired as at 31
December 2019 and 2018.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had loan and trade receivables due from two
customers (the “Debtors”) with gross amount of HK$46,518,000 and HK$39,273,000
respectively (the “Receivables”). The Debtors were engaged in the operation of cable
television in Nepal.

The loan receivables bore interest at 5% per annum. Pursuant to an agreement dated
25 March 2016, the 80% equity interest in one of the Debtors was pledged for part
of the loan receivables of HK$43,803,000 (the “Share Pledge”). In the event that the
Debtors fails or defaults to settle such loan, the Group shall have the right but not the
obligation to possess the pledged share.

Provision of impairment loss was determined by the directors of the Company
based on the credit worthiness and the past collection history of the Debtors. Also,
the directors of the Company assessed that the value of the Share Pledge to be
insignificant as at 31 December 2016.

On 29 December 2017, the Group entered into an agreement (the "Agreement”)
with an independent third party (the “Purchaser”), pursuant to which the Group
have conditionally agreed to sell and assign, and the Purchaser has conditionally
agreed to purchase and be assigned, the rights, titles and benefits of the Receivables
and Share Pledge at a consideration of US$4,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$31,275,000) (the “Consideration”).

22. EWER (&)

GER

0]

(ii)

RZE-NFRZZFT-N\F+ZA=+—8B £&
BEAREE =R EKEF 12,989,000 T © 25K
BAEIEE  mEFEI12%(ZZF—)\F 1 1.2%) 5
B REWERER - E-NER-_ZE—N\E+_
AB=+—H%2RE -

RZZE—N\F+_A=+—8 FTEEEKREE
FPIBEBEADZERRERE ZEFBED A
46,518,000 78 7T 139,273,000 8 7T ([ EEURBRFR ) © 1&E75
ARERIRBRERNEE -

ZERBETIREMN R S%:TE - RE—HAYAZ
T—AEZA-+HANHE  Eh—BEHAZ
80% A% 7N 1 25 B B 1 /5 43,803,000 78 T 2 019 FE Uk
ER(TROER]) - WEEHABEEENIERZ
BN AREEBENMIERBEEZERRD -

BEBRBERARREEEANEBAZERR
BRBERRCHRETE - ARBERNFERNE
ARZZE—ARF+_A=+—HBZBERTEK

RZTE—tF+—A=t+hB AEEHE 2B
F=HTEADI L HH(HBRE]D - Huit - A%E
EERHREHERESE MEHFEOBERKHRERE
B RAGEEWRR R E IR 2 R - Fra R
z 1B 44,000,000 3 7T (18 E 7 49 31,275,000 7 7T.)
([R1E]D) -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_Z-NAF+-A=Z+—BILFE

22. LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued) 22. BWER (&)
Notes: (Continued) MaE - (&)
(ii) (Continued) (ii) €))

According to the Agreement, the Consideration shall be paid by the Purchaser by

cash in the following manner as follows:

(a) US$200,000 shall be paid on or before 31 March 2018;

(b) US$300,000 shall be paid on or before 30 June 2018;

(© US$750,000 shall be paid on or before 30 September 2018;

(d) US$750,000 shall be paid on or before 31 December 2018;

(e) US$500,000 shall be paid on or before 31 March 2019;

() US$500,000 shall be paid on or before 30 June 2019;

()] US$500,000 shall be paid on or before 30 September 2019; and

(h) US$500,000 shall be paid on or before 31 December 2019;

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has received all instalments with total amount
of US$4,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$31,351,000) (31 December 2018:
US$2,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$15,560,000)) from the Purchaser.
Accordingly the date of completion of the Agreement is 31 December 2019.

At completion, the Group and the Purchaser had executed an assignment of
the Receivables, relevant loan agreements and Share Pledge. Management has
recognised a reversal of expected credit loss amounted to HK$8,794,000 in respect of
the loan portion of the Receivables and derecognised the gross carrying amount and
ECL amount of the Receivables upon the completion.

1 82 Sandmartin International Holdings Limited / 2019 Annual Report

RiEH= - RMEHBETRTIIRARE N

(@) 200000 ETLER =T —\F=ZA=+—Hsk
ZRIZAS

(b) 300000 ETTER =T —\FARA=FH%Z
AIZAT

(© 750000 X TTER T —NFAR=+H%Z
AT A

(d) 750000 ETTER T —\F+=-A=+—H
2RI

(© 500000 ETLER =T —NF=ZA=+—HK
2RI

() 500000 ETTER =T —NFARA=FTHZ%Z
RIZA

@) 500000 X TTER =T —NFAAR=+HKZ
At &

(h) 500000( TR T —NF+_A=+—H
2RI o

R_ZE-NE+-_A=+—RH0 A£EEHEH
WERFT A 9 HAFRIE + 4858 54,000,000 7T (FHE
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

22. LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(ifi)

(iv)

During the year, as set out in note 35(b), the Group disposed of the entire equity
interest in Speed Connection Group Limited (the “Disposal’), and since then, the
loan receivables from Speed Connection Group Limited and its subsidiary MyHD
were classified as loan receivables due from former subsidiaries.

The loan receivables due from former subsidiaries were arising from the disposal of
all interests in MyHD and the extension of the existing loans to MyHD. For details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 31 December 2018 and the
circular of the Company dated 25 May 2019. The amounts were unsecured, interest-
bearing at rates ranged from 3 months LIBOR plus 100 basis point per annum to 10%
per annum and will be matured on 31 December 2020.

The principal amounts of these loan receivables were US$71,298,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$555,062,000), in which amount of US$9,554,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$74,379,000) due from Speed Connection Group Limited,
bore interest rate at 3 months LIBOR plus 100 basis points per annum; and amount
of US$51,244,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$398,940,000) and amount of
US$10,500,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$81,743,000) due from MyHD (the
non-wholly owned subsidiary of Speed Connection Group Limited), bore interest
rate at 10% per annum and at 3 months LIBOR plus 100 basis points per annum
respectively, and the corresponding interest receivables were US$11,728,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$91,304,000). These loan receivables and the interest
receivables, net of the provision of expected credit loss of HK$219,103,000 as at
the date of the Disposal, amounted to HK$429,410,000 were recognised as loan
receivables upon the Disposal.

In December 2019, management was given to understand that Speed Connection
Group Limited and MyHD were in serious financial problem and ceased to operate
in late 2019. As such, management considered these loan receivables were credit-
impaired and recognised life time ECLs of the total net carrying amount of these loan
receivables of HK$429,410,000 at 31 December 2019.

The provision of expected credit loss was determined by the management of the
Group based on the creditworthiness and the past collection history of the borrowers.

22. EWER (&)

MiEE - ()

(iii)

WA SAMFE3500) P - AR E &R R
SEERARz2MEE(THES®E]) - BUtAE -
K E R R E AR A B R B 2 B MyHD 2 e
RO R PEU AT I B 1 R A REURE SR o

FEMRTHT B R m @ R BT E A B SR MyHD Z
EHELR URBETFZEBEERES - #5852
BARARIBHA=ZZ—\F+=_RA=1+—B2ZA%
EARRBMAZTE - NFRAZtTHAZEBK -
ZESHEABEKR  B-MEAMBEBITREEREM
T0EESEINEZFFNEFTE AR =TT
FH+—A=+—RFH-

ZERWERZ AL A71298000EF T (HER
#)555,062,0007% 7T ) + H A fEUFE B S B AR A A
2.9,554,0003 7T (48 & # #74,379,0007% 7T ) & = @
BmBRTT R 2R B 100 EE 2 2 FF Rt 8 -
i EKRMYHD (R R B AR R A 22 EWE R
A1) 251,244,000 2 7T (8 & 7 #7398,940,0007%5 7T ) I
10,500,000 3 7T (8 & 7 4981,743,00078 7T ) Bl 9 Bl #%
FRE10ER=MEA BBRITRESR S M100EE
ZhEt B MIEZ FEURFIE A 11,728000 K T (HHE
#991,304000 7T) - RN EFERH 2 EHE
EE 185 1#2191030008 0% - Z5RIKERKRE
U F) B £429,41000078 7T » ERHEEBEER A
FEWEK -

R-T-—NE+_A EEBNEEBREEERRD
AR MyHDEIFR R E M 58 - R T —NFRL
IHEE- At EBRERAZSEREREEER
B YhZSERKERNR _E-NF+_A=+—
B2 BREF(E A EE 4294100008 THER 2 BB HE
B -

EHEEBERBRASEEREANERAZE
BRBENERCEMETE

Allowances for doubtful debts vy REEBRE
2019 2018
—E-1F T NF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FET
At the beginning of year RE 50,713 50,713
Reversal of expected credit loss (note (ii)) 1 [0 78 B 4= B R 18 (B 5 i) (8,794) -
Written off (note (ii)) 1 85 (B 2 (i) (28,930) -
Recognised upon the Disposal (note (iii)) A H & B 52 (B A (i) 219,103 -
Provision for expected credit loss (note (iii)) T8 BR = BB 1B B R (BT RE Gin) 429,410 -
Exchange realignment & H (2,147) -
At the end of year RER 659,355 50,713
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_Z-NAF+-A=Z+—BILFE

23. DEFERRED TAXATION

23. EEFIE

The following are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised by

AT BAEERAFEERNEZELEHRIAE

the Group and movements thereon during the year: E/S(BE)URAESH -
Fair value Provision
adjustment  Revaluation forPRC  Accelerated
onintangible ofinvestment  withholding tax Provision
asset properties tax depreciation  and others Total
BREE RE H i3
DTERE  WEEM BAKEE BEFE BEREM @t
HK'000 HK'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR THT TET TR TR
At 1 January 2018 R-_E-N\F—H—H (6,862) (27/424) (6,206) (650) 6,438 (34,704)
Exchange adjustments &R AE (475) 850 - - 367 742
Charge to property revaluation reserve B W1 % & (f & B 5 - (14736) - - - (14,736)
Credit (charge) to profit or loss WAFEBRTAGIR)
for the year 1,683 367 - - (3658) (1,603)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\E+-A=F—-H (5,649) (40943) (6,200) (650) 3,147 (50,301)
Exchange adjustments fE 5 AR 23 279 362 - (16) 648
Charge to property revaluation reserve B ¥ % & {f & # 10 Bk - (692) - - - (692)
Credit (charge) to profit or loss RAFEE BRI AR
for the year 1,340 785 - - 215 2340
At 31 December 2019 RZE-AF+-A=1+—H (4,286) (40,571) (5,844) (650) 3,346 (48,005)
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial MU BE2MASELRNIEERIBELRS TN
reporting purposes: ™~
2019 2018
ZE-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAEXT
Deferred tax assets RIEFRTAEE 3,346 3,147
Deferred tax liabilities REHIEAE (51,351) (53,448)
(48,005) (50,301)
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BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

23.

24,

DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

At 31 December 2019, the Group had unrecognised tax losses of
HK$106,243,000 (2018: HK$64,666,000) available for offset against future
profits due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax, withholding tax at
10% is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by
PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has
been provided for in full in respect of undistributed profits retained by

PRC entities in the consolidated financial statements.

At 31 December 2019, the Group had deductible temporary differences
of HK$47,492,000 (2018: HKS$47,580,000). No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in relation to such deductible temporary differences as it
is not probable that taxable profit will be available against which the

deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

23. JEFEBE (&)

R-ZE—hE+-RA=+—8 fRkKeTHE:
R HFRR - AEEHEBAERBIEER
106,243,000 7 7T (= — )\ : 64,666,000/ 7T)
A AR SR ACHE T o

RETFECEMERE I -FTN\F—A—
e B BT 8 1 R BRER B9 7 P B R O AR S
TR 0% TEN - Eh EERBRE KRN IK
wANARBREERIAD 28N G E M HRERS
B

MR-E—AE+-A=+—8 KEHEAH
T3 ET R 2= 5B 5 47,492,00008 TT( — 8 — )\ &
47,580,000 7T ) © R AR A B ER Al B) A Al
MBI G E BN ERBRT) - ML B A
M LR ZEERIEERIBEE °

INVENTORIES 24. 78
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Raw materials R 39,922 51,649
Work in progress HE R 28,276 33,586
Finished goods UK S 152,851 58,073
221,049 143,308
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25. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 25. BREZRN EBUEBRHEME
WK IE
2019 2018
—g-nE | ZENE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Trade and bills receivables EWE SEFREKER 207,495 287,022
Other receivables H b /B U 5008 119,305 102,237
Total trade, bills and other receivables EWE SED  EWZEN
H fth & W kIR 42 HR 326,800 389,259
The Group allows an average credit period of 60 to 120 days to its REBKTEESREPLPNEZEER Y A60H
trade customers. The following is an ageing analysis of trade and bills 120 c RNEKR - FEWE SEER N EKEE
receivables presented based on the invoice date at the end of the year: MBS HEZ25 MRS :
2019 2018
—E-hEF —EF-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
0-30 days 0&30H 93,837 151,524
31-90 days 31290 H 63,794 110,797
91-180 days 91 £ 180 H 36,489 36,432
More than 180 days i@ 180 H 146,351 128,103
340,471 426,856
Less: Loss allowance W R (132,976) (139,834)
207,495 287,022
The other classes within trade, bills and other receivables do not contain FEWE ZEEZ - FENEE N H M EWRTE RS
impaired assets. HEMBERUABEE mEEE -
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25.

26.

27.

TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Expected credit loss on trade receivables was based on the accounting
policy stated in Note 4(n). Based on the Group's assessment, the Group
recognised provision for expected credit loss on trade receivables of
HK$4,692,000 (2018: Reversal of expected credit loss of HK$9,015,000)
during the year.

Further details on the Group's credit policy and credit risk arising from
trade debtors and bills receivable are set out in note 38(b).

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

The amounts represent deposits pledged to banks to secure short-term
bank borrowings granted to the Group (note 42). The deposits carry fixed
interest rates ranged from 0.013% to 1.69% (2018: 0.85% to 1.69%) per
annum. The pledged bank deposits will be released upon the settlement
of short-term bank borrowings.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH
Bank balances and cash of the Group comprise bank balances and cash
held and short-term bank deposits that are interest-bearing at floating
interest rate and are with original maturity of three months or less. The
remaining bank deposits carry fixed interest rates ranging from 0.01% to
0.63% (2018:0.01% to 0.78%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2019, cash and bank balances denominated in
RMB amounted to approximately HK$4,668,000 (2018: approximately
HK$2,615,000). RMB is not freely convertible into foreign currencies in
the PRC. Under the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for foreign
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.

25.

26.

27.

EREZENR  BUREERHEME
WeskiE (&)

FEW B 5 BR 5k A T8 B {5 B B B AR IR BT 53 4(n) T
MEFBORATE - BBEASETE - AEER
RNEERRERE FERNEHEEEERE
46920008 (ZF—\F : BEIBEHEES
89,015,000 7T)

ERAEEEEBRRALERKE Z R E
WREBELNEERBRNE —FHIEENHE
38(b) °

2IEFRITER
ZERBERAEEERNEHRITEEMK
BT RITOER (I 5E42) - REFERTHRNF
0013EZ169E(ZF—N\F : 085EZ169/F)
ZEEEFFEE - EEBRITERER
REAIRITIE BB BB RRRR o

RITEFREAS
REBEMBRITHETIRSBEMFBRITERR
BeARRITN=EA DR =E AR B
HRITIFE K - RERERFBFEGE - BT
BITHEFEN T 001 EE063E(ZF—/\F -
001 EZE078E) METEFFEETE o

RZZ—AF+_A=Z+—H UAREST
BERNES RRITETLNE46680008T(ZF
— J\F © 4926150008 7C) - ARBIEHEE
WNE T BE B LR AINE o RIBPEIRINEE
BIEPIMLEE - SERNEERFT  A5E
RFBBRERITABRARE BINEFREIMNE
ES R
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28. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES

28. BNEZERM - BNREREAE

0
2019 2018

—E-hE —ZE-N\F

HK$'000 HK$'000

TERT FHET

Trade payables BB SRR 301,571 383,805
Bills payables AN 477 2,099
Other payables and accruals (note) HiEARBEREREE (M) 89,702 119,318
391,750 505,222

The following is an aged analysis of trade and bills payables, presented

RBEHR - BRNEZEARENRBRESR

based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting periods: HEIFTZ27H R DT T -
2019 2018
“E-NE —E-NF
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TR FAT
0-30 days 0% 30H 235,388 277967
31-90 days 31£90H 23,212 48,595
91-360 days 912360 H 31,153 33,499
More than 360 days i 38 360 H 12,295 25,843
302,048 385,904

The average credit period for purchases of goods is 90 days.

Note:  An amount due to a Director of HK$5,328,000 (2018: HK$5,447,000) which was
included in other payables which term is unsecured, interest free and repayable on

demand.
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29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

29. EHEE

2019 2018
—EB-hE —E-NF
HK$'000 HKS$'000
THER FEL
Contract liabilities arising from: UTHEEEANANERE:
Sale of goods HEEY 23,509 23,614
Movements in contract liabilities EHEERH
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\#F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
FTHER FET
Balance as at 1 January R—A—BM&EH 23,614 56,653
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of FAABERREVFTAEGHNEAEZ
recognising revenue during the year that WmBHEHaERLD
was included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year (23,614) (56,653)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of receipt HEEYEWHRIBEYR
in advance of sale of goods a R EFEIG M 23,509 23,614
Balance as at 31 December R+ - A=Z+—Br&aH 23,509 23,614

The contract liabilities mainly relate to the advance consideration

received from customers.

EHABXRHEBKREPNBHRNKESRH -

N
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30. PROVISION FOR FINANCIAL GUARANTEE

30. BMIEEREBE

The Company had pursuant to the guarantee (the “Guarantee”) given in
favour of MyHD irrevocably guaranteed to pay all financial obligations
of MyHD in relation to the third amendment agreement to the content
supply agreement (the “Content Supply Agreement”) dated 3 October
2016 which was entered into between MyHD and MBC FZ LLC. The
Guarantee does not expire and the maximum amount payable by
the Company under the Guarantee should not exceed US$3,500,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$27,332,000).

The Guarantee does not contain any conditions which need to be
fulfilled or any circumstances which must arise before MyHD can enforce
the same and demand payment from the Company. Notwithstanding
that MyHD failed to observe all its payment obligations under the third
amendment agreement to the Content Supply Agreement, since the
date of the Guarantee up to the reporting date, the Company has not
received any demand for payment from MyHD under the Guarantee.

At 31 December 2019, the Group had recognised the provision
for financial guarantee amounting to US$3,500,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$27,332,000) in relation to the Guarantee.
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RAF EREFMyHD Z F 2B Z R (42
R 1) - DAL R 7 2 1 MyHD B B8 MyHD
HMBCFZ LLCFTRIM B A-Z—"F+A=
Hz A ERGZ ((REHRERZE]) E=H15
AIME MBI AT - RIERLESIHA -
MARRBEBEEREM2ES LB EEA
3,500,000 % 7T (AHE 749 27,332,000 7T) ©

BRI SEMAETER 2GS MBEE 2
EAIER AR MyHDEAITIER R BSRAA
BT ER o BB MyHD R BE B RN N A S FE R =
E-MERIBE T ZBNRET  HEER
HEREZERE AHIL - NARWEEE M
B MyHD IRIEIERIZBIE 2SR EK ©

NZZE—hE+-_A=+—0 XEEDHE
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31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 31. |RITRAEMEE
2019 2018
—E-hE —E2-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FET
Bank loans RITER 211,342 201,643
Other loans HEMER 241,271 257,428
452,613 459,071
Analysed as: DA
Secured B HE AR 201,878 137,659
Unsecured 4 3 3 250,735 321,412
452,613 459,071
Carrying amount repayable: AR T HMEENREE :
On demand or within one year BERFINRN—FR 441,045 454343
In more than one year but not more than two years #2838 — F BT % A M E 11,568 4,728
452,613 459,071
Less: Amount due within one year shown under B RMEBAGEIE TR
current liabilities —F AR ERIE (441,045) (454,343)
Amount due after one year —FIE T HH KB 11,568 4,728
The range of the effective interest rates on the Group’s bank and other REBRTREMEENERFNEHENT :
borrowings are as follows:
2019 2018
—E2-0F —E-N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TERT FAET
Variable interest rate borrowings FEEE 1.65%-10% 2.32%-10%
The security of bank borrowings is set out in note 42. IRITREEEAE M EE42 -
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32. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION
The Group have defined benefit pension plan, covering substantially all
of its qualified employees in India. The amounts of employee benefit
obligation recognised in the statement of financial position represent
the present values of the unfunded obligation.

The defined benefit obligation was determined based on actuarial
valuation performed by Charan Gupta Consultants PVT LTD, an
independent actuary, whose registered office is located at B-40,
Sector-52, Noida-201 307.U.P., using the projected unit credit method.

The components of net benefit expenses in profit or loss and the amounts
recognised in the statement of financial position are summarised as
follows:

(@)  The provisions for defined benefit obligation recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position are shown as follows:

32. AERBAERE

AEBEARERIBAEE - REBKID
REENEEREE °BAE7IF#/RE‘%EEW (=
BREMNETSBEERMREENIRE -

FLE AR E A TR I T8 32 45 B Bl Charan Gupta
Consultants PVT LTDE AR ERE B A #E
RFEE B EE T ° Charan Gupta Consultants PVT
LTD &9 : i 25 B2 12 72 B-40, Sector-52, Noida-201
307.UP. -

MRIBERIE T B0 )FHR M AR B ED 9 DA K BA 75 iR
MRPERN SR AINT -

@ RESUBRARERNRERNEME
I

2019 2018
ZE-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FAT
Non-current liabilities: FMEBEIE
Present value of unfunded obligation REFEEHNRE 33 136

(b)  The movements of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

b) FREBMEENHESOT

2019 2018

“E-NE —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FET

At beginning of the year REA) 136 103

Current service costs Eﬂ HA PR 75 B AR M 61
Re-measurement gain recognised in other REAM 2 ERE

comprehensive income B ETE WA (83) (18)

Written off 1 88 (60) -

Exchange realignment bE 7B (1 (10)

At the end of year RER 33 136
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32. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION (Continued)

(@)

32. AER/ANEME(E)

The net expenses recognised in the consolidated profit or loss are © MREeBERKERNFFRZOMOT
analysed as follows:

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FAET
Current service costs BV EA AR 75 A AR 41 61
Interest cost on benefit obligations ‘A E TR B A - -
Net benefit expenses F AR A B 2 41 o1
The principal actuarial assumptions used in valuing the provisions d HERBEARNATENEEEER

for defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period

are as follows:

A EZRERRMOT :

2019 2018

—E-hE —E-N\F

% %

[ERvid=4 ERNsd

Discount rate Bh IR =& 6.45 7.21
Rate of salary increase FeErx 11.00 11.00

The average duration of the provision for defined benefits at the

EmRERRNAERNBEENFHFH

end of the reporting period is as follows:. R
2019 2018
—B-hF —E-N\F
Number of employee EE A 14 115
Average past service (years) T 5 PR 7 B R (4F) 2.10 2.54
Average age (years) T F e (5%) 30.6 328
Average remaining working life (years) SR TEFEH(5) 27.4 252
Weighted average duration (years) InAE 1 F B () 4.36 438
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32. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION (Continued) 32. REBAEME (&)
(e)  The quantitative sensitivity analysis of the provisions for defined e MPHMEHRNATEINBENSHX
benefits at the end of the reporting period is as follows: EoNMT
Decrease in Increase in
provisions for provisions for
Increase defined benefit Decrease defined benefit
in rate obligation in rate obligation
RERA RERA
BRE BHEBERD TRz BHERELEM
% HK$'000 % HK$'000
R FET Aotk FET
Discount rate B IR =X
At 31 December 2018 R-T—)\F
+=-—A=+—H 0.5 (5) 0.5 5
At 31 December 2019 RNZTE—NE
+ZA=+—H 0.5 ) 0.5 4
The sensitivity analysis above has been determined based on a THMBRESWDREBEEZEREN WS
method that extrapolates the impact on the provisions for defined HARBEAE AT H A TENEED
benefits as a result of reasonable changes in key assumptions SEWHMET -

occurring at the end of the reporting period.
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33. LEASES
HKFRS 16 was adopted on 1 January 2019 without restatement of
comparative figures. For an explanation of the transitional requirements
that were applied as at 1 January 2019, refer to Note 2(a)(i) to the
consolidated financial statements. The accounting policies applied
subsequent to the date of initial application, 1 January 2019, as disclosed

33. HE

EREMBMELNE TN _T—NE—A
-

— BER®A

S BB ERT c BER_F

—NEF-A—HERNBEEERNEE B
2HEAPBERRME 200 - REXERA
H-F-NF— A - BREANSTTHERH

in Note 4(g). FE4g) B -

31 December 1 January
2019 2019
—E-NEF —E-AF
+=—A=+—8 —HA—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER FET
Current liabilities VEIR=RE 4,545 1,897
Non-current liabilities FMEBAE 7,714 5481
12,259 7,378

Future lease payments are due as follows: RRAEFBEEEERAT ¢
Minimum lease Present
payments Interest value
REHSERE B B{E
31 December 31 December 31 December
2019 2019 2019
S e .
+t=A=+-A +=A=+—-B +=A=t+-—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT
Within 1 year —F K 4,739 194 4,545
After 1 year but within 2 years —FHRERWENRN 4,049 110 3,939
After 2 years but within 5 years WEBRBERAEFR 3,836 61 3,775
12,624 365 12,259
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33. LEASES (Continued) 33. ME (&)

Minimum lease Present
payments Interest value
BEBERE B B{E
1 January 1 January 1 January
2019 2019 2019
—E-hF —E-NF —E-AF
—RA—H —HA—H —A—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FTHET THER FET
Within 1 year —F R 1,955 58 1,897
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERWERN 1,955 35 1,920
After 2 years but within 5 years MEBEBERAEFA 3,586 25 3,561
7,496 118 7,378
Minimum lease Present
payments Interest value
KRB ERE A 2R =]
31 December 31 December 31 December
2018 2018 2018
—T-N\F —T-N\F —T-N\F
T A=t+—HB+tZA=+—HB+ZA=+—H
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHETT FET FET
Within 1 year —FNR 1,955 58 1,897
After 1 year but within 2 years —FHEBERMEA 1,955 35 1,920
After 2 years but within 5 years MEBRERAEFRN 3,586 25 3,561
7,496 118 7,378
The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the cumulative effect NEBFRAEAZE LB NERESEMBERS
approach and adjusted the opening balance at 1 January 2019 to HB|E 165 WHABR -_FT—hLE—H—H
recognise lease liabilities relating to leases which were previously M HER W45 88 ATE R e R AR IE B S @18 17

classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. These liabilities have ol AKEHENEENHERRE - %S
been aggregated with the brought forward balance relating to lease EOHEEDEAMEHEEAENHEERBAD
previously classified as obligation under finance lease. Comparative FEpELs St RN -_E—-N\E+-_A=+—H
information as at 31 December 2018 has not been restated and relates Eﬁttiﬁé{ﬂjﬂﬁiﬁj EEEgI D EAREM

solely to the lease previously classified as finance lease (Note 2(a)(i)). EMBEEARM (ME20)0) °
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33. LEASES (Continued)
Operating lease
The Group as lessee:
At 31 December 2018, the Group had outstanding commitments for
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
in respect of rented premises which fall due as follows:

33. HE (&)
RIS
KEBIEBETN -
R-E—N\F+-A=+—0  NEERET
A HCLTE  BRERERN TFIEEE S
MR RS EREREERENT :

2018
—E-N\#F
HK$'000
FAT
Within one year —F R 3,164
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERWERN 38
3,202
Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for its KERESRIRERNEBRERAEMERESD
office premises. As at 31 December 2018, the leases are negotiated for e RZZE—N\F+ZA=+—8 HEH
terms ranging from one to two years and rentals are fixed over the lease BEREMFEIE  HEHAESERE -
terms.
The Group as lessor: FEFERHAA -
Property rental income earned from leasing of the Group’s investment ilﬁqﬁ%ﬂﬁgl&ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁ’\ﬁ@%ﬂﬁuﬁj\
properties during the year was HK$16,148,000 (2018: HK$10,891,000). 516,148,000 7L ( =& — J\4F © 10,891,000 /%8
The properties held by the Group have committed tenants for the next JL) ° $§%lﬁﬁv¢@%ﬁ@ﬂi%— —+HEAH
one to twenty years. IR -
At the end of the reporting period, the undiscounted lease payments REEER  AKERBEEBEHEFET LA

receivable by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

AR S HE AR R EAR B WK RE R A B 5K0R
LU

2019 2018

—E-AE AL

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Within one year —F N 18,398 11,509
After 1 year but within 2 years —FHRERMEA 14,987 10,324
After 2 years but within 3 years MFEBRBER=ZFNA 14,537 7,621
After 3 years but within 4 years =FREROFENR 11,295 7,328
After 4 years but within 5 years MEZEBERAFER 9,350 4,526
After 5 years hFiE 32,579 16,372
101,146 57,680
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34. SHARE CAPITAL 34. g
Number of shares Amount
&l -4 ok
HK$'000
FHET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each FREE10/E A E B
Authorised: VETE ¢
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018, RZZE-NF—H—B"
1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019 —E2-N\F+=ZA=+—8"
—E-NF-—A—HBHEK
—E-hF+ZA=+—H 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRERE
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018, RZZE—NF—-—H—H"
1 January 2019 and 31 December 2019 —E-NF+=ZA=+—8"
ZE-NWF-A—BK
ZE-hF+ZA=+—8 3,278,825,335 327,882
35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 35. HEKRBE QT
(@)  During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group disposed of @ HE-_Z—NF+-—A=+—HItF

the entire equity interest in FLT Hong Kong Technology Limited.
The net assets of FLT Hong Kong Technology Limited at the date

of disposal were as follows:

€ AREE D I E ERFLT Hong Kong
Technology Limited &) &= ZB AR A A %5 © FLT

Hong Kong Technology Limited 74 i & H Ef

MEEFENT

HKS'000

FAETT
Trade receivables FEWE 5 IR 975
Other receivables HAth fE IR 319
Trade payables ERTE S ER )
Other payables and accruals HAb I R EETIER (350)
Net assets disposed of &M EEFE 940
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries included in profit or loss FFABRPEEME A REE (940)
Total consideration R (E -
Net cash outflow arising on disposal HEEEMNRESRLIFE
Cash consideration HeRE -
Bank balance and cash disposed of FIRERITEFRRS -
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35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
(b)  During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group disposed
of the entire equity interest in Speed Connection Group Limited,
Ocean QOasis International Limited (incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands), Ocean QOasis International Limited (incorporated
in the United Arab Emirates) and MyHD (collectively referred to
“SCG group”). The disposal transaction was completed on 25 June
2019 (the “Disposal Date"). The net liabilities of SCG group at the

Disposal Date were as follows:

35. HEKEXR (&)

HE_Z-hE+-_A=1+—1tFE K
SEEEENEBEBEBR AT - Ocean
Qasis International Limited ( A 3 & iz 22 B¥
B 5T fit X 32 ) * Ocean Qasis International
Limited (7P f (R 56 & 28 = B SE A SZ)
MMyHD (5578 & [SCGE B J) /) 2 A%
Aigzm e HERXRSGR -_ZE—NLF XA
ZH+HRBA(HEAH]) EK - SCGEHE
REERENAEFENT :

HKS$'000

FET
Goodwill* R _
Inventories FE 3,145
Trade receivables FEWE 5 RN 17,368
Other receivables = G 4,627
Cash and bank balance Re RIRITET 1,558
Trade payables FERTE S ER (133,414)
Other payables and accruals EmEMAZIEREFTIEEB (33,607)
Net liabilities disposed of Frt &/ aEF5E (140,323)
Non-controlling interest SRR =R 391,442
Loan receivables due from SCG group (note 22 iii)) FEU SCG & B 2 B3 (B = 22i) (429,410)
Provision for financial guarantee (note 30) B T E AR ¥4 (P52 30) 27332
Cost of disposal HE R R 1,011
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries included in profit or loss S ABRAHEME A FE (MR 10)

(note 10) 149,948
Total consideration R E -
Net cash outflow arising on disposal HEEANRESRLFEE

Cash consideration (US$1) RHEREOET) -

Bank balance and cash disposed of FTEERITETERES (1,558)

(1,558)

*

was fully impaired as at 31 December 2018.

Goodwill allocated to the cash generating unit of satellite TV broadcasting

* NEEZHEERERZRELELZHE

ERZE-NF+_A=+—HFHHE -
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35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

35. HEKBEXT (&)

() During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group disposed of O HZEZZ—N\F+ZA=Z+—BItF
the entire equity interest in TRT Business Network Solutions, Inc.. € REEE & TRT Business Network
The net assets of TRT Business Network Solutions, Inc. at the date Solutions, Inc.#) & #B M& A & #= ° TRT
of disposal were as follows: Business Network Solutions, Inc. A & H Bf

WEEFENAT

HKS'000

FHET
Trade receivables FEWE 5 R 2,070
Other receivables H fth jE W 3B 178
Cash and bank balance RERIBITER 41
Other payables and accruals HtENFIEREFIER 42)
Net assets disposed of T EMEEFE 2,247
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries included in profit or loss FFAERNEENERREE (2,247)
Total consideration wRE -
Net cash outflow arising on disposal HEEANRES ML FE
Cash consideration HeRE -
Bank balance and cash disposed of L ERITEFRES (41)
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36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF ERERERZME

CASH FLOW

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

EREEBELNBEHR

Obligations
Bank and under finance
other leases/lease
borrowings liabilities
&
RITR HERE
Hita & HEASE
(note 31) (note 33)
(Bt &E31) (M 3E33)
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
At 1 January 2018 R-—ZE—N\&F—A—H 393,153 9,261
Changes from cash flows: KEBE e E
— Proceeds from new bank loans — ERITERAERIE 301,274 -
— Repayment of bank loans —EERRITEX (233,774) -
— Repayment of obligations under finance leases ~ — {8 3% g & 0 & A& & - (1,955)
Total changes from financing cash flows KERMERERE 2 ZBEE 67,500 (1,955)
Exchange realignment PE 5 38 (1,582) 72
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 RZE—N\F+_A=+—HBHK
Z—-NF—H—H 459,071 7378
Changes from cash flows: REREREZEY
— Proceeds from new bank loans — HERITERMERIE 56,122 -
— Repayment of bank loans —EERITER (59,273) -
— Payment of interest element of lease liabilities ~ — XN E & EF B2 5 - (221)
— Payment of principal element of lease liabilities — X EAEBEARE I D - (3,663)
Total changes from financing cash flows KERMERSTEZEHRE (3,151) (3,884)
Exchange realignment IE 5 38 & (3,307) 576
Other changes Hith & &)
— Finance charges on lease liabilities —MHE fé 1$ BhE T H - 221
— Recognition of lease liabilities —RERMEAE - 7,968
Total other changes Hi#emEs - 8,189
At 31 December 2019 R—ZT—hF+=-_A=+—8H 452613 12,259
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_Z-NAF+-A=Z+—BILFE

37. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. EXERER

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes
the borrowings disclosed in note 31, and equity reserves attributable
to owners of the Group, comprising issued share capital and various
reserves and retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a regular
basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company consider the

cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based

AEBEEREEAURRANEE AT IAFEL
g BBEREBRERERIE R R -
AEBMBRREE FEEHRER/IE -

AEENEAGEERIEER (BRRME M
BENEE) RAKERE ARGHNEDHE
(BREBFTRARSBFHEGBARRERN)

ARARESERRFEARGERE - FRRa—
BB RRAREFEREAKAREZIERE
AHEENRER - REEENEZ  AREKE

B ET RBETHETRERRE EHF

capital structure through new share issues and the issue of new debt or B EH AR & RS o

on recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall

the redemption of existing debts.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

38. HIKRAMER

(a) Categories of financial assets and financial liabilities () TREERSREBENER

2019 2018
—E-NE —ZE—)N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET TETT

Financial assets at amortised cost REBERATECSREE
Trade and bills receivables JEWE 5 R 3k N e W E 207,495 287,022
Bank balance and cash WITHEGE AR S 66,840 72,695
Loan receivables JiE s B 3% - 8,794
Pledged bank deposits BEEFIRITER 3,973 1,643
Other receivables H & 508 58,563 24,455
Amount due from an associate JFE Wi — ] Bt 2 R B B9 0B 61,729 113,702
Loan to an associate LY —MEERARINER 22,130 22,137
420,730 530,448

Financial liabilities at amortised cost RBERAIEZSRMEAE
Trade and bills payables ENBSERRIEMNZE 302,048 385,904
Lease liabilities HMEAG 12,259 -
Obligation under finance lease BhEHE AR E - 7378
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 452,613 459,071
Other payables H o & 5B 89,702 119,318
856,622 971,671

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) HEERESEEERBE

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade, bills and

other receivables, loan receivables, loan to an associate, amount

due from an associate, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and

cash, trade, bills and other payables, lease liabilities/obligation

under finance leases and bank and other borrowings. Details

of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.

The risks associated with these financial instruments and the

policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The

management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure

appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective

manner.

AEENTIECRHTARERKE SR
R BREEREMEYRIE  BRE
BT EBEQRNER  Bl—
B2 AR A - S HERRITER
RUTEFENAES  BNESERN - BN
EEMEMENTKE HEEE ME
MEAZARRITREMER - ZEF2
BMTANFBREBEMERE - TXH
PIEZE TR T AR B ER R nF
EZFRBHNEK EEEEEREE
ZERR - ARER M B RO R EUE &
HFE Bt o
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 38. M EMEE (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) HMBEREEBERKE(E)
(Continued)
Market risk 5 2 b
() Currency risk () EEEkE
The Company's subsidiaries have foreign currency sales and RAERBIMBREHEITINEEE
purchases, which expose the Group to foreign exchange U & B [ ) SN L o
risk.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency (as NIREEHASK - REBE AINE (B
in relation to the functional currency of the relevant group REBSEERINEEEMS )T
entities) denominated monetary assets and monetary EMNEYEENEEBENERAE
liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows: m
Sensitivity analysis BRRE DT
Assets Liabilities
BE &81&
2019 2018 2019 2018
ZE-NF |ZE-)\F | ZB-NEF | ZTE-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FTER TAET FTER TAET

RMB AR 80 5875 36,892 18,328
usb ETT 42,773 54,283 298,243 286,260
The Group is mainly exposed to USD and RMB relative to the AEBTEMYEEAEEERMN
functional currency of the relevant group entities, which are e EB(EEN R AARB KE
mainly RMB and USD respectively. The Group does not have TL)EENETRARERE - &
a formal foreign currency hedging policy. But management SN B 1B I 4 TF 5 HNBE AR IR
monitors the Group's foreign currency exposure and enters BEERESEEARSEMNINERR
into forward contracts when movements in the exchange THRERE(BEEREEET®H
rates are outside management's expected range in order to BRI RIS A - URREEZR
minimise the exchange rate risk. 8 o
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(b)

0]

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
increase and decrease in functional currency of respective
group entities against USD and RMB. 5% is the sensitivity
rate used and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes both USD and RMB monetary
assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period.
A negative number below indicates an increase in loss
where USD and RMB strengthen 5% against the functional
currency. For a 5% weakening of USD and RMB against the
functional currency, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the loss for the year.

38. MIKEBERE (&)
BEEKREEEERBE (E)

(b)

ik ()

0

BEERER(8)

BRE DT (8)
TRV ASER S EE TR
BB AETRARE AR TH5%
B BRRE o 5% BFTIRANBRE -
REEEEHINEERMATEEE
BE)MIE L M - WERE SR
FeERERREPRUELRARE
FIEMEREERBE - TXAIR
BEEETRARBEINGEER
FHo%E - SEIBEM - ERET
RAREH L E M TR 5% -
BIAT gE ¥ A F [ S 1B E A MRS I Af
R 2 -

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHERT FAETT

Increase in loss for the year: NEE BB
— RMB — AR (1,380) (396)
—USD — X (12,847) (11,585)
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(b)

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate loan to an associate, loan receivables
and pledged bank deposits set out in notes 21, 22 and 26.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank balances and bank and other
borrowings as set out in notes 27 and 31 respectively. It
is the Group's policy to keep the majority of balances and
borrowings at floating rate of interest so as to minimise the
fair value interest rate risk.

The Group currently does not have any interest rate
hedging policy in relation to interest rate risk. The directors
of the Company monitor the exposure on an ongoing
basis and will consider hedging significant interest rate risk
should the need arise.

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of LIBOR arising from the
Group's USD borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis

The bank balances of the Group carry floating-rates of interest
and have exposure to cash flow interest rate risk. The directors
of the Company consider the exposure is insignificant and
therefore no sensitivity analysis is presented.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank and
other borrowings. The analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of liabilities outstanding at the end of the reporting
period was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis point
change is used and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.
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38. MIKEKRERE (&)
BEEKREEEERBE (E)

(b)

ik ()

(i)

=Rk
ANEERMFE2 -~ 22 K265 H 4
FT—EBE RNEBER - B
BERREEFRITERMEYAFE
BEFEER -

REBE TS R A W27 & 31 BTk
FERITHEFHIBTREMER
HHEBReRENERRE - REBER
HEEXEM/FIEEFTREEN
AR QT EFRRER -

7 5% 1835 B 0 488 3 ) =R e B T
AR RERBOR - RAREFH
BERARINEZRSEELH T
BEAMERER -

AEERSRENXAREIESES
RASEMNETEREMELBBR
TTRIZEFEHIKE -

BURE DT
REBBWRITHEFIRT N KRG
B YEERSREN KRR - A&
NEEFERA ZARYTEKX
B 2 FIE T BRE DA o

TXEREDMERFEIRITRE
& EPTE S F RERME © %D
IR EMRARRBERE
SRA/EFRBESHEMIEL 50
EEHSARANES R - KKE
BN KM LA E B M IED
H TS -
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

B EREE ()
(b) BHISEMREEEERBR ()

Market risk (Continued) g E bk ()
(i) Interest rate risk (Continued) ()RR (4E)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) ﬁ(@zﬁ’\ﬁ (%)
A summary of the Group’s monetary liabilities at the end of AREER  AEEZEEREE
the reporting period that carried variable interest rate is as *E% (N
follows:
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Liabilities =K 452,613 459,071

Based on the above summary, if interest rates had been 50
basis points higher or lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December
2019 would increase or decrease by HK$1,760,000 (2018:
HK$1,833,000).

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of
counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations as at 31
December 2019 in relation to each class of recognised financial
assets is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position. In order to minimise
the credit risk, management of the Group has delegated a team
for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at the end of
the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses
are made for irrecoverable amounts.

B DM E - ) IG5 50

B2 MAABEMAERETE
AAEREHEE—_T—hhF+=A
ST BLEFENEEZEINK
B 1,7600008 T (ZF — N\ F -
1,833,000 7L) °

fu/\ﬂ&

E-hE+-A=+—8 £&£H
ﬁﬁﬁgﬁ’]ﬂ—jﬁ EERBRBESED®ER
CREEMNHFHARERBITEMT  ER
CHARAMBRARAMIEBEE
WEEEE - RREEERR  A5EE
BECEE—HAEBREECEER
EEZREMERER - LHEARKER
RETBREIBEER o 1IN NEH
RREBRRBRHNSEENE SEEAA
W el e g8 - AR AT KB £ BB 1E
THBERAE -
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Trade receivables

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using

a provision matrix.

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at

B EREE (E)

(b) BHISEMREEEERBE ()
ZEmR ()
) EREKER

AEBRBEN2HBEHESEER
ME Rt ERKE Z RS ZJ%%E%%
B ZeRVERBREEE -

TREH#HEBEASER-FT—NF
TZA=+T—HRKESERZE

31 December 2019: ERELFEREEBIBECER

Expected loss  Gross carrying Loss
rate (%) amount allowance
a5t & 18 R (%) BIREE BiERE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHER FET
Not past due K %1 HR 3% 91,703 2,600
Less than 3 month past due BEATNE=1EA 4% 70,249 2,608
3 to 6 months past due mB=="1EA 3% 33,022 883
Over 6 months past due m BRI 8 A 87% 145,497 126,885
340,471 132,976

As at 31 December 2018 R-BE-NE+—A=1+—8:
Expected loss Gross carrying Loss
rate (%) amount allowance
TE &t BT 18 & (%) MEREE EERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Not past due 7K % EA 2% 134,642 2,028
Less than 3 month past due wHEANE = A 4% 95,641 3,888
3 to 6 months past due BMEA=Z 7X@ A 8% 32,028 2,681
Over 6 months past due m AR AN E A 80% 164,545 131,237
426,856 139,834
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 38. M EMRERE (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BIEEREEEENRBEEK(E)
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) =ERER (&)
(i) Trade receivables (Continued) (i) B 5 REBEER ()
The ECLs are disaggregated by different customer segments FEHEEBEETRRCEN D
as follows: (N
Media entertainment platform related products IREEIRLE T ZE R on
As at 31 December 2019: RZZB-NAF+ZRA=+—8:
Expected loss  Gross carrying Loss
rate (%) amount allowance
FEFTE B R (%) HWERTEE EiE R
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHExT
Not past due 7K %8 Hf 6% 11,522 670
Less than 3 month past due BmBAE=EA 6% 11,628 748
3to 6 months past due BHI = = N A 29% 401 116
Over 6 months past due AN E A 92% 57,618 53,041
81,169 54,575
As at 31 December 2018: RZZE—NF+-A=+—8:
Expected loss Gross carrying Loss
rate (%) amount allowance
TE 5T BT 18 3 (%) AR E EriE A
HK$'000 HKS$'000
BT FET
Not past due 7K 4 Hf 6% 12,080 762
Less than 3 month past due BmBTNE=@A 6% 10,195 595
3 to 6 months past due #wHI= = 5@ A 37% 6,351 2,376
Over 6 months past due A AN E A 86% 115,119 98,810
143,745 102,543
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(b)

21 0 Sandmartin International Holdings Limited / 2019 Annual Report

(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Trade receivables (Continued)

Other multimedia products
As at 31 December 2019:

38. MIKEKRERE (&)

(b) BBEBREREBRERBEK(E)

=EEmE (&)
() EHREIERRGE)
Hth Z IR A E dn

R=B-AE+ZA=+—8

Expected loss  Gross carrying Loss
rate (%) amount allowance
BB E (%) BEHEE BiERE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHER FET
Not past due 7K %8 Hf 7% 10,996 776
Less than 3 month past due BmBAE=EA 17% 10,347 1,775
3to 6 months past due wHI= = N E A 13% 3,319 427
Over 6 months past due AN E A 88% 84,195 73,765
108,857 76,743

As at 31 December 2018: RZZE-—NF+ZA=+—H:
Expected loss Gross carrying Loss
rate (%) amount allowance
T8 5t ET 18 2 (%) HEREE BiERE
HKS$'000 HK$'000
THETT TETT
Not past due 7K 48 Hf 7% 15,928 1,060
Less than 3 month past due BmBATE=A 13% 22,165 2,775
3 to 6 months past due #wHI = = 5@ A 10% 1,781 176
Over 6 months past due A AN E A 92% 34,673 31,795
74,547 35,806
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Trade receivables (Continued)

Satellite TV equipment and antenna products

As at 31 December 2019:

38. BiIERER (&)
(b) BEEARSEAERRE (E)

EEmR (&)

0

B 5 YRR ()

HEBERHRFIGES
WF-AFT=A=+—8

Expected loss  Gross carrying Loss
rate (%) amount allowance
BB E (%) BEHEE BiERE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHER FET
Not past due 7k 80 Hf 2% 69,185 1,154
Less than 3 month past due BmBAE=EA 0% 48,274 85
3to 6 months past due BHI= = N E A 1% 29,302 340
Over 6 months past due A HEARE N E A 2% 3,684 79
150,445 1,658

As at 31 December 2018: RZZE—NF+ZA=+—H:
Expected loss Gross carrying Loss
rate (%) amount allowance
T8 5t ET 18 2 (%) HEREE BiERE
HKS$'000 HK$'000
THETT TETT
Not past due K 80 B 0% 103,886 23
Less than 3 month past due BmBTE=@A 0% 62,858 237
3 to 6 months past due #wHI= 2 5@ A 0% 23,832 65
Over 6 months past due A AN E A 0% 13,856 39
204,432 364
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Trade receivables (Continued)
Satellite TV broadcasting
As at 31 December 2018:

38. BiIERER (&)
(b) BIEEARSEAERRE(E)

EEmR (&)

0

B2 MRS (E)

HEERERF

R=B-NE+ZA=+-8 :

Expected loss Gross carrying Loss

rate (%) amount allowance

TE & B 18 & (%) AR A E1ERE

HKS'000 HK$'000

FAT FAT

Not past due 7K % Hf 7% 2,748 183
Less than 3 month past due BmBAE=EA 66% 423 281
3to 6 months past due wHI= F 5 E A 100% 64 64
Over 6 months past due AR AN E A 66% 897 593
4132 1,121

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 2 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the period
over which the historic data has been collected, current
conditions and the group’s view of economic conditions

over the expected lives of the receivables.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 38. M EMRERE (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) HREKRETEEERKE (&)
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) sERE G (&)
(i) Trade receivables (Continued) iy EIERERE)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade
receivables during the year is as follows:

FRNRBARKE SRR BRRE
BRzEomT

2019 2018
ZE-NF —E-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Balance at 1 January N—HA—HBZ2&% 139,834 148,611
Provision for/(reversal of) expected credit loss BEKEEBNEREE
from continuing operations EiEEE, () 5,832 (7,810)
Reversal of expected credit loss from ERIEEEEBD
discontinued operation FEEEEBIERED (1,140) (1,205)
Written off T 8 (11,114) -
Exchange realignment TE 5 & (436) 238
Balance at 31 December R+ -_A=+—Bz#&&% 132,976 139,834

The following significant changes in the gross carrying
amounts of trade receivables contributed to the decrease in
the loss allowance during 2019:

—  Origination of new trade receivables net of those
settled resulted in an increase in loss allowance of
HKS$4,692,000; and

— A write-off of trade receivables with a gross carrying
amount of HK$15,767,000 resulted in a decrease in
loss allowance of HK$11,114,000.

(ii) Loan receivable (i)
The Group has credit risk in respect of loan receivables. As at
31 December 2019, the loan receivables were classified as
financial assets at amortised cost. The measurement of loss
allowance are based on life time expected credit losses.

THIE KRR EAE 2 EA
EHER T - AFEREEA

— E4LXHESERERILOR
ZECREE S BN ERE
BN S 18 5 15 12 114,692,000 7%
T K&

—  WMOEERMABE A 15,767,0007%5
T2 B S RERRFTEEE
BEER 11,114,000 7T o

FEURE TR
NEBGEKE AT EERR -
RZE—NF+=ZA=+—8 &
WERDERIZEERAGTEZ S
MEE - BEBEVREDBRSZ
TEHEEEERTE -
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 38. M EMEE (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) HMBEREEBERKE(E)
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) 1EEmEE (&)
(i) Loan receivable (Continued) (i) FEWEFR(E)
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of loan FREBENE SRR ZEEEE
receivables during the year is set out in note 22(iv). AR B EE T 223v) ©

As at 31 December 2019, management was in the opinion
that the Debtors were in serious financial problem and as
such, life time ECLs was recognised for this debt instrument.

(i) Amount due from/loan to an associate (iif)

The Group is also exposed to credit risk through its loan to
an associate and amount due from an associate. The Group
measures |oss allowance for trade receivables from amount
due from an associate at an amount equal to life the ECLs,
which is calculated using a provision matrix.

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables from

amount due from an associate:

As at 31 December 2019:

RZZE—-NF+—A=+—H &
B ERAER A L ERERENT S
MR8 - At - EFEIBEF T AR
REMBAREREEEHAE -

JEU — Rl & R RV FIE, 4R T —
A2 AR ER
AEBETHAGBT - BHERRNE
R Ui — T Bigh 2 ) B 5K TR T
XIEERR - AEEZBENEH
BEHEEER(MERBEHRERE
Bz e@ERE—HEE QT
ZIEWE 2R E 1R o

TR BEREAKBE AR EER
R BN —HEBE AR ZRKE S
RFEMEEERZER

R-F-NF+-_A=+—H8:

Expected loss  Gross carrying Loss

rate (%) amount allowance

A&t 18 R (%) MEREE BERE

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET THET

Not past due K 1 HR 0% - -
Less than 6 months past due BEAENEA 0% - -
Over 6 months past due # HA R B 7N A A 10% 63,285 6,351
63,285 6,351
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 38. M EMEE (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) HBEREEBERKE(E)
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERER (&)
(i) Amount due from/loan to an associate (Continued) (i) FEWR—FEEE A RRIE BT —
S R EER (&)
As at 31 December 2018: R-E—-NE+-_B=+—8":
Expected loss Gross carrying Loss
rate (%) amount allowance
TE &t B 18 & (%) AR A EERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT
Not past due K8 Hf 0% 69,093 -
Less than 6 months past due BN NEA 23% 31,570 7,291
Over 6 months past due B BRI E A 23% 21,198 4,896
121,861 12,187

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade
receivables from amount due from an associate during the
year is as follows:

FR - EE—HEBEATZEBEE
ZEFNEBEBRBERPEFHMT

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FEx FET

Balance at 1 January RN—H—Bz&# 12,187 4,087
(Reversal of)/provision for expected credit loss FAEHEEEE

during the year (B El), (5,836) 8,100

Balance at 31 December R+-_A=+—RB2&% 6,351 12,187

Net settlement of trade receivables resulted in a decrease in

BRI FRERERERR

loss allowance of approximately HK$5,836,000. &R 4 5,836,000 JT ©
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 38. M E P ERE (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) HMBEREEBERKE(E)
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERER (&)

(i) Amount due from/loan to an associate (Continued)

As at 31 December 2019, the loan to an associate was
classified as financial assets at amortised cost. The

measurement of loss allowance are based on 12 months

ECLs.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of loan

(ifi)

JEU — B & R A FIE, 48 T —
FE 2 ABNER(E)

RZZE—-NF+ZA=+—8 %
T-EBERRNERD B ARHE
HRAFEZEMEE - BHIEEHE
TR 1B AZEMEERRAE -

FR- BT HBERATNERZ

to an associate during the year is as follows: BEBERPEEHNT :
2019 2018
—E-NEF —ZE-N\F
HK$'000 HKS'000
FET FAT
Balance at 1 January N—HA—HBZ2&% 1,131 1,200

Provision for/(reversal of) expected credit losses FANBEHEERE

during the year B/ (Bm) 7 (69)
Balance at 31 December R+ -_A=+—Bz#&&% 1,138 1,131

(iv)  Other receivables and liquid funds
As at 31 December 2019, the Group has assessed that the
expected loss rate for other receivables was immaterial. Thus
no loss allowance for other receivables was recognised.
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Concentration of credit risk of trade and bills receivables

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 10% (2018: 11%) and
88% (2018: 41%) of the total trade and bills receivables was due
from the Group's largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively. The directors of the Company considered that the
receivable balance from these customers do not represent a
significant credit risk based on past collection experience and
no bad debts have been recognised against trade and bills
receivables due from these customers. Other than that, the Group

has no other significant concentration of credit risk.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors its
liquidity requirements and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management and adequate
committed facilities of bank and other loans from banks and
financial institutions to finance the Group’s operations and meet
its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. The maturity dates for other non-derivative
financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.

(b)

38. MKREBEE (&)

MHEEEE B RREBER (H)

EEEkR (&)
FWT%% AR EREENETEER
AEBERWE S EFREREEEED

EREERBRA10%(ZE—N\F : 11%)
% 88% (ZZF—N\F : 41%) * TinhlIRE
AEENZARPRARNRS - AAH
& %w% RIF BT WERE S - FEIZ
BEEFNERRBESKITEEXEEE
ﬁ’ﬁézjrﬁﬁdtﬁ%@ BEFPHEWE S
R R EW R FEREMER - Rtz
9I AEBWEEMBBAEFEERR °

REBRBECRRFE @ NEEER
HRBESFRITERFERERREH
7K:meﬁi&ﬁi#1,\% LA 2 R #R 1T
RemEEIEEARBRE - BN
AEBEEERENERBNRBRSE
EHEFK o

TRHANAKREFITES BB BRI
BREBMBER - TRENAEBE LA
FBELNFNREAY  ZeBRAGEDN
ATRBRSRERE - HIFTESH
BEMZIH A TIREREOERE MM
5 o
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 38. M EMEE (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) HMBEREEBERKE(E)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBEZ B ()
The tables include both interest and principal cash flows. To the E%Z%ﬁl];ﬁ@%ﬂ EASHRERE ° W
extent that interest flows are variable rate, the undiscounted MERERNFHFRTE ﬁlJﬂiTﬁfﬁ
amount is derived from interest rate at the end of the reporting 458 }fz REHARNFREAE o
period.
Liquidity risk tables mENE 2 REMmE
Less than Total
1 month or 1-3 3 months undiscounted  Carrying
on demand months tolyear Overlyear cashflows amount
—@BAUT =f8A AFRRE

ZRERE —Z2=fA E-£ BB-f REAH REE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR

31 December 2019 “E-hE
tZR=1-H

Non-derivative financial liabilities JE$7£ £ R & &

Trade, bills and other payables BN E 5 EH - B

EEREMENSTE 133,150 258,600 - - 391,750 391,750
Bank and other borrowings BITREMBES 15,160 20,074 418,121 11,816 465,171 452,613
Lease liabilities HEEE 405 809 3,525 7,885 12,624 12,259
148,715 279,483 421,646 19,701 869,545 856,622
31 December 2018 —E-NF
+-A=1+—8H

Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ JEATE SR B &
Trade, bills and other payables EE SRR BN

FEREMENTE 178,660 326,562 - - 505,222 505,222

Bank and other borrowings BORAMEE 88076 283071 115,445 4,986 491,578 459,071
Obligation under finance lease BEHERE 161 324 1470 5,541 7496 7378
266,897 609,957 116,915 10527 1,004,296 971671
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38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

()

Fair value measurement
This note provides information about how the Group determine
fair values of various financial assets and liabilities.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities that are recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities recorded
at amortised cost have been determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on a discounted cash
flow analysis, with the most significant inputs being the discount

rate that reflects the credit risk of counterparties.

39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to a share option scheme approved by a written resolution

passed by the shareholders of the Company on 17 March 2005 (the

“Option Scheme”) which has a term of 10 years, the Company may

grant options to the directors or employees, any business consultants,

business partners, suppliers, customers, agents or financial or legal

advisers, debtors or creditors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries,

for the recognition of their contributions, to subscribe for shares in

the Company with a payment of HK$1.00 upon each grant of options

offered.

38.

39.

Bt 7 R B B B ()

() AFEFE
A FREANEBNAET TR E/ME
ENBEATEZER -

ARBEERR/REFEA VBRI ILEH
RAABRNEREENRERABNKE
SHEEANTEES -

HHRERAANENEREERBENR
FELERITRARSAENN - KEA
REBHRIUET  ERREANBAE
RRREFHOEERRAITIRE -

URGO/ERTRIRS

BEARRRRERR_TZERF=-A+LHA
B 2 TR 5 B AL RO BB B AT B ([ B8 Bt
g ZEENHRA10F - AT ARAR
AHEEMAMBARIMNESHES - XK
A EBRM - HER - BFP  REHHY
BEOARER - B AREEAR L BIREN
RBARBED - (FRRFHAKEERNE
TE ° BB PTIR 2 BAEZAS 1,008 T ©
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39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 39. UM AERNSITNRS (&)

(Continued)
The exercise price of the share option will be determined at the highest
of:

(M) the closing price of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant;

(i) the average of closing prices of shares on the Stock Exchange on
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of grant of
the option; and

(i) the nominal value of the shares.

The share options are exercisable at any time during a period of not
more than 10 years from the date of grant, subject to the terms and
conditions of the Option Scheme, or any conditions stipulated by the
board of directors.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted shall not exceed 10% of the number of shares of the Company
in issue from time to time. Unless further shareholders’ approval has
been obtained pursuant to the conditions set out in the Option Scheme,
no person shall be granted an option which, if all the options granted to
the person (including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12
month period up to the date of grant are exercised in full, would result
in such person’s maximum entitlement exceeding 1% of the number of

issued shares of the Company.
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39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

The following table discloses movements of the share options of the

39. MR BERNAROR

& (&)

TREBFARNAGESTHEEMSAAFE

Company entitled by the Company's directors or employees during the % HE 5
year:
Number of share options BREHE
Closing Price
per share Outstanding at Lapsed,
immediately Outstanding at 31 December cancelled,  Outstanding at
prior to the 1January Lapsed 2018and or exercised 31 December
Date of grant dateofgrant  Exercise price* 2018 duringtheyear  1January2019  during the year 2019
RZZ2-N\§F
tZA=t+-H
R-B-NE k=2-h% RER RZB-nE
SERNAH -A-H -A-H B4A% tZA=t-H
REAH AERKTE THE HATE REREAHN WATHE  HERGTE HRTE
(Note a)
(fitEa)
Type of grantee
EHIN ¥l
Employees 22 October 2010 HK$2.050 HKS1.761 2,910,000 - 2,910,000 - 2,910,000
€& “E2-T% 205087 1761 B 7T
tAZtZH
Employees 1 April 2009 HK$1.07 HKS0957 116400 (116400) - - -
€& “ZTNEEA-R 1077 09578 T
Total 3,026,400 (116400) 2,910,000 - 2,910,000
@5t
Weighted average exercise price 173 176 176
mETHHEE
* Adjusted for the effect of the open offer completed on 19 July 2017. * PR ZZE—tFELATNETRHAREENTE
TEHFE -
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39. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
Number of share options (Continued)

(@)

The share options were vested in stages as follows:

On or after the second anniversary of 50%

the date of grant

On or after the third anniversary of remaining 50%

the date of grant

Options granted on 1 April 2009 and 22 October 2010 are
exercisable until 31 March 2019 and 21 October 2020, respectively.

All the share options has been vested and no share options
expenses recognised during the years ended December 2019 and
2018 in relation to share options granted by the Company. The
share option scheme was expired on 16 March 2015, however, all
share options outstanding at the end of the year are exercisable
until relevant dates detailed in note (a). The Company has no new
share option scheme as at 31 December 2019 and 2018.
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39. URHRERIRHIRS (&)

BREEE (&)

@ BRESEEEBNT
R HEREE — AT 50%
2 1%

mXE RHRE=RF
g 21K

£ 50%

R-ZBENFHNA-BR=F-FF T+
AZ+ZARHMBEREDBIATR-F
—NEZAZ+-BAR=-FFTFTA
—t+— BRI -

ERARBRLBRE mAEBKRED
B BEE_T-NFR-ZE-N\F
TZAZ+T—HLFE UEBEIRER
B - BRETESENR - —A%F=
HAt7xBEm - A RERMERAKR
TTEBRE R R E =M T @ F5I4ER A
HATE - AR T NFER-F
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40. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS 40. EBREFIFTE

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. The MPF Scheme is held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of an independent trustee. Under the rules of
the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the scheme at rates specified in the rules. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to make
the required contributions under the scheme. No forfeited contribution
is available to reduce the contribution paid and payable in the future
years.

The retirement benefit scheme contributions arising from the MPF
Scheme charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income represent contributions paid and payable
to the funds by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the scheme.

The employees employed by the operations in the PRC are members
of the state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the PRC
government. The PRC operations are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefit schemes to fund
the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefit schemes operated by the PRC government is to make
the required contributions under the schemes.

In addition, a subsidiary of the Company, Aggressive Digital Systems
Private Ltd., operates a defined benefit plan in India (Note 32) and certain
subsidiaries of the Company in other foreign countries are required to
contribute amounts based on employees’ salaries to the retirement
benefit schemes as stipulated by the relevant local authorities. The
employees are entitled to those subsidiaries’ contributions subject to the
regulations of the relevant local authorities.

AEESTAEBEERERRLBEES
g BETHIHBURAAZNNESE
2 WEAKENEENFRE - RERESDS
AHEIRARAN - BEREREAD AR RIETA
ML RAZET IR - AEE Y RBERTEN
E—EER A EELRENHR - AREA
ERRERD N RRKEFRMAHROE R

THR -

BB EMEEANGABER MM EE W
RHBRRORATE NI BIH R - AR EIZE 8
RAGTRAMN L R AZEESERHNEN REM

K -

AEERFREEXBMERNERD ATE
BT MBI R E R R EIHKE - 18
ATEREXRB AN REEFEN —ELL X
ERERRENE I HR - RBERENEHRE
F o NEEH BB SRR KRR ET SR
M — B RIRIEA B SR E RO R -

BEAN - A B R — M B A B Aggressive Digital
Systems Private Ltd. RENE B 1E— B A E @A 7
I (f5E32) - ARARRIREHAMGINE K EE
FWBARERREENHSABEMETER
FRET AR R IRAE R EIME B - RIBA M
FERIEN - EEAESZENBEARAH

Eo
A °
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41. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Transactions
The Group had the following related party transaction:

41.

AT HWREER
i x5
AEEDRTNTHBALZS :

Relationship Nature of transaction 2019 2018
7 REME —E-hF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FET
Associate Sales of goods 2,162 124,523
R /NS HE S m
Interest income 1,013 1,013
M EWA
Balances (i) #gR

Details of the Group's balances with related party are set out in the
consolidated statement of financial position and in notes 21 and
28.

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year was as follows:

REBHEBIB A THERFBENEA
B TS AR R DA R B9 5 21 K2 28 ©

(i) FEEBASNEHE
FRNESNTFTEEEEBHMKENME
N

2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-N\F

HK$'000 HKS$'000

FHERT FET

Short-term benefits 55 Hi & F 9,535 10,020
Post-employment benefits B BRIKEF 240 259
9,775 10,279

In the opinion of the directors, the remuneration of directors and
key executives is determined having regard to the performance of
individuals and market trends.
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42. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 42. EEEKHF
At the end of the reporting period, the following assets were pledged to RI|EHR  REBEH THEEERE  E45
secure banking facilities granted to the Group: FrERITIE ERER -
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Bank deposits RITER 3,973 1,643
Trade receivables FEUE 5 BR X 192,818 56,255
Property, plant and equipment ME - B MR E 26,785 30,658
Investment properties wEYE 147,622 149,738
Inventory T8 202,400 55,940
Note:  Banking facilities also secured by pledge of the Company’s interest in PBT. MizE : SRITEENEBEBALN T NIE BRI AR o
43. ARBITRATION 43. fhE

On 29 September 2011, the Group entered into a conditional
agreement (the "Agreement”) with an independent individual third
party (the “Original Shareholder”) and Technosat Technology JLT FZE
("“Technosat’, a company incorporated in Dubai, which was wholly
owned by the Original Shareholder), to subscribe for 375 new shares
in Technosat at a cash consideration of US$7,500,000 (equivalent to
HK$58,170,000), amounting to 15% of Technosat's enlarged capital.
Technosat is set up to be engaged in operation of digital TV and radio
platform, pay TV channel, and sales and supply of TV set top boxes.

As at 30 June 2012, the Group had paid a deposit of US$2,500,000
(equivalent to HK$19,467,000) to Technosat to acquire new shares
in Technosat which was fully provided for impairment in prior year.
Pursuant to the terms of the Agreement, the Group is required to pay
a further US$5,000,000 in relation to the subscription of this 15% equity
interest in Technosat. The subscription is not yet completed up to
the date of approval of this report as the conditions precedent of the
subscription of new shares in Technosat including the consent and
approval by government authority in Dubai has not been fulfilled.

N—_E——FHLAZ+NA KAEHE—
HEERE =7 ([ RBRR]) KTechnosat
Technology JLT FZE ([ Technosat] © — f& 7 #t
HEAMKIH AR ARRREEHB)F]
SN—HEBENHE(TZBRD - LEBEeR
187,500,000 2 7T (18 & 12 58,170,000 7% 7T ) R FE
Technosat 375 A% %A% » Bl Technosat £&¢#E A IR A
#J15% ° Technosat KPS B K Bt B2 EHT
EREEETZ  NBERBENRIEE R
JEHTES -

NZZE——FNA=Z1+H AEEEH
Technosat >z 15t 5] #£2,500,0003% 7t & R
19,467,000 7T ) * LAYHE Technosat K FTA% + 5%
LR E R A — FREFHERERE - BIBZ
TR - AN E ZEBEFREE Technosat 7% 15%
A& A fE 2 — P 2+ 5,000,000 F 7T © BB TEK
R Technosat 37 A% B9 50 )R 6 14 (B FEBUS A 57
RSB FIR R B R &) MAREN - WRESE
EREERNREBIAEE BRERTHK o
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43. ARBITRATION (Continued)

Despite the Group's repeated request for information, there were
no satisfactory response from the Original Shareholder or Technosat
(“Counterparties”) regarding the current status and the procurement
of obtaining government approval from the government authority in
Dubai. The Group has engaged legal counsel to act for the Group and
started dispute resolution proceedings against the Original Shareholder

and Technosat.

On 21 January 2013, the legal counsel of the Original Shareholder and
Technosat served a notice to the Group's legal counsel for a claim on the
further payment of US$5,000,000 in relation to the subscription of this
15% equity interest in Technosat.

The Group's legal counsel has replied on behalf of the Group on 11
February 2013 in response to the claim of the Original Shareholder and
Technosat defending the claim as the directors of the Company consider
such claim invalid, as the conditions precedent of the subscription of
new shares in Technosat had not been fulfilled and constituted a breach
of the Agreement.

The Group’s legal counsel had repeated request on the Original
Shareholder and Technosat to commence the next step on mediation,
but there were no satisfactory response from the legal counsel of the
Original Shareholder and Technosat up to the deadline set by August
2014. At the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements,
the Group’s legal counsel confirmed that there was no update on the
arbitration.
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43. HE (&)

BREARNEE—FE2RKFAE L Technosat ([ £
FH DR HERECRIE FE BT ERPI IR R
REEESEEIE  EHFARBESARE
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2r o

RZE—=F—A=Z+—H EREXK
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P& 7 1 225 0 #E — 25 K78 5,000,000 T
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44. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 44, KAQTNEER B AT

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2019 and

2018 are as follows:

R NEFR=_E-N\F+=_A=+—8"
KRB TEMBRARFEBOT

Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid
Name of establishment/ Class of share capital/ Proportion of nominal value of issued share/
company operations shares held registered capital registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
FMAL/ KL/ BERSR BRARAR KAABEERTRAEE/
NEER mEny 85l RAE/ERER EalE-eN:olA] TEXH
2019 2018
ZB-hE —Z-)\F
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
ER omg| =B @B
Top Peaker Group Limited British Virgin Islands ('BVI)/  Ordinary 1S$10,000 100% 100% Investment holding
(‘Top Peaker') Hong Kong
ABEREE Lk 10000 7T REBR
(£BRu#E))/
i
Sandmartin (Zhong Shan) PRC Registered 15519,500,000 100% 100%  Manufacture of
Electronic Co, Ltd. * capital (Note 1) electronic goods
PLESTEFLH il EMER 19500000 % 7T HET TR
ERAE k)
Pro Brand Technology (China) PRC Registered RMB27,000,000 59.1% 591%  Manufacture and
Co, Ltd.* capital (Note 2) trading of electronic
accessories
PLEEE FREERAR ke EMER AR 2700000070 BTG
(fir2) MES
SMT Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 100% 100%  Trading of
electronic goods
EHRBEERAT & LRk 2ET EfEmES
SMT Electronic Technology Limited Cayman Islands/Taiwan Ordinary USS1 100% 100%  Trading of
electronic goods
Meks/ /22 LEk (EI EfEmES
Note 1: Sandmartin (Zhong Shan) Electronic Co,, Ltd. is registered as a limited liability feE1: RILEFTEFTHBERARGZMA—HBERE
company (wholly foreign-owned enterprise). ERRNEBEERE) -
Note 2: Pro Brand Technology (China) Co., Ltd. is registered as a limited liability company k2. PILEEEFREARARZMA—HERER

(wholly foreign-owned enterprise).

*  Foridentification purpose only

DR SIEBELRE) ©
* O ERES
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44. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 44, KPATNEEME AT (F)

(Continued)
Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid
Name of establishment/ Class of share capital/ Proportion of nominal value of issued share/
company operations shares held registered capital registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
FMAL/ KL/ BERS BRARAR RAAKEERTROEE/
NEER mEny 5l RA/ERER & A Al TEER
2019 2018
ZE-hE ZE-N\E
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
E# B & E# ]2
SMT (Macao Commercial Macau Quota capital MOP100,000 100% 100%  Trading of
Offshore) Limited electronic goods
T ORMEEE2RE) il BERA 1000002 P9 7T ETEMES
BRAHE
PBT Cayman Islands/USA Ordinary/ 15520,000,000/ 59.1% 59.1% Investment holding
Preference 15$9,759,203 and trading of
satellite TV
equipment and
antenna
BENK Reks/ %8 Lak/ 20000000 7T,/ RABBRUR
BER 9759203 % 7T HEERRER
AEES
PBI USA Ordinary USS1 59.1% 59.1%  Trading of satellite TV
equipment and
antenna
£ LRk %7 HEIRRER
AEES

228 Sandmartin International Holdings Limited / 2019 Annual Report




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
B 5 R R B o (47

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
BE-_ZE—NEFE+-_A=+—"HILFE

44. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 44. ZRENEEWE L E (&)

(Continued)

Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid
Name of establishment/ Class of share capital/ Proportion of nominal value of issued share/
company operations shares held registered capital registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
EMAYL/ AL/ BERG BRARMR ARAREERTRBER
RAER BEn 85 RE/EMEA &R A TEEH
2019 2018
—g-1% “3-NE
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
HE GF: ER %

Sksteck Inc. Taiwan Ordinary TWD225,000,000 59.1% 59.1%  Design, manufacture
and trading of
satellite TV
equipment and
antenna

KRBBERAERAE B2 TRR mak BEERRBR

225,0000007T RERE ¥
ERES

BCN Distribuciones, SA. Spain Ordinary EUR412,102 100% 100%  Researchand
development
and trading of
electronic goods

fispis LER 41210280 ETHmME
k25

Intelligent Digital Services GmbH Germany Ordinary EUR31,.250 100% 100%  Designand
manufacture of
electronic goods

2 LER 312508 T EFAmRE

Sino Light Enterprise Limited Hong Kong/PRC Ordinary HK$12,600 64% 64%  Inactive

EBCEERAF B/ Tk 126007 LEEH
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44. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

44, KRN ETERB LT ()

(Continued)
Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid
Name of establishment/ Class of share capital/ Proportion of nominal value of issued share/
company operations shares held registered capital registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
AR/ BT/ BERG BRTRAR ERAAREERTRAEE/
RAER Bend B RE/EMEA EaiE-e 4] TEEHR
2019 2018
Z2-hF —E)\F
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
HE & ER %
E-passing Co, Ltd. Taiwan Ordinary TWD100,000,000 100% 100%  Inactive
PRERNHERRA EE TRR mak BEXK
1000000007
Aggressive Digital Systems India Ordinary INR30,000,000 51% 51%  Trading of
Private Ltd. electronic goods
0 LRk 30000000 D £ HEETER
MyHD* UAE Ordinary AEDS50,000 - 51%  Satellite TV
broadcasting
Bkix:} TaR 50,000l ¢ 28 HEERER
bk
* During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group disposed of MyHD, details of * BE-_Z—NE+-_A=+—HIEE KEETD

the disposal are set out in note 35(b)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or assets and
liabilities of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at any time
of the year or at 31 December 2019 and 2018.
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44. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 44. ZRENEEWE L E (&)
(Continued)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material BEEARFEIEREZNIEZEB AT
non-controlling interests 1F
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the TREYNEEERIFERETNANEEIEEE
Group that have material non-controlling interests: (N EPNEIESES =
Proportion
Place of of ownership interest Profit (Loss)
incorporation and and voting rights held allocated to Accumulated
principal place by non-controlling non-controlling non-controlling
Name of company of business interest interests interests
FERERFEN
HEMA LR BEREERR TEEFERERN
NCIEE TEEENE RE-ER LB B (E18) Rt FERER
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
SE-RE -2 \F |ZB-NE |“T—\F |ZB-NEF [T N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHER FHET FTHER FHBT
PBT Cayman Islands/USA 40.9% 40.9% 11,673 (5,009) 89,496 79,718
[EEEERE53 HEeRs XH
Ocean Qasis Group* UAE - 49% (46,209) (102,409) - (346,513)
] Bt 25
Individually immaterial
subsidiaries (5,351) (7.977) (31,773) (27,039)
18 5l 1~ & Kt & 2 7]
Total
st (39,887) (115,395) 57,723 (293,834)
* Ocean Oasis Group consists of MyHD and Ocean Oasis International Limited * Ocean Oasis Group &% MyHD & Ocean Oasis

Summarised financial information in respect of PBT and Ocean Oasis

Group that have material non-controlling interests are set out below.

The summiarised financial information below represents amounts before

intergroup eliminations.

International Limited

HA BRI A 18 B RH M Ocean Oasis
Group H) A IS B R B AL AT © LA T BA 75 & BT
ETAKEBARNRRIELHNTHR ©
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44. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material
non-controlling interests (Continued)
Summarised financial information in respect of PBT and Ocean Oasis
Group that have material non-controlling interests are set out below.
The summarised financial information below represents amounts before
intergroup eliminations.

44, KRN ETERB LT ()

BEEARFERESNIZENBLAF
15 (#&)
B 8 R FE R s Y 18 B BHE K& Ocean Oasis
Group R BA 75 B RHE M A T o LA BF 75 8 KL
BAEEEARNR R MY HENEE -

PBT Ocean Oasis Group
HERR

2019 2018 2019 2018
ZE-NEF |ZE-)\F | ZB-AEF | ZTE-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FER| FEL| FER| FEx
Current assets REEE 524,065 514,381 - 31,284
Non-current assets EREBEE 82,741 85,473 - 1,839
Current liabilities mBAE (361,675) (394,681) - (733,857)
Non-current liabilities FEREBEE (30,651) (15,029) - -
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/(AE)FE 214,480 190,144 - (700,734)
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44. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material

44, KRBT ERB LT ()

BEERFEREZNIZEWB DR

non-controlling interests (Continued) H(E)
PBT Ocean Oasis Group
BEME
For the
period from
1 January
2019 to the
2019 2018 | Disposal Date 2018
B
“E-NF
—A—HE
ZHERH
“E-NE | ZE-NF LHHE | —F-N\F
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FAHT THER FAT
Revenue g 666,150 738,649 18,990 22410
Profit/(Loss) for the year/period REE/HEEHN(EE) 28,396 12,240 (94,315) (208,987)
Total comprehensive income TE W B 28,396 12,240 (94,315) (208,987)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from RKENATEENIE S
WA CR ) F 58
Operating activities R 33,242 (38,246) (26,902) (146,438)
Investing activities REED (13,632) (5,348) - (257)
Financing activities MEEH (2,297) 258 20,065 141123
17,313 (43,336) (6,837) (5,572)
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45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

45. A DR MBARRE

COMPANY
2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —F-N\F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FExT FHET
Investments in subsidiaries R B AR AIEE 197,818 197,818
Interest in an associate R —EEE 2 A R RS 76,600 67,800
Loan to an associate o A E1 R RN E’\JE\W\ 22,130 22137
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUS BT B A Bl By =X 98,103 280,627
Amount due from an associate JE I — RE Bt & 1 A E’] B 18,649 17,702
Other receivables H fb fE Uk B 1,233 2,485
Bank balances and cash RITHEGERR S 368 410
Total assets BEBE 414,901 588,979
Other payables Hoh jE < 3B (87,629) (84,271)
Borrowings BE (233,553) (234,927)
Provision for financial guarantee B 75 Y= (R BE A (27,332) (20,228)
Amount due to a subsidiary FE — M B A F M RIE (172,971) (223,758)
Total liabilities BEEE (521,485) (563,184)
(Net liabilities)/net assets (BEFEH) BE%E (106,584) 25,795
Capital and reserves AR A K
Share capital A% AR 327,882 327,882
Reserves (note) it (MY RE) (434,466) (302,087)
(Capital deficiency)/equity attributable to RRRHEEAER(EREL) R
owners of the Company (106,584) 25,795

On behalf of the directors

Hung Tsung Chin
¥
Director

EF
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45, STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Note: Reserves of the Company

45. A QBB R ()

MiaE © AREIREE

Share Contributed Share option Special  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
IR 43 %8 AR BRERE 155 & Rit R Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2018 R-ZZE—NEF
—HA—H 506,750 181,788 7,960 79,900 (1,028,605) (252,207)
Loss and total comprehensive 7% 4F & E5 18 [
income for the year 2N EE - - - - (49,880) (49,880)
At 31 December 2018 R-ZE-N\F
+=-—B=+—H 506,750 181,788 7,960 79,900 (1,078,485) (302,087)
Loss and total comprehensive 7N 4 [ &5 18 K2
income for the year 2HEKEAE - - - - (132,379) (132,379)
At 31 December 2019 R_ZE—hF
+-A=+—H 506,750 181,788 7,960 79,900 (1,210,864) (434,466)

The contributed surplus represents the difference between the consolidated

shareholders’ fund of Top Peaker and the nominal value of the Company's shares

issued to acquire Top Peaker at the time of a group reorganisation in prior years.

The special reserve represents the surplus arising pursuant to the capitalisation of

advances from shareholders as part of the group reorganisation.

BB ERIETop Peaker T AR E A S HBEFEE
B SRR AR 7 B UKEE Top Peaker M2 1THIAR (D FI{E
HRZEEE -

FrRlEFESRRBRBEEAN (AREEEN—
19) FREEER B A o
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ENFE+_ W +—BLFE

46. LITIGATIONS

(a)

HCMP 1044/2017

The Company was served an originating summons under section
740 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) (the
“Summons”) on 5 May 2017 filed by Fung Chuen as the plaintiff
(the "Summons Plaintiff’) against the Company as the defendant
under action number HCMP No. 1044/2017 in the High Court of
Hong Kong (the “Court”). Details of Summons are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 5 May 2017.

In the Summons, the Summons Plaintiff applied to the Court for,

among others, the following orders (the “Application”):

(i) The Summons Plaintiff and/or his authorised agent be
authorised to inspect and make copies of the documents in
relation to the investment in Dish Media and the debtors;

(i) The Summons Plaintiff and/or his authorised agent be
authorised to inspect and make copies of the documents in

relation to the investment in MyHD; and

(i) The Summons Plaintiff and his authorised agent be
authorised to inspect and make copies of the documents in
relation to the two open offers respectively announced by
the Company on 24 October 2016 and 20 March 2017

Pursuant to the order of the Court dated 17 October 2017
(the “Order dated 17 October 2017"), it was ordered that
the Company shall produce to the Summons Plaintiff those
documents listed in the schedule of the Order dated 17 October
2017. On 27 October 2017, the Company filed a notice of appeal
(the “Notice of Appeal’) to the Court for a stay of execution of the
Order dated 17 October 2017 pending the final determination of
the appeal.
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46.

SRR

(a)

HCMP 1044/2017

W_ZB—+ERARE  AAFKEIH
BRWEBREAN  [BEREAD AKX
REI(ERBEEAN) BHBEBRE AR
(I3EBT ) 37 7A 4% 5% A HCMP 1044/2017 Y
EBNTNED (B8 )E74016B T 2
RHFER([EE] - EREZHBHNA
RElHBAZE—tFRARRZAMH -

EERTD  BREREARNER AR (K
BE)A TS ([FRE])

) BEREAR/HEREREA
EREEH &EHS KR EDish
Media M &1 A2 X1F

(i) FREREARRERERIEAR
EREMREHARKREMHD Z
X R

(i) EREREAREXEREAERE
EHRENERAARRD IR -F
—ANFTAZTEAER-T—tF
—AZtHAMZMRARBEELZ
S e

BRBER AR T —tF T A+LH
mH<((Z2—tFE+At+ERERH
L) HESARAARERRE AR
R-E—tF+ AT ERZERHASHE
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46. LITIGATIONS (Continued)
(@) HCMP 1044/2017 (Continued)

On 15 December 2017, the Court held that the appeal had no
reasonable prospect of success and ordered that the Company'’s
application for stay be refused but that the time for the Company
to comply with the Order dated 17 October 2017 be extended to

5 January 2018.

On 22 December 2017, the Company amended the Notice of
Appeal and applied to the Court of Appeal of Hong Kong (the
“Court of Appeal’) for a stay of execution of the Order dated
17 October 2017 pending final determination of the appeal (the
“Stay Application”). Pursuant to order dated 22 December 2017,
an interim stay of the Order dated 17 October 2017 pending

determination of the Stay Application was granted.

At the hearing held on 17 April 2018, the appeal of the Stay
Application under action number CACV 240 of 2017 by the
Company was dismissed by the Court of Appeal and the costs of
the Stay Application was awarded to the Summons Plaintiff. On
11 May 2018, the Company had complied with the Order and
produced the documents as listed in the schedule of the Order

dated 17 October 2017 to the Summons Plaintiff.

(b) HCCW 207/2017

On 6 July 2017, the Company was served a petition for Winding-
up dated 5 July 2017 (the “Winding-Up Petition”) filed by Fung
Chuen (the "Petitioner”) against the Company, Mr. Hung Tsung
Chin (the “2nd Respondent’) and Ms. Chen Mei Huei (the “3rd

Respondent”) in the proceedings HCCW No. 207/2017.

46.

SRR ()

(a)

(b)

HCMP 1044/2017 ({&)
RZZE—tF+A+HB " ERRAE
FHREAEBFHKE  YHRSELEEAA
AIZHERD  MHARFETZT—+
FTATEAZERASHERITTES
—E—-N\F—HAAB-

RZE—tEF+A=Z+=H  ARQF
Bl ERBHNE X MEB LFER
(TEFRZER]D RBEREHT T —+tF
TATERZERAS  HEEELEHFBEER
ERAI(HMEBRFE] - RIEAHAS
T—tF+ AT ZHNERHS
TRNBHE T —tF+A+tRERH
LEEHERBTRBILESHAE -

RZE-NENA+HERARITZRA
o ARAREIBABEERBZ L (FAR
SRA T — EHFCACY 240) W LR AREE
o AEERFABRGHERFZ A
B-R_Z—\FRA+—H8 £AA7F
BETERHAS  WMERREARR
ZE—EF T AT EAERASHES
23t e

HCCW 207/2017
R-ZT—+F+ANA KAREER
BROIEBFBADR-_Z—tFEtAR
HRIEBTIRE - $ANA R - iR S A
(BB ADERREZEZL((E=%&
BADBENBEEEFE((FERER
£]) ' SRR AHCCW 207/2017 ©
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46. LITIGATIONS (Continued)

(b)

HCCW 207/2017 (Continued)

Pursuant to the Winding-Up Petition, the Petitioner petitioned
for (i) an order that the Company be wound up by the Court
under section 327(3)(c) of the Companies (Winding-Up and
Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32) (the "CWUMPQ") of
the Laws of Hong Kong; (i) an order that a liquidator be appointed
by the Court to investigate into the affairs of the Company upon
the Winding-up of the Company; (iii) an order that the 2nd and/or
3rd Respondents do account to the Company for such payments
or dispositions which they had procured to be made for their own
benefit and/or for the benefit of entities substantially owned or
controlled by them and/or other than for the Company’s proper
purpose and operation of its business; (iv) an order that costs
of the Petitioner and the Company be paid by the 2nd and 3rd
Respondents; and (v) such other order as the Court thinks fit and

appropriate.

On 10 July 2017, a summons to apply for a validation order
was issued by the Company, 2nd and 3rd Respondents. At the
hearing held on 17 August 2017, a validation order was granted
by the Court on the terms as follows: the following disposition
of property and transfer of shares of the Company shall not be
void by virtue of the provisions of section 182 of the CWUMPO (a)
payment made (or to be made) into and out of the Company’s
bank account in the ordinary course of business of the Company
between the date of presentation of the Winding-Up Petition and
the date of judgment on the Winding-Up Petition; (b) disposition
of property of the Company made (or to be made) in the
ordinary course of business for proper value between the date of
presentation of the Winding-Up Petition and the date of judgment
on the Winding-Up Petition; and (c) allotment and issuance of
1,967,295,201 shares of the Company pursuant to the Open
Offer announced by the Company on 20 March 2017 and use
of the proceeds from the aforesaid open offer by the Company.
The Court has also ordered the Petitioner to pay the costs of
the validation order to the Company, 2nd and 3rd Respondents
(collectively the "Respondents”).
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46. LITIGATIONS (Continued)

(b)

HCCW 207/2017 (Continued)

On 30 August 2017, the Company applied for another validation
order under section 182 of the CWUMPO, which provides that any
transfer of the shares of the Company shall not be void by virtue
of the said section. The validation order was also granted by the
Court on 25 October 2017.

On 4 December 2017, the Company filed and served its points of
defence (the “Points of Defence”).

At the case management hearing held on 25 April 2018, the Court
made an order that:

the Petitioner, the Respondents (collectively the “Winding-
Up Petition Parties”) do file and serve their respective list
of documents within 42 days after the date hereof, with
inspection to be conducted within 7 days thereafter;

the Winding-Up Petition Parties do file and exchange signed
witness statements as to fact within 70 days thereafter, i.e.
by 22 August 2018;

the Winding-Up Petition Parties do file and exchange such
witness statements in reply (if any) within 28 days thereafter,
i.e.by 19 September 2018

the witness statements filed with the Court do stand as
evidence-in-chief unless the trial judge directs otherwise;

the Winding-Up Petition Parties shall obtain counsel’s advice
(if necessary) by 28 November 2018; and all interlocutory
applications if so advised, shall be taken out within 42 days
thereafter,

the Winding-Up Petition Parties shall attend a case
management hearing on a date to be fixed in consultation
with counsel’s diaries not earlier than September 2018 with
30 minutes reserved;

46. EEEFER (&)

(b)

HCCW 207/2017 (&)
RZZE—+ENA=+H " KQFIRE
DR BB RFHETEO IEFI 5 1821& =
BERHERAUS EBEERSE ILLM
NELARRNE 2R R PR EEE AR -
%Eﬁé:ﬁftiJrﬂ:JrﬁEﬁ%iﬂ%
B o
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Xt
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46. LITIGATIONS (Continued) 46.

(b) HCCW 207/2017 (Continued)
7. there be liberty to apply; and

8. costs be in the cause.

On 27 September 2018, the Winding-Up Petition Parties filed and
exchanged the witness statements.

At the case management hearing held on 25 October 2018, the
Court made an order that:

1. the time for the exchange of the witness statement in reply
by the Petitioner be extended to 5:00 p.m. on 30 November
2018;

2. leave be given to the Winding-Up Petition Parties to set
down the matter for trial, with an estimate of 2 days before
a bilingual judge;

3. subject to the direction of the trial judge, witness
statements of the Winding-Up Petition Parties are to stand
as evidence-in-chief;

4, there be a pre-trial review 2 months before the trial is due to
commence;

5. the Winding-Up Petition Parties are to agree on English
translation, or obtain certified English translation of such
documents in Chinese as may be necessary;

6. the Respondents are to lodge the trial bundles with the
Court 2 weeks before the trial;

7. written opening submissions and list of authorities of the
Petitioner be lodged and served on all the other Winding-
Up Petition Parties 7 working days before the trial;

8. written opening submissions and lists of authorities of
the Respondents be lodged and served on all the other

Winding-Up Petition Parties 3 working days before the trial;

0. any application for time be made before 5:00 p.m. on 26
November 2018; and

10.  costs be in the cause.
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46. LITIGATIONS (Continued)

(b)

HCCW 207/2017 (Continued)

After an amicable negotiation with the Winding-up Petitioner,
on 21 December 2018, the Winding-Up Petition Parties, without
admission of any liability, entered into a settlement agreement
(the "Settlement Agreement”). Pursuant to the Settlement
Agreement, the Winding-Up Petition Parties have agreed to a full
and final settlement of all the disputes of and in the relation to
the proceedings in HCCW 207/2017, HCMP 1044/2017 and CACV
240/2017 (the “Proceedings and Disputes”).

The principal terms of the Settlement Agreement are as follows:

The Company shall, within 7 days from 21 December 2018,
pay the sum of HK$ 1,800,000 (the “Sum”) to the Winding-Up
Petitioner in full and final settlement of all disputes, claims,
or potential claims, in or arising out of or in connection with

the Proceedings and Disputes;

The Winding-Up Petitioner shall execute a consent
summons with the Company for the dismissal of the Petition
with no order as to costs (the “Consent Summons”), and
an undertaking not to take any action against the Company
and/or the Company's existing or former directors in relation
to the Proceedings and Disputes (the “Undertaking”);

The Winding-Up Petition Parties agree and acknowledge
that the payment of the Sum by the Company shall be
in full and final settlement of all disputes, claims, actions,
interests or costs among the Parties, including those in the
Proceedings and Disputes, accrued before and/or after 21
December 2018. Each Winding-Up Petition Party shall bear
his own legal costs of and incidental to the negotiation,
preparation, execution and carrying into effect of the
Settlement Agreement; and
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46. LITIGATIONS (Continued)
HCCW 207/2017 (Continued)

(b)

4.

Upon the performance of the Settlement Agreement, the
Winding-Up Petition Parties irrevocably and unconditionally
fully and forever release and discharge each other from
and waive any and all claims, demands, actions, causes of
actions, contracts, obligations, debts, costs or liability of
any kind, whether direct or indirect, known or unknown,
foreseen or unforeseen, prospective or contingent or actual,
present or future, arising or capable of arising out of, or in
any way connected with the Proceedings and Disputes,
including those accrued before and/or after 21 December
2018.

As at 21 December 2018, the Petitioner had executed the Consent

Summons and the Undertaking.

Upon the joint application of the Petitioner, the Winding-Up

Petition Parties by way of consent summons dated 21 December

2018, the Court had granted an order on 7 January 2019 that:

the Winding-Up Petition presented on 5 July 2017 be
dismissed;

the costs of the official receiver be deducted from the

deposits and the balance be returned to the Petitioner; and

there be no order as to costs in the action, including the

Consent Summons application.

A sealed copy of the said order was received by the Company on

17 January 2019. As at the date of the approval of the consolidated

financial statements, there is no outstanding winding-up petition

against the Company.
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47.

48.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The outbreak of Novel Coronavirus (Coronavirus COVID-19) since
January 2020 has impact on the business and operations of the Group
as the Group has certain factories located in the PRC. As required by
the local government offices in which the Group’s factory is located,
factories located in the area were not allowed to resume operations
until 17 February 2020. The Group's factory resumed its operations
on 17 February 2020. As at the date of these consolidated financial
statements, the Coronavirus COVID-19 has not resulted in material
impact to the Group. Pending on the development and spread of
Coronavirus COVID-19 subsequent to the date of the consolidated
financial statements, further changes in economic conditions for the
Group arising thereof may have impact on the financial results of the
Group, the extent of which could not be estimated as at the date of

these consolidated financial statements.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2020.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

YRR

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
—E-AF —T-RF T tF —T-N\F “E-1E
+ZA=+—H +ZA=+-H +ZA=+—-A +ZA=+—-RA | tZA=t-H
HEE HEE EFE IEFE LFE
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
FHL THT THT FHET TET
(Re-presented)
(&3
RESULTS ES
Revenue Iizs 1,627,889 1,801,501 1,544,838 1,277,948 1,070,527
Loss before taxation BRI EE (97,936) (92,740) (167,033) (64,685) (429,590)
Income tax expense Frig RS (10976) (14618) (8758) (3,706) (5,546)
Loss for the year from continuing SBR[ IR
operations (108912) (107,358) (175,791) (68,3971) (435,136)
(Loss)/profit for the year from BRIEEEBMAEE
discontinued operation (B#8),/ &5 - - - (234,439) 79,788
Loss for the year TEEER (108912) (107,358) (175,791) (302,830) (355,348)
Attributable to; JE{f -
Owners of the Company AREEBA (103,162) (77,655) (105,798) (187,435) (315,461)
Non-controlling interests IR (5,750) (29,703) (69,993) (115,395) (39,887)
(108912) (107,358) (175,791) (302,830) (355,348)
At At At At At
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
—E-RHF —T-RF b o2 —T-N\F “E-hE
+ZA=+—H +ZA=+—-H +ZA=+—-A +ZA=+—-RA | tZA=t-H
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000
THL THL THL THL THT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERBE
Total assets LM 1,282,857 1,322,698 1,287,825 1,096,354 1,032,676
Total liabilities BfEEHE (901,152) (1,040,580) (971,033) (1,062,40) (970,381)
381,705 282,118 316,792 34114 62,295
Equity attributable to owners of KRAEBA
the Company B 346,630 376,588 484430 327948 4,572
Non-controlling interests IR 35,075 (94,470) (167,638) (293,834) 57,723
381,705 282,118 316,792 34114 62,295
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